
Selection From: 03/04/2015 - Education PreK to 12 (3:30 PM - 5:30 PM) 2015 Regular Session 

Committee Packet 03/04/2015 6:12 PM 

Agenda Order  

 

Page 1 of 1 

SB 346 by Simmons; (Identical to H 0487) School Bus Stop Safety 

 

SB 616 by Legg; (Compare to H 1177) Education Accountability 

610298  PCS     S     RCS         ED                                               03/04 05:49 PM   
865244  PCS:A   S     UNFAV       ED, Bullard              Before L.71:             03/04 05:49 PM   
412336  PCS:A   S     UNFAV       ED, Bullard              Delete L.116 - 129:      03/04 05:49 PM   
610440  PCS:A   S     UNFAV       ED, Bullard              Delete L.131:            03/04 05:49 PM   
279278  PCS:A   S     UNFAV       ED, Bullard              btw L.209 - 210:         03/04 05:49 PM   
537056  PCS:A   S     UNFAV       ED, Bullard              Delete L.387 - 482:      03/04 05:49 PM   
226554  PCS:A   S     RCS         ED, Bullard              btw L.757 - 758:         03/04 05:49 PM   
771912  PCS:A   S     WD          ED, Bullard              btw L.757 - 758:         03/04 05:49 PM   

 

SB 688 by Montford; (Identical to H 0349) Opening and Closing of Public Schools 

697848  A       S     RCS         ED, Montford             Delete L.43:             03/04 05:41 PM   
386978  A       S  L  WD          ED, Montford             Delete L.26 - 43.        03/04 03:08 PM   

 

SB 818 by Garcia; (Compare to H 0665) Maximum Class Size 

 



 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
03042015.1749 Page 1 of 2 

2015 Regular Session     The Florida Senate  

 COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

   

    EDUCATION PRE-K - 12 

 Senator Legg, Chair 

 Senator Detert, Vice Chair 

 
MEETING DATE: Wednesday, March 4, 2015 

TIME: 3:30 —5:30 p.m. 
PLACE: Pat Thomas Committee Room, 412 Knott Building 

MEMBERS: Senator Legg, Chair; Senator Detert, Vice Chair; Senators Benacquisto, Brandes, Bullard, Clemens, 
Gaetz, Galvano, Garcia, Montford, and Sobel 

 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
1 
 

 
SB 346 

Simmons 
(Identical H 487) 
 

 
School Bus Stop Safety; Citing this act as the 
"Gabby's Law for School Bus Stop Safety"; revising 
penalties for failure to stop a vehicle upon 
approaching a school bus that displays a stop signal; 
providing for criminal penalties under certain 
circumstances; amending provisions relating to 
application of specified provisions, disposition of 
penalty amounts received, and trauma payments, etc. 
 
ED 03/04/2015 Favorable 
ATD   
FP   
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 11 Nays 0 
 

 
 

 
A proposed committee substitute for the following bill (SB 616) is expected to be 

considered: 
 

 
 

 
2 
 

 
SB 616 

Legg 
(Compare H 1177, H 1241, S 100, 
S 774, S 1544) 
 

 
Education Accountability; Revising requirements for 
the administration of local assessments; revising the 
percentage thresholds for performance evaluation 
criteria for instructional personnel and school 
administrators; authorizing a school district to request 
approval from the state board to use student 
performance results on new statewide assessments 
for diagnostic and baseline purposes, etc.  
 
ED 02/18/2015 Workshop-Discussed 
ED 03/04/2015 Fav/CS 
AED   
AP   
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 7 Nays 4 
 

 
3 
 

 
SB 688 

Montford 
(Identical H 349) 
 

 
Opening and Closing of Public Schools; Revising a 
requirement for the uniform opening date of public 
schools; providing that academically high-performing 
school districts must comply with provisions relating 
to the uniform opening date of public schools, etc. 
 
ED 03/04/2015 Fav/CS 
AED   
AP   
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 9 Nays 2 
 



COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

Education Pre-K - 12 
Wednesday, March 4, 2015, 3:30 —5:30 p.m.            
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
03042015.1749 Page 2 of 2 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
4 
 

 
SB 818 

Garcia 
(Compare H 665) 
 

 
Maximum Class Size; Requiring the calculation of a 
school district’s class size categorical allocation 
reduction at the school average when maximum class 
size requirements are not met; revising the 
calculation, etc. 
 
ED 03/04/2015 Favorable 
AED   
AP   
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 9 Nays 2 
 

 
 
 

 
Other Related Meeting Documents 
 
 

 
 
 

 



 

 

The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Education Pre-K - 12  

 

BILL:  SB 346 

INTRODUCER:  Senator Simmons 

SUBJECT:  School Bus Stop Safety 

DATE:  March 3, 2015 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Scott  Klebacha  ED  Pre-meeting 

2.     ATD   

3.     FP   

 

I. Summary: 

SB 3461 reclassifies the offense for passing a stopped school bus on the side that children enter 

and exit while displaying a stop signal from a noncriminal traffic infraction to the criminal 

offense of reckless driving. 

 

Additionally, the bill increases the penalties imposed for failing to stop for a school bus. 

 

The bill provides for an effective date of October 1, 2015. 

II. Present Situation: 

Transportation of Public K-12 Students2 

Each district school superintendent is responsible for determining the most safe, economical, and 

efficient ways to accommodate students who must be transported to and from school or to school 

activities.3 Based on the district school superintendent’s recommendations, the district school 

board adopts policies and rules for providing and operating school buses, appointing qualified 

school bus drivers, and establishing school bus stops.4 

 

                                                 
1 The bill is also known as “Gabby’s Law for School Bus Stop Safety.” In 2010, 12-year-old Gabrielle Mair was killed by a 

car shortly after exiting a school bus in DeBary, Florida. Orlando Sentinel article, January 28, 2015, available at 

http://www.orlandosentinel.com/features/education/os-school-bus-law-florida-20150128-story.html (last visited March 2, 

2015). 
2 For further information, see http://www.fldoe.org/schools/safe-healthy-schools/transportation/index.stml (last visited March 

2, 2015). 
3 Section 1006.21(1) and (2), F.S. The State Board of Education further specifies in detail the duties and responsibilities of 

each school district regarding student transportation. Rule 6A-3.0171, F.A.C. 
4 Section 1006.22, F.S. 

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 346   Page 2 

 

 

School buses are required to be equipped with safety belts or any other restraint system in 

compliance with standards required in federal and state law.5 School buses must stop to the far 

right of a street if possible and display warning lights and stop signals before allowing children 

to enter or exit.6 

 

Florida’s School Bus Stop Law 

Florida law requires that any person, upon approaching a stopped school bus displaying a stop 

signal, bring his or her vehicle to a full stop until the signal has been withdrawn.7 Furthermore, it 

is unlawful to pass a school bus on the side that children enter and exit while the school bus 

displays a stop signal.8 However, a driver is not required to stop if the vehicle is traveling in the 

opposite direction of a stopped school bus “upon a divided highway with an unpaved space of at 

least 5 feet, a raised median, or a physical barrier.”9 

 

If, at a hearing, a person is found to have failed to fully stop for or passed a stopped school bus,10 

both of which are noncriminal traffic infractions, the person must pay a minimum civil penalty of 

$100 or $200, respectively, plus an additional $65.11 For any subsequent violation, the 

Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles, may suspend a person’s driver license if 

such violation is committed within a period of 5 years after the first violation.12 

 

Reckless Driving 

A person “who drives any vehicle in willful or wanton disregard for the safety of persons or 

property” or flees from a law enforcement officer in a vehicle shall be charged with reckless 

driving, which is a criminal offense.13 

 

If convicted, a person is subject to punishment by imprisonment for a minimum of 90 days or by 

a minimum fine of $25 and a maximum fine of $500, or both.14 For any subsequent conviction, a 

person is subject to punishment by imprisonment for a maximum of 6 months or by a minimum 

fine of $50 and a maximum fine of $1,000, or both.15 If a person’s reckless driving causes 

damage to person or property, he or she commits a first degree misdemeanor, punishable by 

imprisonment not exceeding 1 year or a maximum fine of $1,000.16 If a person’s reckless driving 

                                                 
5 Sections 316.614 and 316.6145, F.S. See Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards, 49 C.F.R. s. 571.208 Standard No. 208. 
6 Section 316.172(3), F.S. 
7 Section 316.172(1), F.S. 
8 Id. 
9 Id. at (2). 
10 If a person is cited for passing a stopped school bus he or she must attend a mandatory hearing at a specified time and 

location. ss. 316.17(1)(b) and 318.19(3), F.S. 
11 Section 318.18(5), F.S. The additional $65 is remitted to the Department of Revenue for deposit into the Emergency 

Medical Services Trust Fund of the Department of Health for the purpose of funding trauma centers. See s. 395.4036, F.S. 
12 Id. at 5(a) and (b). A person who passes a stopped school bus will receive 4 points on his or her driver license or, 

depending on the circumstances, his or her driver license may be suspended or, if a habitual traffic offender, shall be revoked. 

See s. 322.27(1)(f) and (3)(d)4., F.S. See also s. 322.264, F.S., for the definition of the term “habitual traffic offender.” 
13 Sections 316.192(1) and 318.17(4), F.S. 
14 Section 316.192(2)(a), F.S. 
15 Id. at (2)(b). 
16 Sections 316.192(3)(c)1., 775.082(4)(a), 775.083(1)(d), F.S. A court has the discretion to suspend or cancel a driver license 

and impose any other civil penalty it deems fit. s. 775.082(7), F.S. 



BILL: SB 346   Page 3 

 

 

causes serious bodily injury to another person, he or she commits a third degree felony, 

punishable by imprisonment not to exceed 5 years, a maximum fine of $5,000 or, if a habitual 

felony offender, an extended term of imprisonment.17 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

SB 346 reclassifies the offense for passing a stopped school bus on the side that children enter 

and exit while displaying a stop signal from a noncriminal traffic infraction to the criminal 

offense of reckless driving.18 Thus, any person who is convicted of committing such an offense 

is subject to more severe penalties, including imprisonment for longer periods of time, and 

increased fines. 

 

Additionally, the bill increases penalties for failing to stop for a school bus. Under the bill, a 

person who commits such an offense is subject to an increased civil penalty in the amount of 

$250 and, for subsequent violations, suspension of his or her driver license for a minimum of 6 

months and a maximum of 1 year. 

 

The bill provides for an effective date of October 1, 2015. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

                                                 
17 Sections 316.192(3)(c)2., 775.082(3)(e), 775.083(1)(c), and 775.084(1)(a), F.S. (“Serious bodily injury” is defined as “an 

injury to another person, which consists of a physical condition that creates a substantial risk of death, serious personal 

disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ.”) s. 316.192(3)(c)2., F.S . 
18 The bill does not appear to have a significantly direct effect on school districts and it primarily concerns the jurisdictions of 

the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles, the Department of Transportation, and the Department of Health. 



BILL: SB 346   Page 4 

 

 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

According to the Department of Revenue (DOR), the substance of the bill would not 

impact its core mission nor would it significantly increase the DOR’s expenditures.19 

Furthermore, the DOR states that it does not conduct fiscal impact analyses for local and 

state governments; hence, it defers to the Revenue Estimating Conference for 

determining revenue impact, if any.20 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

This bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes: 316.172, 316.192, 

318.17, 318.18, 318.21, and 395.4036. 

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 

                                                 
19 Department of Revenue, 2015 Legislative Bill Analysis for HB 487 (Companion to SB 346), submitted February 5, 2015 

(on file with the Committee on Education Pre-K – 12). 
20 Id. 



Florida Senate - 2015 SB 346 

 

 

  

By Senator Simmons 

 

 

 

 

 

10-00347-15 2015346__ 

Page 1 of 8 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to school bus stop safety; providing a 2 

short title; amending ss. 316.172, 316.192, and 3 

318.18, F.S.; revising penalties for failure to stop a 4 

vehicle upon approaching a school bus that displays a 5 

stop signal; providing for criminal penalties under 6 

certain circumstances; amending ss. 318.17, 318.21, 7 

and 395.4036, F.S., relating to application of 8 

specified provisions, disposition of penalty amounts 9 

received, and trauma payments; conforming provisions 10 

to changes made by the act; providing an effective 11 

date. 12 

  13 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 14 

 15 

Section 1. This act may be cited as “Gabby’s Law for School 16 

Bus Stop Safety.” 17 

Section 2. Subsection (1) of section 316.172, Florida 18 

Statutes, is amended to read: 19 

316.172 Traffic to stop for school bus.— 20 

(1)(a) A Any person using, operating, or driving a vehicle 21 

on or over the roads or highways of this state shall, upon 22 

approaching a any school bus that which displays a stop signal, 23 

bring such vehicle to a full stop while the bus is stopped, and 24 

the vehicle may shall not pass the school bus until the signal 25 

has been withdrawn. Except as provided in paragraph (b), a 26 

person who violates this subsection section commits a moving 27 

violation, punishable as provided in chapter 318. 28 

(b) A Any person using, operating, or driving a vehicle 29 

Florida Senate - 2015 SB 346 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

10-00347-15 2015346__ 

Page 2 of 8 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

that passes a school bus on the side that children enter and 30 

exit when the school bus displays a stop signal commits reckless 31 

driving a moving violation, punishable as provided in s. 316.192 32 

chapter 318, and is subject to a mandatory hearing under the 33 

provisions of s. 318.19. 34 

Section 3. Section 316.192, Florida Statutes, is amended to 35 

read: 36 

316.192 Reckless driving.— 37 

(1)(a) A Any person who drives a any vehicle in willful or 38 

wanton disregard for the safety of persons or property commits 39 

is guilty of reckless driving. 40 

(b) Fleeing a law enforcement officer in a motor vehicle is 41 

reckless driving per se. 42 

(2) Except as provided in subsection (3), a any person 43 

convicted of reckless driving shall be punished: 44 

(a) Upon a first conviction, by imprisonment for a period 45 

of not more than 90 days or by a fine of not less than $25 nor 46 

more than $500, or by both such fine and imprisonment. 47 

(b) On a second or subsequent conviction, by imprisonment 48 

for not more than 6 months or by a fine of not less than $50 nor 49 

more than $1,000, or by both such fine and imprisonment. 50 

(3) A Any person: 51 

(a) Who is in violation of subsection (1); 52 

(b) Who operates a vehicle; and 53 

(c) Who, by reason of such operation, causes: 54 

1. Damage to the property or person of another commits a 55 

misdemeanor of the first degree, punishable as provided in s. 56 

775.082 or s. 775.083. 57 

2. Serious bodily injury to another commits a felony of the 58 



Florida Senate - 2015 SB 346 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

10-00347-15 2015346__ 

Page 3 of 8 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, 59 

or s. 775.084. The term “serious bodily injury” means an injury 60 

to another person, which consists of a physical condition that 61 

creates a substantial risk of death, serious personal 62 

disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment of the function 63 

of any bodily member or organ. 64 

(4) Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, $5 65 

shall be added to a fine imposed pursuant to this section. The 66 

clerk shall remit the $5 to the Department of Revenue for 67 

deposit in the Emergency Medical Services Trust Fund. 68 

(5) In addition to any other penalty provided under this 69 

section, if the court has reasonable cause to believe that the 70 

use of alcohol, chemical substances set forth in s. 877.111, or 71 

substances controlled under chapter 893 contributed to a 72 

violation of this section, the court shall direct the person so 73 

convicted to complete a DUI program substance abuse education 74 

course and evaluation as provided in s. 316.193(5) within a 75 

reasonable period of time specified by the court. If the DUI 76 

program conducting such course and evaluation refers the person 77 

to an authorized substance abuse treatment provider for 78 

substance abuse evaluation and treatment, the directive of the 79 

court requiring completion of such course, evaluation, and 80 

treatment shall be enforced as provided in s. 322.245. The 81 

referral to treatment resulting from the DUI program evaluation 82 

may not be waived without a supporting independent psychosocial 83 

evaluation conducted by an authorized substance abuse treatment 84 

provider, appointed by the court, which shall have access to the 85 

DUI program psychosocial evaluation before the independent 86 

psychosocial evaluation is conducted. The court shall review the 87 

Florida Senate - 2015 SB 346 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

10-00347-15 2015346__ 

Page 4 of 8 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

results and recommendations of both evaluations before 88 

determining the request for waiver. The offender shall bear the 89 

full cost of this procedure. If a person directed to a DUI 90 

program substance abuse education course and evaluation or 91 

referred to treatment under this subsection fails to report for 92 

or complete such course, evaluation, or treatment, the DUI 93 

program shall notify the court and the department of the 94 

failure. Upon receipt of such notice, the department shall 95 

cancel the person’s driving privilege, notwithstanding the terms 96 

of the court order or any suspension or revocation of the 97 

driving privilege. The department may reinstate the driving 98 

privilege upon verification from the DUI program that the 99 

education, evaluation, and treatment are completed. The 100 

department may temporarily reinstate the driving privilege on a 101 

restricted basis upon verification that the offender is 102 

currently participating in treatment and has completed the DUI 103 

education course and evaluation requirement. If the DUI program 104 

notifies the department of the second failure to complete 105 

treatment, the department shall reinstate the driving privilege 106 

only after notice of successful completion of treatment from the 107 

DUI program. 108 

(6) In addition, $65 shall be added to a fine imposed 109 

pursuant to this section for a violation under s. 316.172(1)(b). 110 

The additional $65 collected under this subsection shall be 111 

remitted to the Department of Revenue for deposit into the 112 

Emergency Medical Services Trust Fund of the Department of 113 

Health to be used as provided in s. 395.4036. 114 

Section 4. Section 318.17, Florida Statutes, is amended to 115 

read: 116 



Florida Senate - 2015 SB 346 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

10-00347-15 2015346__ 

Page 5 of 8 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

318.17 Offenses excepted.—No provision of this chapter is 117 

available to a person who is charged with any of the following 118 

offenses: 119 

(1) Fleeing or attempting to elude a police officer, in 120 

violation of s. 316.1935.; 121 

(2) Leaving the scene of a crash, in violation of ss. 122 

316.027 and 316.061.; 123 

(3) Driving, or being in actual physical control of, any 124 

vehicle while under the influence of alcoholic beverages, any 125 

chemical substance set forth in s. 877.111, or any substance 126 

controlled under chapter 893, in violation of s. 316.193, or 127 

driving with an unlawful blood-alcohol level.; 128 

(4) Reckless driving under s. 316.172(1)(b) or, in 129 

violation of s. 316.192.; 130 

(5) Making false crash reports, in violation of s. 131 

316.067.; 132 

(6) Willfully failing or refusing to comply with any lawful 133 

order or direction of any police officer or member of the fire 134 

department, in violation of s. 316.072(3).; 135 

(7) Obstructing an officer, in violation of s. 316.545(1).; 136 

or 137 

(8) Any other offense in chapter 316 which is classified as 138 

a criminal violation. 139 

Section 5. Subsection (5) of section 318.18, Florida 140 

Statutes, is amended to read: 141 

318.18 Amount of penalties.—The penalties required for a 142 

noncriminal disposition pursuant to s. 318.14 or a criminal 143 

offense listed in s. 318.17 are as follows: 144 

(5)(a) Two hundred fifty One hundred dollars for a 145 

Florida Senate - 2015 SB 346 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

10-00347-15 2015346__ 

Page 6 of 8 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

violation of s. 316.172(1)(a), failure to stop for a school bus. 146 

If, at a hearing, the alleged offender is found to have 147 

committed this offense, the court shall impose a minimum civil 148 

penalty of $250 $100. In addition to this penalty, for a second 149 

or subsequent offense within a period of 5 years, the department 150 

shall suspend the driver license of the person for not less than 151 

6 months 90 days and not more than 1 year 6 months. 152 

(b) Two hundred dollars for a violation of s. 153 

316.172(1)(b), passing a school bus on the side that children 154 

enter and exit when the school bus displays a stop signal. If, 155 

at a hearing, the alleged offender is found to have committed 156 

this offense, the court shall impose a minimum civil penalty of 157 

$200. In addition to this penalty, for a second or subsequent 158 

offense within a period of 5 years, the department shall suspend 159 

the driver license of the person for not less than 180 days and 160 

not more than 1 year. 161 

(b)(c) In addition to the penalty under paragraph (a) or 162 

paragraph (b), $65 for a violation of s. 316.172(1)(a) or (b). 163 

If the alleged offender is found to have committed the offense, 164 

the court shall impose the civil penalty under paragraph (a) or 165 

paragraph (b) plus an additional $65. The additional $65 166 

collected under this paragraph shall be remitted to the 167 

Department of Revenue for deposit into the Emergency Medical 168 

Services Trust Fund of the Department of Health to be used as 169 

provided in s. 395.4036. 170 

Section 6. Subsection (21) of section 318.21, Florida 171 

Statutes, is amended to read: 172 

318.21 Disposition of civil penalties by county courts.—All 173 

civil penalties received by a county court pursuant to the 174 



Florida Senate - 2015 SB 346 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

10-00347-15 2015346__ 

Page 7 of 8 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

provisions of this chapter shall be distributed and paid monthly 175 

as follows: 176 

(21) Notwithstanding subsections (1) and (2), the proceeds 177 

from the additional penalties imposed pursuant to s. 178 

318.18(5)(b) s. 318.18(5)(c) and (20) shall be distributed as 179 

provided in that section. 180 

Section 7. Paragraph (b) of subsection (1) of section 181 

395.4036, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 182 

395.4036 Trauma payments.— 183 

(1) Recognizing the Legislature’s stated intent to provide 184 

financial support to the current verified trauma centers and to 185 

provide incentives for the establishment of additional trauma 186 

centers as part of a system of state-sponsored trauma centers, 187 

the department shall utilize funds collected under s. 318.18 and 188 

deposited into the Emergency Medical Services Trust Fund of the 189 

department to ensure the availability and accessibility of 190 

trauma services throughout the state as provided in this 191 

subsection. 192 

(b) Funds collected under ss. 316.192(6) and 318.18(5)(b) 193 

s. 318.18(5)(c) and (20) shall be distributed as follows: 194 

1. Thirty percent of the total funds collected shall be 195 

distributed to Level II trauma centers operated by a public 196 

hospital governed by an elected board of directors as of 197 

December 31, 2008. 198 

2. Thirty-five percent of the total funds collected shall 199 

be distributed to verified trauma centers based on trauma 200 

caseload volume for the most recent calendar year available. The 201 

determination of caseload volume for distribution of funds under 202 

this subparagraph shall be based on the department’s Trauma 203 

Florida Senate - 2015 SB 346 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

10-00347-15 2015346__ 

Page 8 of 8 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Registry data. 204 

3. Thirty-five percent of the total funds collected shall 205 

be distributed to verified trauma centers based on severity of 206 

trauma patients for the most recent calendar year available. The 207 

determination of severity for distribution of funds under this 208 

subparagraph shall be based on the department’s International 209 

Classification Injury Severity Scores or another statistically 210 

valid and scientifically accepted method of stratifying a trauma 211 

patient’s severity of injury, risk of mortality, and resource 212 

consumption as adopted by the department by rule, weighted based 213 

on the costs associated with and incurred by the trauma center 214 

in treating trauma patients. The weighting of scores shall be 215 

established by the department by rule. 216 

Section 8. This act shall take effect October 1, 2015. 217 



5" y- oLo/zr
Meeting Date

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic

Name

>Ckoo I S>tO'P Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

lA yyfai

Job Title

Address

<Y^Ae^r

;/V7 h/.
Street

f j Ak\ Phone

hi
City

c3c) Email cjCiLLyy H ^&v'l/oo6C
State Zip ^

Speaking: or | | Against

State

Information Waive Speaking: In Support | | Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing hbc/ JTl,,

Appearing at request of Chair:  Yes [K[no Lobbyist registered with Legislature:  Yes &No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic us 'Mr

Name 0

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Job Title

Address \H'j'V- ' 6 -
Street

V***!
V v v

O

Phone -Ac \ TU

Email {i \Xiy i ('
Zip

L.J
Speaking: [Q^or | | Against Information Waive Speaking: Q In Support | [Against

(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair:  Yes No Lobbyist registered with Legislature:  Yes J*No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Education Pre-K - 12  

 

BILL:  PCS/SB 616 (610298) 

INTRODUCER:  Committee on Education Pre-K - 12  

SUBJECT:  Education Accountability 

DATE:  March 3, 2015 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Hand  Klebacha  ED  Pre-meeting 

2.     AED   

3.     AP   

 

I. Summary: 

PCS/SB 616 impacts statutory accountability provisions related to the state’s public school 

student assessment program, the educator performance evaluation system, and the statewide 

public school accountability system. 

 

The bill maintains the statutorily provided 2014-2015 school year transition to the Florida 

Standards Assessments, including the suspension of negative consequences associated with 

school grades and school improvement ratings. Specifically, the bill makes the following 

adjustments to student assessment, performance evaluation requirements and school 

accountability. 

 

Student Assessments 

The bill: 

 Reduces the number of statutorily-required assessments by eliminating the current 

requirement that a school district administer a local assessment for each course that is not 

assessed by a statewide, standardized assessment. 

 Reduces the total time devoted to testing by adding a provision limiting the amount of time 

for test administration by limiting to no more than 5% of total school hours per student, per 

year, but provides exemptions for certain tests and certain students.  

 Provides for timely information to teachers and parents by adding in law a provision 

requiring school districts to make student performance results on district-required local 

assessment available to the student’s teachers and parents within 30 days of test 

administration. 

 Eliminates certain mandatory tests such as the Grade 11 Florida Standards Assessment (FSA) 

for English Language Arts (ELA) and the Postsecondary Education Readiness Test (PERT). 

REVISED:         



BILL: PCS/SB 616 (610298)   Page 2 

 

 Adds a new requirement for the State Board of Education to adopt in rule a notification form 

that districts must use to inform parents about 3rd grade retention and mid-year promotion 

and high school graduation requirements and available options. 

 

Performance Evaluation Requirements 

The bill: 

 Retains the ability for teachers and school administrators to receive performance pay 

adjustments if they meet specified conditions. 

 Modifies teacher performance evaluations by requiring the student performance component 

to be at least 33%, the instructional practice component to constitute at least 33%, and the 

professional and job responsibilities component constitute no more than 33%.  

 Adds a new requirement that the instructional practice component of a teacher’s performance 

evaluation have multiple observations by administrative personnel. 

 Authorizes a new requirement that the professional and job responsibilities component of a 

teacher’s performance evaluation to utilize peer reviews. 

 

School Accountability 

The bill creates, for schools and school districts that experience technical implementation issues 

during the 2014-2015 school year assessment, a one-time option to use the 2014-2015 school 

year test results for diagnostic and baseline purposes only. 

 

The bill takes effect upon becoming law. 

II. Present Situation: 

The education of children is a fundamental value of the people of the State of Florida.1 It is, 

therefore, a paramount duty of the state to make adequate provision for the education of all 

children residing within its borders.2 The Legislature, through the Florida K-20 Education Code, 

provides by law, a state system for all Florida’s students to obtain a high quality education.3 

 

The statutory mission of Florida’s K-20 education system is to increase the proficiency of all 

students within one seamless, efficient system, by allowing them the opportunity to expand their 

knowledge and skills through learning opportunities and research valued by students, parents, 

and communities.4 The effectiveness of this education delivery system is assessed through the 

state’s performance accountability system.5 

 

                                                 
1 Article IX, s. 1, Fla. Const. 
2 Id. 
3 Section 1000.01, F.S. 
4 Section 1008.31(2)(a), F.S.  
5 Section 1008.31(1)(a), F.S.  



BILL: PCS/SB 616 (610298)   Page 3 

 

The state’s performance accountability system assesses the effectiveness of Florida’s seamless 

K-20 education delivery system and is specifically intended to provide answers to the following 

questions in relation to its mission and goals:6 

 What is the public receiving in return for funds it invests in education? 

 How effectively is Florida’s K-20 education system educating its students? 

 How effectively are the major delivery sectors promoting student achievement? 

 How are individual schools and postsecondary education institutions performing their 

responsibility to educate their students as measured by how students are performing and how 

much they are learning? 

 

Public School Student Assessment Program 

Florida’s assessment program consists primarily of statewide, standardized assessments that are 

selected and administered by the state, and local assessments that are selected and administered 

by the school districts to measure students’ attainment of education expectations.7 

 

Statewide, Standardized Assessments 

The purpose of Florida’s student assessment program is to improve instruction; provide student 

academic achievement and learning gains data to students, parents, teachers, school 

administrators, and school district staff; and assess the cost benefit of the expenditure of taxpayer 

dollars.8 Specifically, the program is designed to:9 

 Assess the achievement level and annual learning gains of each student in English Language 

Arts and mathematics and the achievement level in all other subjects assessed. 

 Provide data for making decisions regarding school accountability, recognition, and 

improvement of operations and management, including schools operating for the purpose of 

providing educational services to youth in Department of Juvenile Justice programs. 

 Identify the educational strengths and needs of students and the readiness of students to be 

promoted to the next grade level or to graduate from high school. 

 Assess how well educational goals and curricular standards are met at the school, district, 

state, national, and international levels. 

 Provide information to aid in the evaluation and development of educational programs and 

policies. 

 

The commissioner is required to design and implement a statewide, standardized assessment 

program that is aligned to the core curricular content established in the Next Generation 

Sunshine State Standards and the Florida Standards.10 Participation in the assessment program is 

                                                 
6 Section 1008.31(1)(a), F.S. This performance accountability system is required to comply with the “No Child Left Behind 

Act of 2001,” Pub. L. No. 107-110, and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA). Section 1008.31(1)(c), F.S. 

The Department of Education (DOE) is responsible for maintaining an accountability system that measures student progress 

toward the following goals. Section 1008.31(2)(c), F.S. 
7 Section 1008.22, F.S. Common placement testing is required for the purpose of assessing the skills of students who intend 

to enter a degree program at any public postsecondary educational institution. Section 1008.30, F.S. Before the beginning of 

grade 12, all students are required to have their college readiness evaluated. Id. The student’s high school is required to 

identify deficiencies and require the student (in 12th grade) to complete appropriate postsecondary preparatory instruction 

before high school graduation. Id. 
8 Section 1008.22(1), F.S. 
9 Section 1008.22(1)(a)-(e), F.S. 
10 Section 1008.22(3), F.S. 



BILL: PCS/SB 616 (610298)   Page 4 

 

mandatory for all school districts and all students attending public schools, including adult 

students seeking a standard high school diploma and students in Department of Juvenile Justice 

education programs, except as otherwise provided by law.11  

 

Test accommodations are available for certain students, such as students with disabilities and 

English language learners.12 Some accommodations may result in the need for longer test times 

for these students.13 

 

 

The statewide, standardized assessment program consists of: 

 Statewide, standardized comprehensive assessments:14 

o English Language Arts (ELA) (grades 3 through 11);15 

o Mathematics (grades 3-8); and 

o Science (once at the elementary grade level and once at the middle grade level).16 

 End-of-Course (EOC) assessments:17 

o Civics (once at middle grade level); 

o U.S. History EOC; 

o Algebra I EOC; 

o Algebra II EOC; 

o Geometry EOC; and 

o Biology I EOC. 

 Florida Alternate Assessment (FAA) (assessment for students with disabilities in the core 

content knowledge and skills necessary for successful grade-to-grade progression and high 

school graduation).18 

  

Local Assessments 

School districts are responsible for measuring student performance in all subjects and grade 

levels, except those subjects and grade levels measured under the statewide, standardized 

                                                 
11 Id.  
12 Department of Education, 2014-2015 FSA and FCAT/FCAT 2.0/NGSSS EOC Assessment Accommodations Frequently 

Asked Questions (FAQ),  available at http://fsassessments.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/2014-2015-Assessment-

Accommodations-FAQ.pdf 
13 Id. 
14 Section 1008.22(3)(a), F.S. The Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965 (ESEA) requires states to implement “a 

set of high-quality, yearly academic assessments that includes, at a minimum, assessments in mathematics, reading or 

language arts, and science. With respect to reading/language arts and mathematics, the assessments must be administered in 

each of grades 3 through 8 and not less than once in grades 10 through 12. With respect to science, the assessments must be 

administered not less than once during grades 3 through 5, grades 6 through 9, and grades 10 through 12.” U.S. Department 

of Education, Letter to Colorado Commissioner of Education, Robert K. Hammond (Oct. 3, 2014) on file with the Committee 

on Education Pre-K-12 staff; see also 20 U.S.C. s. 6311(b)(3). 
15 Pursuant to standard high school diploma requirements, a student must pass the grade 10 English Language Arts (ELA) 

assessment or earn a concordant score. Sections 1003.4282(3)(a) and 1008.22(7), F.S. For scholar designation on a standard 

high school diploma, a student must pass the grade 11 ELA assessment. Section 1003.4285(1)(a)1., F.S. 
16 Rule 6A-1.09422(3)(b), F.A.C., requires all eligible students in grades five and eight to take the FCAT 2.0 Science. 
17 Section 1008.22(3)(b), F.S. Pursuant to standard high school diploma requirements, a student must pass the Algebra I 

EOC. Id. For scholar designation on a standard high school diploma, a student must pass Algebra II EOC, Geometry EOC, 

Biology I EOC, and U.S. History EOC assessments. Section 1003.4285(1)(a)2.-4., F.S. 
18 Section 1008.22(3)(c)1., F.S. A child with medical complexity may be exempt from participating in statewide, 

standardized assessments, including the Florida Alternate Assessment. Section 1008.22(9), F.S. 



BILL: PCS/SB 616 (610298)   Page 5 

 

assessment program.19  Except for those subjects and grade levels measured under the statewide, 

standardized assessment program, beginning with the 2014-2015 school year, each school 

district must administer for each course offered in the district a local assessment that measures 

student mastery of course content at the necessary level of rigor for the course.20  Each district 

school board must adopt policies for selecting, developing, administering, and scoring local 

assessments and for collecting assessment results.21 For subjects and grade levels not measured 

by statewide, standardized assessments, a school district must administer local assessments but is 

authorized to choose the assessment to be administered from the following options:22 

 Statewide assessments. 

 Other standardized assessments, including nationally recognized standardized assessments. 

 Industry certification assessments. 

 District-developed or district-selected end-of-course assessments. 

 Teacher-selected or principal-selected assessments. 

 

To administer the state assessment program for statewide, standardized assessments and local 

assessments, the commissioner must: 

 Develop or obtain statewide, standardized assessments, as appropriate, through contracts and 

project agreements with private vendors, public vendors, public agencies, postsecondary 

educational institutions, or school districts.23  

 Recommend, for approval by the State Board of Education (SBE), passing scores on 

statewide, standardized assessments in the form of achievement levels ranging from 1 

through 5, with level 1 being the lowest achievement level, level 5 being the highest 

achievement level, and level 3 indicating satisfactory performance on an assessment. 24  

 Establish implementation schedules for the administration of statewide, standardized 

assessments and the reporting of student assessment results.25  

 Provide, at a minimum, statewide, standardized assessment data analysis showing student 

achievement levels and learning gains by teacher, school, and school district.26 

 Identify methods to assist and support districts in the development and acquisition of 

assessments which may include developing item banks, facilitating the sharing of developed 

tests among school districts, acquiring assessments from state and national curriculum-area 

organizations, and providing technical assistance in best professional practices of test 

development based upon state-adopted curriculum standards, administration, and security.27 

 Identify, for approval by the SBE, one or more comparative scores for the Algebra I EOC 

assessment.28 

 Identify, for approval by the SBE, scores on the SAT and ACT that, if achieved, satisfy the 

graduation requirement that a student pass the grade 10 statewide, standardized English 

                                                 
19 Section 1008.22(6)(a), F.S. 
20 Section 1008.22(6)(b), F.S. 
21 Id.  
22 Section 1008.22(6)(b), F.S.; Local assessments may include a variety of assessment formats, including, but not limited to, 

project-based assessments, adjudicated performances, and practical application assignments. Section 1008.22(6)(c), F.S. 
23 Section 1008.22(3)(h), F.S. 
24 Section 1008.22(3)(e), F.S. 
25 Section 1008.22(3)(d), F.S. 
26 Section 1008.22(5), F.S. 
27 Section 1008.22(6)(d), F.S. 
28 Section 1008.22(8), F.S. 



BILL: PCS/SB 616 (610298)   Page 6 

 

Language Arts assessment. The commissioner may identify concordant scores on 

assessments other than the SAT and ACT.29 

 

Educator Performance Evaluations 

All instructional personnel30 and school administrators employed by Florida’s public school 

districts must undergo an annual performance evaluation based on sound educational principles 

and contemporary research in effective educational practices.31 The evaluation criteria for 

instructional personnel include student performance, instructional practice, and professional and 

job responsibilities.32 Likewise, the evaluation criteria for school administrators include student 

performance and professional and job responsibilities.33 Instructional leadership practices are 

also included in school administrator evaluations.34  

 

Each district superintendent must establish procedures for evaluating the performance of all 

instructional, administrative, and supervisory personnel employed by the school district.35  The 

superintendents must also annually report evaluation results for instructional personnel and 

school administrators to the DOE.36 The DOE approves all district evaluation systems and 

monitors implementation for compliance with law.37 

 

Public school personnel evaluations must be used to designate instructional personnel and school 

administrators as “highly effective,” “effective,” “needs improvement” (or, for instructional 

personnel in the first three years of employment who need improvement, “developing”), or 

“unsatisfactory.”38 Evaluations occur annually, except classroom teachers newly hired by a 

district are evaluated at least twice during their first year of teaching in the school district.39  

 

Performance evaluations are comprised of components of student performance, instructional 

practice, institutional leadership, and professional and job responsibilities.  

 

                                                 
29 Section 1008.22(7), F.S. 
30 Instructional personnel include classroom teachers and other instructional personnel, such as certified school counselors, 

librarians, and learning resource specialists. Section 1012.01(2), F.S. Although substitute teachers are classified as classroom 

teachers, the law specifically excludes them from performance evaluation requirements. Section 1012.34(3)(a), F.S.   
31 Section 1012.34(3)(a), F.S. Newly hired classroom teachers are evaluated twice in their first year of teaching in a school 

district. Id.  
32 Section 1012.34(3)(a)1., 2., and 4., F.S. School administrator evaluation criteria include instructional leadership. Section 

1012.34(3)(a)3., F.S.   
33 Section 1012.34(3)(a)1. and 4., F.S. 
34 Section 1012.34(3)(a)3., F.S. 
35 Section 1012.34,(1)(a), F.S.   
36 Section 1012.34(1)(a), F.S.   
37 Section 1012.34(1)(b), F.S.  By December 1 of each year, the commissioner must report to the Governor, President of the 

Senate, and Speaker of the House of Representatives the approval and implementation status of each school district’s 

instructional personnel and school administrator evaluation systems. The report must include evaluation results for 

instructional personnel and school administrators. Section 1012.34(1)(c), F.S. 
38 Section 1012.34(2)(e), F.S.   
39 Section 1012.34(3)(a), F.S.   



BILL: PCS/SB 616 (610298)   Page 7 

 

Student Performance  

Student performance includes data and indicators of student learning growth40 based on student 

performance on annual statewide assessments or, for subjects and grade levels not tested by 

statewide assessments, school district assessments.41 Student performance must constitute at least 

50 percent of a classroom teacher’s or school administrator’s evaluation.42 

 

For classroom teachers, excluding substitute teachers, student performance must include student 

learning growth data for students assigned to the teacher over the course of at least 3 years.43 If 

less than 3 years of data are available, then student learning growth may comprise not less than 

40 percent of the evaluation.44  

 

For other instructional personnel who are not classroom teachers, student performance must 

include student learning growth data on statewide assessments for students assigned to the 

instructional personnel over the course of at least 3 years45 and must comprise at least 30 percent 

of the evaluation or, if less than 3 years of data are available, then not less than 20 percent.46  

 

For school administrators, student performance must include student learning growth data for 

students assigned to the school over the course of at least 3 years.47 If less than 3 years of data 

are available, then student learning growth may comprise not less than 40 percent of the 

evaluation.48  

 

Instructional Practice  

Instructional practice is a component of instructional personnel evaluations which consists of 

evaluation criteria used in annually observing classroom teachers.49 The evaluation criteria must 

include indicators based on each of Florida Educator Accomplished Practices (FEAP) adopted in 

rule by the SBE.50 For instructional personnel who are not classroom teachers, the evaluation 

criteria must be based on FEAP indicators and may include specific job expectations related to 

student support.51  

 

                                                 
40 Section 1012.34(8), F.S. The formula is known as the “value added model” (VAM). Section 1012.34(7)(a), F.S.  
41 Sections 1012.34(3)(a)1. and 1008.22(6), F.S. Each school district must publish on its website testing schedules for the 

administration of district-mandated assessments and report the schedules annually to the DOE by October 1. Section 

1008.22(6)(e), F.S.   
42 Sections 1012.34(3)(a)1., F.S. 
43 Section 10102.34(3)(a)1.a., F.S. 
44 Section 1012.34(3)(a)1.a., F.S.   
45 The student performance component for instructional personnel who are not classroom teachers may include student 

learning growth data and other measurable student outcomes specific to the position. Section 1012.34(1)(a)1.b., F.S.   
46 Section 1012.34(3)(a)1.b., F.S.   
47 Section 1012.34(3)(a)1.c., F.S. 
48 Section 1012.34(3)(a)1.c.   
49 Section 1012.34(3)(a)2., F.S.  
50 Id. 
51 Id. 



BILL: PCS/SB 616 (610298)   Page 8 

 

Instructional Leadership  

Instructional leadership is a component of school administrator evaluations and consists of 

indicators based on each of the leadership standards adopted in rule by the SBE.52 

 

Professional and Job Responsibilities  

The professional and job responsibilities component of an evaluation must include additional 

professional and job responsibilities as adopted in SBE rule.53 District school boards may 

identify professional and job responsibilities in addition to those identified by the SBE.54 

 

Statewide Public School Accountability System 

Florida’s school grading system was created in 1999 as a part of substantial changes to the state’s 

school improvement and accountability system.55 The law designated school grade categories 

and specified the metrics used to measure school performance.56 School improvement ratings 

were also established in 199957 as another measure of school accountability for schools that meet 

specified criteria.58 

 

School Grades 

The measure of school accountability is the school grade.59 The following letter grades are used 

to designate school performance:60  

 “A,” schools making excellent progress.  

 “B,” schools making above average progress.  

 “C,” schools making satisfactory progress.  

 “D,” schools making less than satisfactory progress.  

 “F,” schools failing to make adequate progress. 

 

The basic school grade model used for elementary, middle, and high schools is based upon the 

percentage of total possible points earned by a school for student achievement scores on 

specified statewide, standardized assessments; student learning gains on statewide, standardized 

English Language Arts and mathematics assessments; and the improvement of the lowest 25 

percent of students in the school in reading and mathematics.61 School grades for middle schools 

and high schools are additionally customized as follows:   

                                                 
52 Section 1012.34(3)(a)3., F.S.   
53 Section 1012.34(3)(a)4., F.S.  
54 Section 1012.34(3)(a)4., F.S.   
55 Section 7 of chapter 99-398, L.O.F., codified in s. 229.57, F.S., subsequently repealed by s. 378, ch. 2002-387, L.O.F, and 

codified in s. 1008.34, F.S.   
56 Id. 
57 Section 7, ch. 99-398, L.O.F. 
58 Section 1008.341, F.S.   
59 Rule 6A-1.09981(3), F.A.C.   
60 Section 1008.34(2), F.S.; Rule 6A-1.09981(6)(a), F.A.C.   
61 Section 1008.34(3)(b)1., F.S. 



BILL: PCS/SB 616 (610298)   Page 9 

 

 School grades for middle schools include an additional component measuring the percentage 

of students passing high school level EOC assessments or attaining national industry 

certifications.62   

 High school grades are calculated by also including a school’s four-year graduation rate and 

the percentage of the school’s students who are eligible to earn college and career credit 

through accelerated courses or who attain national industry certifications.63 

 

The procedure for calculating the school grade and the scale used to determine a school grade are 

specified in SBE rule.64  

 

School Improvement Ratings  

School improvement ratings are indicators of whether the performance of an alternative school 

that provides dropouts prevention and academic intervention services has improved, remained 

the same, or declined compared to the prior year, based on student learning gains on statewide 

standardized assessments.65 Alternative schools and ESE centers may choose to receive a school 

improvement rating instead of a school grade.66 An alternative school that earns a school 

improvement rating receives one of the following ratings:67 

 “Commendable” – a significant percentage of the students attending the school are making 

learning gains; 

 “Maintaining” – a sufficient percentage of the students attending the school are making 

learning gains; or 

 “Unsatisfactory” – students attending are making less academic progress at the alternative 

school than when the students were served in their home schools. 

 

School improvement ratings are based on the following two components:68  

 The percentage of eligible students who make learning gains in English Language Arts, as 

measured by statewide, standardized assessments; and  

 The percentage of eligible students who make learning gains in mathematics, as measured by 

statewide, standardized assessments.  

 

2014-2015 Transition Year  

The 2013-2014 school year was the final year student performance results on statewide, 

standardized reading, writing, and mathematics assessments (aligned to an earlier set of 

academic standards)69 were used to calculate school grades, school improvement ratings, and 

districts grades and evaluate public education personnel.70  

                                                 
62 Section 1008.34(3)(b)i., F.S. The industry certifications must be identified in the Industry Certification Funding List 

adopted by the State Board of Education. Id. 
63 Section 1008.34(3)(b)2., F.S. 
64 Section 1008.34(3)(c)1., F.S. 
65 See s. 1008.341(2), F.S.; Rule 6A-1.099822(5)(b), F.A.C. 
66 Sections 1008.341(2) and 1008.3415(1), F.S. 
67 Id. 
68 Section 1008.341(3)(a) and (b), F.S. 
69 Statewide assessments include FCAT writing, FCAT 2.0, and end of course (EOC) assessments. See Section 1008.22, F.S. 
70 Florida Department of Education, Just for Parents (June/July 2014), available at 

http://www.fldoe.org/core/fileparse.php/7743/urlt/0078176-junejuly.pdf. 



BILL: PCS/SB 616 (610298)   Page 10 

 

 

On February 18, 2014, the SBE adopted new state standards, called the Florida Standards, for 

ELA and mathematics.71 Through a competitive bid process, on March 17, 2014, the 

commissioner announced the selection of the American Institutes for Research to develop the 

statewide, standardized English Language Arts and mathematics assessments aligned to the 

Florida Standards.72 The new ELA and mathematics assessments are being administered for the 

first time during the 2014-2015 school year.73 

 

To facilitate Florida’s transition to the Florida Standards and associated assessments, the 2014 

Legislature established the 2014-2015 school year as an informational baseline year for schools 

to work toward improved performance in future years.74  The results of statewide, standardized 

assessments, including the Florida Standards assessments, administered in the spring of 2015 

will be used to calculate school grades and school improvement ratings; however, schools will be 

held harmless and insulated from any penalty or reclassification that would otherwise result from 

the school’s 2014-2015 grade.75 Consequently, a school will not be required to select an 

implement a turnaround option in the 2015-2016 school year based on the school’s 2014-2015 

grade or school improvement rating.76 Schools, based on grades calculated during the transition 

year, will be eligible to receive school recognition funds based on their performance.77 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

PCS/SB 616 impacts statutory accountability provisions related to the state’s public school 

student assessment program, the educator performance evaluation system, and the statewide 

public school accountability system. 

 

The bill maintains the statutorily provided 2014-2015 school year transition to the Florida 

Standards Assessments, including the suspension of negative consequences associated with 

school grades and school improvement ratings. Specifically, the bill makes the following 

adjustments to student assessment, performance evaluation requirements and school 

accountability. 

 

Student Assessments 

The bill: 

 Reduces the number of statutorily-required assessments by eliminating the current 

requirement that a school district administer a local assessment for each course that is not 

assessed by a statewide, standardized assessment. 

                                                 
71 Florida State Board of Education, Minutes of February 18, 2014, available at 

http://www.fldoe.org/core/fileparse.php/5444/urlt/0074998-minutes.pdf. 
72 Florida Department of Education, With Students as Top Priority, Florida Chooses Replacement for FCAT, Press Release 

(Mar. 17, 2014). 
73 Department of Education, Florida Standards Assessments Information for Families, available at 

http://www.fsassessments.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/Florida-Family-Brochure-v6-2.pdf.   
74 Section 1008.34(7), F.S. 
75 Section 1, ch. 2014-23, L.O.F. 
76 Id. 
77 Id. 



BILL: PCS/SB 616 (610298)   Page 11 

 

 Reduces the total time devoted to testing by adding a provision limiting the amount of time 

for test administration by limiting to no more than 5% of total school hours per student, per 

year, during a school year that a student can be required to take state-required and locally-

required tests.78  

o Exemptions are allowed to the 5% testing limit as follows: a parent may to consent to 

additional assessments, students may take certain assessments, for use as end-of-course 

assessments79 or to demonstrate college readiness,80 and for a student with test 

accommodations via an Individual Education Plan (IEP) or English Language Learner 

(ELL) plan.81 

 Provides for timely information to teachers and parents by adding in law a provision 

requiring school districts to make student performance results on district-required local 

assessment available to the student’s teachers and parents within 30 days of test 

administration.82 

 Amends current law regarding mandatory assessments and progress monitoring by: 

o Removing the requirement to take the grade 11 Florida Standards English Language Arts 

(ELA) assessment. 

o Removing the grade 11 FSA ELA assessment as a requirement to earn a scholar 

designation on a student’s standard high school diploma. 

o Adding a requirement prohibiting administration of a local assessment if a statewide, 

standardized assessment is administered for the subject or grade level. 

o Removing the administration of the common placement test (e.g., Postsecondary 

Education Readiness Test or PERT) as a requirement in high school and makes the 

administration optional at the request of parents. Adds authority for districts to administer 

PERT, SAT, ACT, or other assessments.  Removes the requirement for remedial 

instruction.83 

o Removing the requirement for progress monitoring, but retains the requirement for 

students performing at level 1 and level 2. 

                                                 
78 Instruction in a standard school for a full time student consists of at least 900 net hours for a student in grades 4-12, and 

720 net hours for a student in kindergarten through grade 3. Section 1011.61(1)(a)1., F.S. The 5% testing limit thus equals 45 

hours for grades 4-12 and 36 hours for kindergarten through grade 3. 
79 “The commissioner may select one or more nationally developed comprehensive examinations, which may include 

examinations for College Board Advanced Placement course, International Baccalaureate course, or Advanced International 

Certificate of Education course, or industry-approved examinations to earn national industry certifications identified in the 

Industry Certification Funding List, for use as EOC assessments.” Section 1008.22(3)(b)4., F.S. 
80 Students may take the Florida Postsecondary Education Readiness Test (PERT), Accuplacer, SAT, or Enhanced ACT to 

demonstrate readiness to perform college-level work. Rule 6A-10.0315, F.A.C. 
81 The 5% testing limit does not interfere with a student’s ability to take AP, IB, AICE, dual enrollment, industry 

certification, AAT and ACT assessments. 
82 There is no requirement in state law for a school district to provide results of such assessments to teachers, students or 

parents within a certain time frame.  
83 One result of the state’s performance accountability system is a requirement that high school students who score Level 1 or 

2 to complete an intensive remedial course the following year. Section 1002.4282(5)(a), F.S. Another result is a requirement 

that students who score less than Level 3 on the English Language Arts or Mathematics assessments to undergo progress 

monitoring. Section 1008.25, F.S. 



BILL: PCS/SB 616 (610298)   Page 12 

 

 Adds a new requirement for the State Board of Education (SBE) to adopt in rule a 

notification form that districts must use to inform parents about 3rd grade retention and mid-

year promotion and high school graduation requirements and available options.84 

 

Performance Evaluation Requirements 

The bill: 

 Retains the ability for teachers and school administrators to receive performance pay 

adjustments, if they choose to have the student performance component of their performance 

evaluation based on a statewide or other standardized assessment, industry certification 

assessment, or a district-developed or selected assessment. 

 Modifies the student performance component of teacher performance evaluations by 

lowering the component from at least 50% to at least 33% of a teacher’s total performance 

evaluation.  Adds a requirement that the instructional practice component to constitute at 

least 33% of a teacher’s total performance evaluation.  Adds a requirement that the 

professional and job responsibilities component constitute no more than 33% of a teacher’s 

total performance evaluation.  

 Adds a new requirement that the instructional practice component of a teacher’s performance 

evaluation have multiple observations by administrative personnel.85 

 Authorizes a new requirement that the professional and job responsibilities component of a 

teacher’s performance evaluation to utilize peer reviews.86 

 

School Accountability 

The bill: 

 Creates, for schools and school districts that experience technical implementation issues 

during the 2014-2015 school year assessment, a one-time option for superintendents, with a 

majority vote of the district school board, to adopt a corrective action plan and seek approval 

from the State Board of Education to use the 2014-2015 school year test results for 

diagnostic and baseline purposes only.87  If approved, the school district forfeits designation 

as an academically-high performing school district, if applicable, and the school forfeits 

school recognition funding. 

                                                 
84 State law identifies grade 3 retention and midyear promotion requirements, and high school graduation requirements; 

however, it does not specifically require the Department of Education – either annually or contemporaneously with the 

provision of assessments results – to notify parents and students of such requirements in a clear and effective manner that is 

easily understood. 
85Current law permits only one observation of a classroom teacher, multiple observations are not required. Section 

1012.34(3)(a)2., F.S. 
86 Current law does not specifically authorize peer reviews to be utilized as part of the professional and job responsibilities 

evaluation component. Section 1012.34(3)(a)4., F.S.  
87 Superintendents must annually certify certain readiness for state assessments. Florida Department of Education, 2014-2015 

Computer-Based Assessment Certification Process, available at http://info.fldoe.org/docushare/dsweb/Get/Document-

7126/dps-2014-122.pdf. For the certification for the Spring 2015 Computer-Based Testing for the Florida Standards 

Assessment: 16 superintendents’ certification forms contained an addendum, 19 superintendents requested an extension of 

time to file the certification, and 27 superintendents submitted the certification. E-mail, Florida Department of Education 

(February 16, 2016), on file Committee on Education Pre-K-12 staff. 



BILL: (610298)   Page 13 

 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

This bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes: 1001.03, 1003.4282, 

1003.4285, 1008.22, 1008.25, 1008.30, 1008.34, 1012.22, 1012.34, and 1012.3401.   

 

This bill creates an undesignated section of the Florida law. 

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

PCS (610298) by Education Pre-K-12 on March 4, 2015: 

The proposed committee substitute makes the following changes to SB 616: 



BILL: (610298)   Page 14 

 

 

Student Assessments 

 Clarifies that the 5% testing limit is per student per school year. 

 Clarifies an exception to the 5% testing limit, so that students may take assessments 

associated with acceleration mechanisms and industry certifications and assessments 

to demonstrate college readiness, and 

 Adds an additional exception to the 5% testing limit by exempting test times 

associated with student Individual Education Plan (IEP) or English Language Learner 

(ELL) plan accommodations. 

 Adds new requirement for districts to make student performance results on district-

required local assessment available to the student’s teachers and parents within 30 

days of test administration. 

 Adds a new requirement for the State Board of Education (SBE) to adopt in rule a 

notification form that districts must use to inform parents about 3rd grade retention 

and mid-year promotion and high school graduation requirements and available 

options. 

 

Performance Evaluation Requirements 

 Modifies the student performance component of teacher performance evaluations by 

lowering the component from at least 40% to at least 33% of a teacher’s total 

performance evaluation, and increases the instructional practice and professional and 

job responsibilities components percentages from 30% to 33%. 

 Adds a new requirement that the instructional practice component of a teacher’s 

performance evaluation have multiple observations by administrative personnel. 

 Authorizes a new requirement that the professional and job responsibilities 

component of a teacher’s performance evaluation to utilize peer reviews. 

 

School Accountability  

 Retains provision creating the one-time, district contingency option for the 2014-2015 

school year with the following modification: 

o Changes, from supermajority to majority vote of school board, the requirement to 

pursue SBE approval to pursue a waiver. 

o Limits the reason a district is authorized to request a waiver from any 

implementation failure to only a technical implementation failure. 

o Clarifies that a school board must adopt the corrective action plan submitted along 

with the district’s waiver request to the SBE. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. PCS (610298) for SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì865244,Î865244 

 

Page 1 of 2 

3/3/2015 6:35:52 PM 581-01857-15 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: UNFAV 

03/04/2015 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education Pre-K - 12 (Bullard) recommended the 

following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Before line 71 3 

insert: 4 

Section 1. Notwithstanding any other requirement in the 5 

Florida K-20 Education Code to the contrary, the administration 6 

of the statewide, standardized assessments required under s. 7 

1008.22, Florida Statutes, is suspended until the Office of 8 

Program Policy Analysis and Government Accountability completes 9 

a 1-year study, beginning no later than August 1, 2015, 10 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. PCS (610298) for SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì865244,Î865244 

 

Page 2 of 2 

3/3/2015 6:35:52 PM 581-01857-15 

assessing the cost-effectiveness of the leasing by the 11 

Department of Education of examination questions from the 12 

American Institute for Research as compared to the use of 13 

questions from an existing examination. 14 

 15 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 16 

And the title is amended as follows: 17 

Delete line 2 18 

and insert: 19 

An act relating to education accountability; 20 

suspending the administration of the statewide, 21 

standardized assessments until completion of a study 22 

by the Office of Program Policy Analysis and 23 

Government Accountability; amending 24 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. PCS (610298) for SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì412336ÂÎ412336 

 

Page 1 of 3 

3/4/2015 11:17:53 AM 581-01854-15 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: UNFAV 

03/04/2015 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education Pre-K - 12 (Bullard) recommended the 

following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with directory and title amendments) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 116 - 129 3 

and insert: 4 

students in grades 3 through 9 11. Retake opportunities for the 5 

grade 10 Reading assessment or, upon implementation, the grade 9 6 

10 ELA assessment must be provided. In lieu of the grade 10 ELA 7 

assessment, the Preliminary SAT/National Merit Scholarship 8 

Qualifying Test (PSAT/NMSQT) must be provided. Students taking 9 

the ELA assessments shall not take the statewide, standardized 10 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. PCS (610298) for SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì412336ÂÎ412336 

 

Page 2 of 3 

3/4/2015 11:17:53 AM 581-01854-15 

assessments in Reading or Writing. ELA assessments shall be 11 

administered online. The statewide, standardized Mathematics 12 

assessments shall be administered annually in grades 3 through 13 

8. Students taking a revised Mathematics assessment shall not 14 

take the discontinued assessment. The statewide, standardized 15 

Science assessment shall be administered annually at least once 16 

at the elementary and middle grades levels. In order to earn a 17 

standard high school diploma, a student who has not earned a 18 

passing score on the grade 10 Reading assessment or, upon 19 

implementation, the grade 9 10 ELA assessment must earn a 20 

passing 21 

 22 

Between lines 209 and 210 23 

insert: 24 

(7) CONCORDANT SCORES.—The Commissioner of Education must 25 

identify scores on the SAT and ACT that if achieved satisfy the 26 

graduation requirement that a student pass the grade 10 27 

statewide, standardized Reading assessment or, upon 28 

implementation, the grade 9 10 ELA assessment. The commissioner 29 

may identify concordant scores on assessments other than the SAT 30 

and ACT. If the content or scoring procedures change for the 31 

grade 10 Reading assessment or, upon implementation, the grade 9 32 

10 ELA assessment, new concordant scores must be determined. If 33 

new concordant scores are not timely adopted, the last-adopted 34 

concordant scores remain in effect until such time as new scores 35 

are adopted. The state board shall adopt concordant scores in 36 

rule. 37 

 38 

====== D I R E C T O R Y  C L A U S E  A M E N D M E N T ====== 39 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. PCS (610298) for SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì412336ÂÎ412336 

 

Page 3 of 3 

3/4/2015 11:17:53 AM 581-01854-15 

And the directory clause is amended as follows: 40 

Delete lines 87 - 88 41 

and insert: 42 

Section 2. Paragraph (a) of subsection (3) and subsections 43 

(6) and (7) of section 1008.22, Florida Statutes, are amended to 44 

read: 45 

 46 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 47 

And the title is amended as follows: 48 

Delete line 10 49 

and insert: 50 

grades 10 and 11; requiring that the Preliminary 51 

SAT/National Merit Scholarship Qualifying Test 52 

(PSAT/NMSQT) be offered in lieu of the grade 10 ELA 53 

assessment; prohibiting a school district from 54 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. PCS (610298) for SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610440hÎ610440 

 

Page 1 of 2 

3/4/2015 11:13:28 AM 581-01842-15 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: UNFAV 

03/04/2015 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education Pre-K - 12 (Bullard) recommended the 

following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete line 131 3 

and insert: 4 

authorized under subsection (7). A student’s parent may choose 5 

to have the student’s concordant score on an existing state-6 

sponsored or mandated examination be used in lieu of the 7 

statewide, standardized assessments to satisfy high school 8 

graduation requirements. 9 

 10 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. PCS (610298) for SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610440hÎ610440 

 

Page 2 of 2 

3/4/2015 11:13:28 AM 581-01842-15 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 11 

And the title is amended as follows: 12 

Delete line 10 13 

and insert: 14 

grade 11; authorizing a student’s parent to choose to 15 

have a concordant score on certain examinations be 16 

used in lieu of the statewide, standardized 17 

assessments; prohibiting a school district from 18 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. PCS (610298) for SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì279278[Î279278 

 

Page 1 of 2 

3/3/2015 6:37:13 PM 581-01861-15 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: UNFAV 

03/04/2015 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education Pre-K - 12 (Bullard) recommended the 

following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 209 and 210 3 

insert: 4 

Section 3. Section 1008.222, Florida Statutes, is created 5 

to read: 6 

1008.222 Administration of assessments.—Notwithstanding any 7 

other provision of law, each public school and school district 8 

shall allow a parent of a student to elect to have any 9 

statewide, standardized assessment required under s. 1008.22 10 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. PCS (610298) for SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì279278[Î279278 

 

Page 2 of 2 

3/3/2015 6:37:13 PM 581-01861-15 

administered to the student in a hard copy format until the 11 

technology infrastructure, connectivity, and capacity of all 12 

public schools and school districts have been load tested; 13 

independently verified as appropriate, adequate, efficient, and 14 

sustainable; and certified by the district school 15 

superintendents as ready for the successful deployment of online 16 

assessments. 17 

 18 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 19 

And the title is amended as follows: 20 

Delete line 27 21 

and insert: 22 

and publication of testing schedules; creating s. 23 

1008.222, F.S.; requiring public schools and school 24 

districts to allow a parent of a student to elect to 25 

have specified assessments administered to the student 26 

in a hard copy format until certain criteria have been 27 

satisfied by all public schools and school districts; 28 

amending s. 29 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. PCS (610298) for SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì5370562Î537056 

 

Page 1 of 6 

3/4/2015 11:16:16 AM 581-01852-15 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: UNFAV 

03/04/2015 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education Pre-K - 12 (Bullard) recommended the 

following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 387 - 482 3 

and insert: 4 

school improvement ratings pursuant to s. 1008.341 for the 2014-5 

2015 and 2015-2016 2013-2014 school years year shall be 6 

calculated based on statutes and rules in effect on June 30, 7 

2014. To assist in the transition to 2014-2015 school grades, 8 

calculated based on new statewide, standardized assessments 9 

administered pursuant to s. 1008.22, the 2014-2015 school grades 10 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. PCS (610298) for SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì5370562Î537056 

 

Page 2 of 6 

3/4/2015 11:16:16 AM 581-01852-15 

shall serve as an informational baseline for schools to work 11 

toward improved performance in future years. Accordingly, 12 

notwithstanding any other provision of law: 13 

(a) A school may not be required to select and implement a 14 

turnaround option pursuant to s. 1008.33 in the 2015-2016 or 15 

2016-2017 school year based on the school’s 2014-2015 or 2015-16 

2016 grade or school improvement rating under s. 1008.341, as 17 

applicable. 18 

(b)1. A school or approved provider under s. 1002.45 that 19 

receives the same or a lower school grade or school improvement 20 

rating for the 2014-2015 school year compared to the 2013-2014 21 

school year is not subject to sanctions or penalties that would 22 

otherwise occur as a result of the 2014-2015 or 2015-2016 school 23 

grade or rating. A charter school system or a school district 24 

designated as high performing may not lose the designation based 25 

on the 2014-2015 or 2015-2016 school grades of any of the 26 

schools within the charter school system or school district, as 27 

applicable. 28 

2. The Florida School Recognition Program established under 29 

s. 1008.36 shall continue to be implemented as otherwise 30 

provided in the General Appropriations Act. 31 

(c) For purposes of determining grade 3 retention pursuant 32 

to s. 1008.25(5) and high school graduation pursuant to s. 33 

1003.4282, student performance on the 2014-2015 statewide, 34 

standardized assessments shall be linked to 2013-2014 student 35 

performance expectations. 36 

 37 

This subsection is repealed July 1, 2017. 38 

Section 6. Paragraph (a) of subsection (3) and subsections 39 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. PCS (610298) for SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì5370562Î537056 

 

Page 3 of 6 

3/4/2015 11:16:16 AM 581-01852-15 

(7) and (8) of section 1012.34, Florida Statutes, are amended to 40 

read: 41 

1012.34 Personnel evaluation procedures and criteria.— 42 

(3) EVALUATION PROCEDURES AND CRITERIA.—Instructional 43 

personnel and school administrator performance evaluations must 44 

be based upon the performance of students assigned to their 45 

classrooms or schools, as provided in this section. Pursuant to 46 

this section, a school district’s performance evaluation is not 47 

limited to basing unsatisfactory performance of instructional 48 

personnel and school administrators solely upon student 49 

performance, but may include other criteria approved to evaluate 50 

instructional personnel and school administrators’ performance, 51 

or any combination of student performance and other approved 52 

criteria. Evaluation procedures and criteria must comply with, 53 

but are not limited to, the following: 54 

(a) A performance evaluation must be conducted for each 55 

employee at least once a year, except that a classroom teacher, 56 

as defined in s. 1012.01(2)(a), excluding substitute teachers, 57 

who is newly hired by the district school board must be observed 58 

and evaluated at least twice in the first year of teaching in 59 

the school district. The performance evaluation must be based 60 

upon sound educational principles and contemporary research in 61 

effective educational practices. The evaluation criteria must 62 

include: 63 

1. Performance of students.—At least 33 50 percent of a 64 

performance evaluation must be based upon data and indicators of 65 

student learning growth assessed annually by statewide 66 

assessments or, for subjects and grade levels not measured by 67 

statewide assessments, by school district assessments pursuant 68 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. PCS (610298) for SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì5370562Î537056 

 

Page 4 of 6 

3/4/2015 11:16:16 AM 581-01852-15 

to subsection (7) as provided in s. 1008.22(6). Each school 69 

district must use the formula adopted pursuant to paragraph 70 

(7)(a) for measuring student learning growth in all courses 71 

associated with statewide assessments and must select an equally 72 

appropriate formula for measuring student learning growth for 73 

all other grades and subjects, except as otherwise provided in 74 

subsection (7). 75 

a. For classroom teachers, as defined in s. 1012.01(2)(a), 76 

excluding substitute teachers, the student learning growth 77 

portion of the evaluation must include growth data for students 78 

assigned to the teacher over the course of at least 3 years. If 79 

less than 3 years of data are available, the years for which 80 

data are available must be used and the percentage of the 81 

evaluation based upon student learning growth may be reduced to 82 

not less than 30 40 percent. 83 

b. For instructional personnel who are not classroom 84 

teachers, the student learning growth portion of the evaluation 85 

must include growth data on statewide assessments for students 86 

assigned to the instructional personnel over the course of at 87 

least 3 years, or may include a combination of student learning 88 

growth data and other measurable student outcomes that are 89 

specific to the assigned position, provided that the student 90 

learning growth data accounts for not less than 30 percent of 91 

the evaluation. If less than 3 years of student growth data are 92 

available, the years for which data are available must be used 93 

and the percentage of the evaluation based upon student learning 94 

growth may be reduced to not less than 20 percent. 95 

c. For school administrators, the student learning growth 96 

portion of the evaluation must include growth data for students 97 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. PCS (610298) for SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì5370562Î537056 

 

Page 5 of 6 

3/4/2015 11:16:16 AM 581-01852-15 

assigned to the school over the course of at least 3 years. If 98 

less than 3 years of data are available, the years for which 99 

data are available must be used and the percentage of the 100 

evaluation based upon student learning growth may be reduced to 101 

not less than 30 40 percent. 102 

d. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, performance 103 

evaluations based upon data and indicators for the 2014-2015 and 104 

2015-2016 school years may not use student learning growth as 105 

required under this subparagraph if such use would result in a 106 

lower level of performance as specified in paragraph (2)(e) than 107 

the level of performance which would result without the use of 108 

student learning growth. 109 

 110 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 111 

And the title is amended as follows: 112 

Delete lines 40 - 44 113 

and insert: 114 

amending s. 1008.34, F.S.; providing that school 115 

grades and school improvement ratings for specified 116 

school years shall serve as an informational baseline; 117 

prohibiting a school from being required to implement 118 

a school turnaround option in a specified school year 119 

based on certain school grades or improvement ratings; 120 

prohibiting a virtual instruction program from being 121 

subject to sanctions or penalties based on certain 122 

school grades or improvement ratings; prohibiting a 123 

charter school system or school district from losing a 124 

designation as high performing based on certain school 125 

grades or improvement ratings in a specified school 126 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. PCS (610298) for SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì5370562Î537056 

 

Page 6 of 6 

3/4/2015 11:16:16 AM 581-01852-15 

year; amending s. 1012.34, F.S.; revising the 127 

percentage thresholds for performance evaluation 128 

criteria for instructional personnel and school 129 

administrators; prohibiting the use of student 130 

learning growth in performance evaluations under 131 

certain circumstances; authorizing use of peer reviews 132 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. PCS (610298) for SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì2265542Î226554 

 

Page 1 of 2 

3/3/2015 6:34:10 PM 581-01855-15 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/04/2015 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education Pre-K - 12 (Bullard) recommended the 

following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 757 and 758 3 

insert: 4 

Section 9. The Office of Program Policy Analysis and 5 

Government Accountability (OPPAGA) shall conduct a year-long 6 

study, beginning no later than August 1, 2015, to assess the 7 

cost-effectiveness of the Department of Education leasing 8 

examination questions from the American Institute for Research 9 

compared with using questions from an existing examination. No 10 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. PCS (610298) for SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì2265542Î226554 

 

Page 2 of 2 

3/3/2015 6:34:10 PM 581-01855-15 

later than December 1, 2016, OPPAGA shall provide a report 11 

summarizing the findings of the study to the President of the 12 

Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives. 13 

 14 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 15 

And the title is amended as follows: 16 

Delete line 64 17 

and insert: 18 

2015 school year; providing for expiration; requiring 19 

the Office of Program Policy Analysis and Government 20 

Accountability (OPPAGA) to complete a study regarding 21 

the leasing of examination questions; requiring OPPAGA 22 

to submit a report summarizing the study findings to 23 

the Legislature by a specified date; amending 24 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. PCS (610298) for SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì771912"Î771912 

 

Page 1 of 2 

3/4/2015 11:19:24 AM 581-01862-15 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

03/04/2015 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education Pre-K - 12 (Bullard) recommended the 

following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 757 and 758 3 

insert: 4 

Section 9. Notwithstanding any other law, each district 5 

school board shall implement a program that studies and assesses 6 

the effectiveness of using statewide, standardized comprehensive 7 

examinations to achieve the purpose of the student assessment 8 

program for public schools specified in s. 1008.22(1), Florida 9 

Statutes. Before a statewide, standardized comprehensive 10 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. PCS (610298) for SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì771912"Î771912 

 

Page 2 of 2 

3/4/2015 11:19:24 AM 581-01862-15 

examination is administered, each district school board and the 11 

Department of Education must concur in the effectiveness of the 12 

examination as an accurate and reliable assessment tool. 13 

 14 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 15 

And the title is amended as follows: 16 

Delete line 64 17 

and insert: 18 

2015 school year; providing for expiration; requiring 19 

district school boards to implement a program studying 20 

and assessing the effectiveness of using statewide, 21 

standardized comprehensive assessments; requiring each 22 

district school board and the Department of Education 23 

to concur in the effectiveness of the examination 24 

before administration; amending 25 



Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 1 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

Proposed Committee Substitute by the Committee on Education Pre-

K - 12 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to education accountability; amending 2 

s. 1001.03, F.S.; revising the powers of the State 3 

Board of Education to require adoption of rules 4 

regarding notification forms for grade 3 retention and 5 

midyear promotion, and high school graduation 6 

requirements and options; amending s. 1008.22, F.S.; 7 

removing the requirement that English Language Arts 8 

statewide assessments be administered to students in 9 

grade 11; prohibiting a school district from 10 

administering a local assessment on a subject measured 11 

under a statewide assessment; requiring a school 12 

district to provide a student’s performance results on 13 

local assessments within a specified timeframe; 14 

revising requirements for the administration of local 15 

assessments; transferring provisions relating to 16 

district school board policies regarding assessments; 17 

restricting the amount of school hours that a school 18 

district may dedicate to administer specified 19 

assessments; providing exceptions; requiring a school 20 

district to secure consent of a student’s parent if 21 

school hours dedicated to the administration of local 22 

assessments exceed the threshold amount; authorizing a 23 

student to take an examination or assessment adopted 24 

pursuant to State Board of Education rule; revising 25 

requirements regarding the school district’s adoption 26 

and publication of testing schedules; amending s. 27 

Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 2 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

1008.25, F.S.; revising requirements for a district 28 

school board’s comprehensive student progression plan; 29 

removing references regarding local assessments; 30 

revising requirements regarding instruction and 31 

reassessment of students who exhibit a reading 32 

deficiency; amending s. 1008.30, F.S.; specifying 33 

alternative assessments that may be accepted by public 34 

postsecondary educational institutions in lieu of the 35 

common placement test; revising requirements for state 36 

board rules regarding common placement testing; 37 

authorizing, rather than requiring, high schools to 38 

perform specified college readiness evaluations; 39 

amending s. 1008.34, F.S.; adding references to school 40 

improvement ratings; amending s. 1012.34, F.S.; 41 

revising the percentage thresholds for performance 42 

evaluation criteria for instructional personnel and 43 

school administrators; authorizing use of peer reviews 44 

under the professional and job responsibilities 45 

component of the evaluation; specifying standards for 46 

the content and the administration of local 47 

assessments; specifying requirements for eligibility 48 

of salary adjustments for instructional personnel or 49 

school administrators; requiring the state board to 50 

adopt rules by a certain date; amending s. 1012.3401, 51 

F.S.; revising the formula for a classroom teacher’s 52 

or school administrator’s performance evaluation; 53 

authorizing a school district to request approval from 54 

the state board to use student performance results on 55 

new statewide assessments for diagnostic and baseline 56 



Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 3 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

purposes; requiring a district school superintendent 57 

to submit the waiver request to the Commissioner of 58 

Education; specifying required content of a waiver 59 

request; requiring the commissioner to review and make 60 

recommendations to the state board regarding each 61 

waiver request; specifying conditions and requirements 62 

for a school that is granted a waiver for the 2014-63 

2015 school year; providing for expiration; amending 64 

ss. 1003.4282, 1003.4285, and 1012.22, F.S.; 65 

conforming provisions to changes made by the act; 66 

providing an effective date. 67 

  68 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 69 

 70 

Section 1. Subsection (18) is added to section 1001.03, 71 

Florida Statutes, to read: 72 

1001.03 Specific powers of State Board of Education.— 73 

(18) PUBLICATION OF GRADE 3 RETENTION AND MIDYEAR PROMOTION 74 

AND HIGH SCHOOL GRADUATION REQUIREMENTS AND OPTIONS.— The State 75 

Board of Education shall adopt by rule: 76 

(a) A notification form that clearly identifies for parents 77 

and students the grade 3 retention and midyear promotion 78 

requirements, processes, and options, as well as the high school 79 

graduation requirements, processes, and options. The rule must 80 

require school districts to publish this notification form on 81 

their websites and include the form in annual student handbooks. 82 

(b) A requirement that school districts attach the 83 

notification form when providing student performance results to 84 

parents on statewide, standardized assessments administered 85 

Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 4 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

pursuant to ss. 1002.69, 1003.56, and 1008.22. 86 

Section 2. Paragraph (a) of subsection (3) and subsection 87 

(6) of section 1008.22, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 88 

1008.22 Student assessment program for public schools.— 89 

(3) STATEWIDE, STANDARDIZED ASSESSMENT PROGRAM.—The 90 

Commissioner of Education shall design and implement a 91 

statewide, standardized assessment program aligned to the core 92 

curricular content established in the Next Generation Sunshine 93 

State Standards. The commissioner also must develop or select 94 

and implement a common battery of assessment tools that will be 95 

used in all juvenile justice education programs in the state. 96 

These tools must accurately measure the core curricular content 97 

established in the Next Generation Sunshine State Standards. 98 

Participation in the assessment program is mandatory for all 99 

school districts and all students attending public schools, 100 

including adult students seeking a standard high school diploma 101 

under s. 1003.4282 and students in Department of Juvenile 102 

Justice education programs, except as otherwise provided by law. 103 

If a student does not participate in the assessment program, the 104 

school district must notify the student’s parent and provide the 105 

parent with information regarding the implications of such 106 

nonparticipation. The statewide, standardized assessment program 107 

shall be designed and implemented as follows: 108 

(a) Statewide, standardized comprehensive assessments.—The 109 

statewide, standardized Reading assessment shall be administered 110 

annually in grades 3 through 10. The statewide, standardized 111 

Writing assessment shall be administered annually at least once 112 

at the elementary, middle, and high school levels. When the 113 

Reading and Writing assessments are replaced by English Language 114 



Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 5 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

Arts (ELA) assessments, ELA assessments shall be administered to 115 

students in grades 3 through 10 11. Retake opportunities for the 116 

grade 10 Reading assessment or, upon implementation, the grade 117 

10 ELA assessment must be provided. Students taking the ELA 118 

assessments shall not take the statewide, standardized 119 

assessments in Reading or Writing. ELA assessments shall be 120 

administered online. The statewide, standardized Mathematics 121 

assessments shall be administered annually in grades 3 through 122 

8. Students taking a revised Mathematics assessment shall not 123 

take the discontinued assessment. The statewide, standardized 124 

Science assessment shall be administered annually at least once 125 

at the elementary and middle grades levels. In order to earn a 126 

standard high school diploma, a student who has not earned a 127 

passing score on the grade 10 Reading assessment or, upon 128 

implementation, the grade 10 ELA assessment must earn a passing 129 

score on the assessment retake or earn a concordant score as 130 

authorized under subsection (7). 131 

(6) LOCAL ASSESSMENTS.— 132 

(a) Measurement of student performance in all subjects and 133 

grade levels, except those subjects and grade levels measured 134 

under the statewide, standardized assessment program described 135 

in this section, is the responsibility of the school districts. 136 

However, a school district may not administer a local assessment 137 

for subjects and grade levels that are measured under the 138 

statewide, standardized end-of-course assessments. A school 139 

district must provide a student’s performance results on 140 

district-required local assessments to the student’s teachers 141 

and parents within 30 days after administering such assessments. 142 

(b) Except for those subjects and grade levels measured 143 

Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 6 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

under the statewide, standardized assessment program, beginning 144 

with the 2014-2015 school year, each school district shall 145 

administer for each course offered in the district a local 146 

assessment that measures student mastery of course content at 147 

the necessary level of rigor for the course. As adopted pursuant 148 

to State Board of Education rule, course content is set forth in 149 

the state standards required by s. 1003.41 and in the course 150 

description. Local assessments may include: 151 

1. Statewide assessments. 152 

2. Other standardized assessments, including nationally 153 

recognized standardized assessments. 154 

3. Industry certification assessments. 155 

4. District-developed or district-selected end-of-course 156 

assessments. 157 

5. Teacher-selected or principal-selected assessments. 158 

(c) Each district school board must adopt policies for 159 

selection, development, administration, and scoring of local 160 

assessments and for collection of assessment results. Local 161 

assessments implemented under subparagraphs (b)4. and 5. may 162 

include a variety of assessment formats, including, but not 163 

limited to, project-based assessments, adjudicated performances, 164 

and practical application assignments. For all English Language 165 

Arts, mathematics, science, and social studies courses offered 166 

in the district that are used to meet graduation requirements 167 

under s. 1002.3105, s. 1003.4281, or s. 1003.4282 and that are 168 

not otherwise assessed by statewide, standardized assessments, 169 

the district school board must select the assessments described 170 

in subparagraphs (b)1.-4. 171 

(d) The Commissioner of Education shall identify methods to 172 



Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 7 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

assist and support districts in the development and acquisition 173 

of local assessments required under this subsection. Methods may 174 

include developing item banks, facilitating the sharing of 175 

developed tests among school districts, acquiring assessments 176 

from state and national curriculum-area organizations, and 177 

providing technical assistance in best professional practices of 178 

test development based upon state-adopted curriculum standards, 179 

administration, and security. 180 

(c)(e) Each school district shall establish schedules for 181 

the administration of any district-required local district-182 

mandated assessment and approve the schedules as an agenda item 183 

at a district school board meeting. A school district may not 184 

schedule more than 5 percent of a student’s total school hours 185 

in a school year to administer statewide, standardized 186 

assessments and district-required local assessments. The 187 

district must secure written consent from a student’s parent 188 

before administering district-required local assessments that, 189 

after applicable statewide, standardized assessments are 190 

scheduled, exceed the 5 percent test administration limit for 191 

that student under this paragraph. The 5 percent test 192 

administration limit for a student under this paragraph may be 193 

exceeded as needed to provide test accommodations that are 194 

required by an IEP or are appropriate for an English language 195 

learner who is currently receiving services in a program 196 

operated in accordance with an approved English language learner 197 

district plan pursuant to s. 1003.56. Notwithstanding this 198 

paragraph, a student may choose within a school year to take an 199 

examination or assessment adopted by State Board of Education 200 

rule pursuant to this section and ss. 1007.27, 1008.30, and 201 

Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 8 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

1008.44. The school district shall adopt its publish the testing 202 

schedule for statewide, standardized assessments and district 203 

required local assessments schedules on its website, clearly 204 

specifying the estimates of average time for administering each 205 

assessment by grade level. The district must publish on its 206 

website district-mandated assessments, and report the schedules 207 

to the Department of Education, in a format prescribed by the 208 

department, by October 1 of each year. 209 

Section 3. Paragraph (b) of subsection (2), subsections (3) 210 

and (4), paragraphs (a) and (c) of subsection (5), and paragraph 211 

(a) of subsection (8) of section 1008.25, Florida Statutes, are 212 

amended to read: 213 

1008.25 Public school student progression; remedial 214 

instruction; reporting requirements.— 215 

(2) COMPREHENSIVE STUDENT PROGRESSION PLAN.—Each district 216 

school board shall establish a comprehensive plan for student 217 

progression which must: 218 

(b) Identify the Provide specific levels of performance in 219 

reading, writing, science, and mathematics for each grade level, 220 

including the levels of performance on the statewide, 221 

standardized assessments required by s. 1008.22 as defined by 222 

the commissioner, below which a student, pursuant to subsection 223 

(4), must receive remediation or be retained within an intensive 224 

program that is different from the previous year’s program and 225 

that takes into account the student’s learning style. 226 

(3) ALLOCATION OF RESOURCES.—District school boards shall 227 

allocate remedial and supplemental instruction resources to 228 

students in the following priority: 229 

(a) Students who are deficient in reading by the end of 230 



Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 9 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

grade 3. 231 

(b) Students who fail to meet performance levels required 232 

for promotion consistent with the district school board’s plan 233 

for student progression required in paragraph (2)(b). 234 

(4) ASSESSMENT AND REMEDIATION.— 235 

(a) Each student must participate in the statewide, 236 

standardized assessment program required by s. 1008.22. Each 237 

student who does not meet specific levels of performance on the 238 

required assessments as determined by the district school board 239 

or who scores below Level 3 on the statewide, standardized 240 

Reading assessment or, upon implementation, the English Language 241 

Arts assessment or on the statewide, standardized Mathematics 242 

assessments in grades 3 through 8 and the Algebra I EOC 243 

assessment must be provided with additional diagnostic 244 

assessments to determine the nature of the student’s difficulty, 245 

the areas of academic need, and strategies for appropriate 246 

intervention and instruction as described in paragraph (b). 247 

(b) The school in which the student is enrolled must 248 

develop, in consultation with the student’s parent, and must 249 

implement a progress monitoring plan. A progress monitoring plan 250 

is intended to provide the school district and the school 251 

flexibility in meeting the academic needs of the student and to 252 

reduce paperwork. A student who is not meeting the school 253 

district or state requirements for proficiency in reading and 254 

mathematics shall be covered by one of the following plans to 255 

target instruction and identify ways to improve his or her 256 

academic achievement: 257 

1. A federally required student plan such as an individual 258 

education plan; 259 

Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 10 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

2. A schoolwide system of progress monitoring for all 260 

students; or 261 

2.3. An individualized progress monitoring plan. 262 

 263 

The plan chosen must be designed to assist the student or the 264 

school in meeting state and district expectations for 265 

proficiency. If the student has been identified as having a 266 

deficiency in reading, the K-12 comprehensive reading plan 267 

required by s. 1011.62(9) shall include instructional and 268 

support services to be provided to meet the desired levels of 269 

performance. District school boards may require low-performing 270 

students to attend remediation programs held before or after 271 

regular school hours or during the summer if transportation is 272 

provided. 273 

(c) Upon subsequent evaluation, if the documented 274 

deficiency has not been remediated, the student may be retained. 275 

Each student who does not meet the minimum performance 276 

expectations identified in paragraph (2)(b) defined by the 277 

Commissioner of Education for the statewide assessment tests in 278 

reading, writing, science, and mathematics must continue to be 279 

provided with remedial or supplemental instruction until the 280 

expectations are met or the student graduates from high school 281 

or is not subject to compulsory school attendance. 282 

(5) READING DEFICIENCY AND PARENTAL NOTIFICATION.— 283 

(a) Any student who exhibits a substantial deficiency in 284 

reading, based upon locally determined or statewide assessments 285 

conducted in kindergarten or grade 1, grade 2, or grade 3, such 286 

as the statewide kindergarten screening administered under s. 287 

1002.69 and subsequent related reading readiness screening or 288 



Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 11 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

through teacher observations, must be given intensive reading 289 

instruction immediately following the identification of the 290 

reading deficiency. The student’s reading proficiency must be 291 

reassessed by locally determined assessments or through teacher 292 

observations at the beginning of the grade following the 293 

intensive reading instruction. The student must continue to be 294 

provided with intensive reading instruction until the reading 295 

deficiency is remedied. 296 

(c) The parent of any student who exhibits a substantial 297 

deficiency in reading, as described in paragraph (a), must be 298 

notified in writing of the following: 299 

1. That his or her child has been identified as having a 300 

substantial deficiency in reading. 301 

2. A description of the current services that are provided 302 

to the child. 303 

3. A description of the proposed supplemental instructional 304 

services and supports that will be provided to the child that 305 

are designed to remediate the identified area of reading 306 

deficiency. 307 

4. That if the child’s reading deficiency is not remediated 308 

by the end of grade 3, the child must be retained unless he or 309 

she is exempt from mandatory retention for good cause. 310 

5. Strategies for parents to use in helping their child 311 

succeed in reading proficiency. 312 

6. That the statewide, standardized assessment required 313 

under s. 1008.22 for grade 3 Florida Comprehensive Assessment 314 

Test (FCAT) is not the sole determiner of promotion and that 315 

additional evaluations, portfolio reviews, and assessments are 316 

available to the child to assist parents and the school district 317 

Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 12 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

in knowing when a child is reading at or above grade level and 318 

ready for grade promotion. 319 

7. The district’s specific criteria and policies for a 320 

portfolio as provided in subparagraph (6)(b)4. and the evidence 321 

required for a student to demonstrate mastery of Florida’s 322 

academic standards for English Language Arts. A parent of a 323 

student in grade 3 who is identified anytime during the year as 324 

being at risk of retention may request that the school 325 

immediately begin collecting evidence for a portfolio. 326 

8. The district’s specific criteria and policies for 327 

midyear promotion. Midyear promotion means promotion of a 328 

retained student at any time during the year of retention once 329 

the student has demonstrated ability to read at grade level. 330 

(8) ANNUAL REPORT.— 331 

(a) In addition to the requirements in paragraph (5)(b), 332 

each district school board must annually report to the parent of 333 

each student the progress of the student toward achieving state 334 

and district expectations for proficiency in reading, writing, 335 

science, and mathematics. The district school board must report 336 

to the parent the student’s results on each statewide assessment 337 

test. The evaluation of each student’s progress must be based 338 

upon the student’s classroom work, observations, tests, district 339 

and state assessments, and other relevant information. Progress 340 

reporting must be provided to the parent in writing in a format 341 

adopted by the district school board. 342 

Section 4. Subsections (1) and (3) of section 1008.30, 343 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 344 

1008.30 Common placement testing for public postsecondary 345 

education.— 346 



Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 13 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

(1) The State Board of Education, in conjunction with the 347 

Board of Governors, shall develop and implement a common 348 

placement test for the purpose of assessing the basic 349 

computation and communication skills of students who intend to 350 

enter a degree program at any public postsecondary educational 351 

institution. Alternative assessments, such as the SAT, ACT, and 352 

other assessments identified by rule, that may be accepted in 353 

lieu of the common placement test shall also be identified in 354 

rule. Public postsecondary educational institutions shall 355 

provide appropriate modifications of the test instruments or 356 

test procedures for students with disabilities. 357 

(3) The State Board of Education shall adopt rules that 358 

authorize require high schools, at the request of a parent, to 359 

evaluate before the beginning of grade 12 the college readiness 360 

of a each student who scores Level 2 or Level 3 on grade 10 FCAT 361 

Reading or the English Language Arts assessment under s. 362 

1008.22, as applicable, or Level 2, Level 3, or Level 4 on the 363 

Algebra I assessment under s. 1008.22. High schools may shall 364 

perform this evaluation using results from the corresponding 365 

component of the common placement test prescribed in this 366 

section, or an alternative test identified by the State Board of 367 

Education, such as the SAT, ACT, and other assessments 368 

identified by rule. The high school shall use the results of the 369 

test to advise the students of any identified deficiencies and 370 

to recommend provide 12th grade students , and require them to 371 

complete, appropriate postsecondary preparatory instruction 372 

before high school graduation as an option to 12th grade 373 

students. The curriculum provided under this subsection shall be 374 

identified in rule by the State Board of Education and encompass 375 

Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 14 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

Florida’s Postsecondary Readiness Competencies. Other elective 376 

courses may not be substituted for the selected postsecondary 377 

mathematics, reading, writing, or English Language Arts 378 

preparatory course unless the elective course covers the same 379 

competencies included in the postsecondary mathematics, reading, 380 

writing, or English Language Arts preparatory course. 381 

Section 5. Subsection (7) of section 1008.34, Florida 382 

Statutes, is amended to read: 383 

1008.34 School grading system; school report cards; 384 

district grade.— 385 

(7) TRANSITION.—School grades pursuant to this section and 386 

school improvement ratings pursuant to s. 1008.341 for the 2013-387 

2014 school year shall be calculated based on statutes and rules 388 

in effect on June 30, 2014. To assist in the transition to 2014-389 

2015 school grades and school improvement ratings, calculated 390 

based on new statewide, standardized assessments administered 391 

pursuant to s. 1008.22, the 2014-2015 school grades and school 392 

improvement ratings shall serve as an informational baseline for 393 

schools to work toward improved performance in future years. 394 

Accordingly, notwithstanding any other provision of law: 395 

(a) A school may not be required to select and implement a 396 

turnaround option pursuant to s. 1008.33 in the 2015-2016 school 397 

year based on the school’s 2014-2015 grade or school improvement 398 

rating under s. 1008.341, as applicable. 399 

(b)1. A school or approved provider under s. 1002.45 that 400 

receives the same or a lower school grade or school improvement 401 

rating for the 2014-2015 school year compared to the 2013-2014 402 

school year is not subject to sanctions or penalties that would 403 

otherwise occur as a result of the 2014-2015 school grade or 404 



Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 15 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

rating. A charter school system or a school district designated 405 

as high performing may not lose the designation based on the 406 

2014-2015 school grades of any of the schools within the charter 407 

school system or school district, as applicable. 408 

2. The Florida School Recognition Program established under 409 

s. 1008.36 shall continue to be implemented as otherwise 410 

provided in the General Appropriations Act. 411 

(c) For purposes of determining grade 3 retention pursuant 412 

to s. 1008.25(5) and high school graduation pursuant to s. 413 

1003.4282, student performance on the 2014-2015 statewide, 414 

standardized assessments shall be linked to 2013-2014 student 415 

performance expectations. 416 

 417 

This subsection is repealed July 1, 2017. 418 

Section 6. Paragraph (a) of subsection (3) and subsections 419 

(7) and (8) of section 1012.34, Florida Statutes, are amended to 420 

read: 421 

1012.34 Personnel evaluation procedures and criteria.— 422 

(3) EVALUATION PROCEDURES AND CRITERIA.—Instructional 423 

personnel and school administrator performance evaluations must 424 

be based upon the performance of students assigned to their 425 

classrooms or schools, as provided in this section. Pursuant to 426 

this section, a school district’s performance evaluation is not 427 

limited to basing unsatisfactory performance of instructional 428 

personnel and school administrators solely upon student 429 

performance, but may include other criteria approved to evaluate 430 

instructional personnel and school administrators’ performance, 431 

or any combination of student performance and other approved 432 

criteria. Evaluation procedures and criteria must comply with, 433 

Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 16 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

but are not limited to, the following: 434 

(a) A performance evaluation must be conducted for each 435 

employee at least once a year, except that a classroom teacher, 436 

as defined in s. 1012.01(2)(a), excluding substitute teachers, 437 

who is newly hired by the district school board must be observed 438 

and evaluated at least twice in the first year of teaching in 439 

the school district. The performance evaluation must be based 440 

upon sound educational principles and contemporary research in 441 

effective educational practices. The evaluation criteria must 442 

include: 443 

1. Performance of students.—At least 33 50 percent of a 444 

performance evaluation must be based upon data and indicators of 445 

student learning growth assessed annually by statewide 446 

assessments or, for subjects and grade levels not measured by 447 

statewide assessments, by school district assessments pursuant 448 

to subsection (7) as provided in s. 1008.22(6). Each school 449 

district must use the formula adopted pursuant to paragraph 450 

(7)(a) for measuring student learning growth in all courses 451 

associated with statewide assessments and must select an equally 452 

appropriate formula for measuring student learning growth for 453 

all other grades and subjects, except as otherwise provided in 454 

subsection (7). 455 

a. For classroom teachers, as defined in s. 1012.01(2)(a), 456 

excluding substitute teachers, the student learning growth 457 

portion of the evaluation must include growth data for students 458 

assigned to the teacher over the course of at least 3 years. If 459 

less than 3 years of data are available, the years for which 460 

data are available must be used and the percentage of the 461 

evaluation based upon student learning growth may be reduced to 462 



Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 17 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

not less than 30 40 percent. 463 

b. For instructional personnel who are not classroom 464 

teachers, the student learning growth portion of the evaluation 465 

must include growth data on statewide assessments for students 466 

assigned to the instructional personnel over the course of at 467 

least 3 years, or may include a combination of student learning 468 

growth data and other measurable student outcomes that are 469 

specific to the assigned position, provided that the student 470 

learning growth data accounts for not less than 30 percent of 471 

the evaluation. If less than 3 years of student growth data are 472 

available, the years for which data are available must be used 473 

and the percentage of the evaluation based upon student learning 474 

growth may be reduced to not less than 20 percent. 475 

c. For school administrators, the student learning growth 476 

portion of the evaluation must include growth data for students 477 

assigned to the school over the course of at least 3 years. If 478 

less than 3 years of data are available, the years for which 479 

data are available must be used and the percentage of the 480 

evaluation based upon student learning growth may be reduced to 481 

not less than 30 40 percent. 482 

2. Instructional practice.—At least 33 percent of a 483 

performance evaluation criteria used when annually observing 484 

classroom teachers, as defined in s. 1012.01(2)(a), excluding 485 

substitute teachers, must include indicators based upon each of 486 

the Florida Educator Accomplished Practices adopted by the State 487 

Board of Education. Multiple observations must be used by 488 

administrative personnel to evaluate the performance of each 489 

classroom teacher. For instructional personnel who are not 490 

classroom teachers, evaluation criteria must be based upon 491 

Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 18 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

indicators of the Florida Educator Accomplished Practices and 492 

may include specific job expectations related to student 493 

support. 494 

3. Instructional leadership.—At least 30 percent of a 495 

performance evaluation for school administrators, evaluation 496 

criteria must include indicators based upon each of the 497 

leadership standards adopted by the State Board of Education 498 

under s. 1012.986, including performance measures related to the 499 

effectiveness of classroom teachers in the school, the 500 

administrator’s appropriate use of evaluation criteria and 501 

procedures, recruitment and retention of effective and highly 502 

effective classroom teachers, improvement in the percentage of 503 

instructional personnel evaluated at the highly effective or 504 

effective level, and other leadership practices that result in 505 

student learning growth. The system may include a means to give 506 

parents and instructional personnel an opportunity to provide 507 

input into the administrator’s performance evaluation. 508 

4. Professional and job responsibilities.—For instructional 509 

personnel and school administrators, no more than 33 percent of 510 

a performance evaluation must include other professional and job 511 

responsibilities must be included as adopted by the State Board 512 

of Education. The district school board may identify additional 513 

professional and job responsibilities. Peer reviews may be used 514 

for this component. 515 

(7) MEASUREMENT OF STUDENT LEARNING GROWTH; STATE AND LOCAL 516 

ASSESSMENTS.— 517 

(a) The Commissioner of Education shall approve a formula 518 

to measure individual student learning growth on the statewide, 519 

standardized assessments in English Language Arts and 520 



Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 19 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

mathematics administered under s. 1008.22. The formula must take 521 

into consideration each student’s prior academic performance. 522 

The formula must not set different expectations for student 523 

learning growth based upon a student’s gender, race, ethnicity, 524 

or socioeconomic status. In the development of the formula, the 525 

commissioner shall consider other factors such as a student’s 526 

attendance record, disability status, or status as an English 527 

language learner. The commissioner shall select additional 528 

formulas as appropriate for the remainder of the statewide 529 

assessments included under s. 1008.22 and continue to select 530 

formulas as new assessments are implemented in the state system. 531 

After the commissioner approves the formula to measure 532 

individual student learning growth, the State Board of Education 533 

shall adopt these formulas in rule. 534 

(b) For courses associated with the statewide, standardized 535 

assessments under s. 1008.22, each school district shall measure 536 

student learning growth using the formulas approved by the 537 

commissioner under paragraph (a) for courses associated with the 538 

statewide, standardized assessments administered under s. 539 

1008.22 no later than the school year immediately following the 540 

year the formula is approved by the commissioner. 541 

(c) For grades and subjects not assessed by statewide, 542 

standardized assessments, but otherwise locally assessed 543 

pursuant to paragraph (d) as required under s. 1008.22(6), each 544 

school district shall measure performance of students using a 545 

methodology determined by the district. The department shall 546 

provide models for measuring performance of students which 547 

school districts may adopt. However, for a course that is not 548 

measured by a statewide, standardized assessment: 549 

Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 20 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

1.(c) For a course that is not measured by a statewide, 550 

standardized assessment, A school district may request, through 551 

the evaluation system approval process, to use a student’s 552 

achievement level rather than student learning growth if 553 

achievement is demonstrated to be a more appropriate measure of 554 

classroom teacher performance. A school district may also 555 

request to use a combination of student learning growth and 556 

achievement, if appropriate. 557 

2.(d) For a course that is not measured by a statewide, 558 

standardized assessment, A school district may request, through 559 

the evaluation system approval process, that the performance 560 

evaluation for the classroom teacher assigned to that course 561 

include the learning growth of his or her students on one or 562 

more statewide, standardized assessments. The request must 563 

clearly explain the rationale supporting the request. 564 

3.(e) For purposes of this section and only for the 2014-565 

2015 school year, a school district may use measurable learning 566 

targets on local assessments administered under paragraph (d) 567 

and s. 1008.22(6) to evaluate the performance of students 568 

portion of a classroom teacher’s evaluation for courses that are 569 

not assessed by statewide, standardized assessments. Learning 570 

targets must be approved by the school principal. A district 571 

school superintendent may assign to instructional personnel in 572 

an instructional team the student learning growth of the 573 

instructional team’s students on statewide assessments. This 574 

subparagraph paragraph expires July 1, 2015. 575 

(d)1. Pursuant to s. 1008.22(6), school districts are 576 

responsible for the measurement of student performance in all 577 

subjects and grade levels, except those subjects and grade 578 



Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 21 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

levels measured under the statewide, standardized assessment 579 

program. For subjects and grade levels not measured under the 580 

statewide, standardized program, each school district is 581 

responsible for administering local assessments that measure 582 

student mastery of course content at the necessary level of 583 

rigor. A school district may not administer a local assessment 584 

for subjects and grade levels that are measured under the 585 

statewide, standardized end-of-course assessments. As adopted 586 

pursuant to State Board of Education rule, course content is set 587 

forth in the state standards required by s. 1003.41 and in the 588 

course description. Local assessments may include: 589 

a. Statewide assessments. 590 

b. Other standardized assessments, including nationally 591 

recognized standardized assessments. 592 

c. Industry certification assessments. 593 

d. District-developed or district-selected assessments. 594 

e. Teacher-selected or principal-selected assessments. 595 

2. Each district school board must adopt policies for 596 

selection, development, administration, and scoring of district-597 

required local assessments and for collection of assessment 598 

results. The school district must provide a student’s 599 

performance results on local assessments to the student’s 600 

teachers and parents within 30 days after administering such 601 

assessments. Local assessments may include a variety of 602 

assessment formats, including, but not limited to, project-based 603 

assessments, adjudicated performances, and practical application 604 

assignments. For all English Language Arts, mathematics, 605 

science, and social studies courses offered in the district 606 

which are used to meet graduation requirements under s. 607 

Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 22 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

1002.3105, s. 1003.4281, or s. 1003.4282 and which are not 608 

otherwise assessed by statewide, standardized assessments, the 609 

district school board must select the assessments described in 610 

sub-subparagraphs (d)1.a.-d. For an instructional personnel 611 

employee or school administrator to be eligible for salary 612 

adjustment under the performance salary schedule, pursuant to s. 613 

1012.22, the student performance component of his or her 614 

performance evaluation must be based on an assessment described 615 

in sub-subparagraphs (d)1.a.-d. using a methodology determined 616 

by the school district pursuant to paragraph (c). 617 

(8) RULEMAKING.—No later than August 1, 2015, the State 618 

Board of Education shall adopt rules pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) 619 

and 120.54 which establish uniform procedures for the 620 

submission, review, and approval of district evaluation systems 621 

and reporting requirements for the annual evaluation of 622 

instructional personnel and school administrators; specific, 623 

discrete standards for each performance level required under 624 

subsection (2) to ensure clear and sufficient differentiation in 625 

the performance levels and to provide consistency in meaning 626 

across school districts; the measurement of student learning 627 

growth and associated implementation procedures required under 628 

subsection (7); and a process for monitoring school district 629 

implementation of evaluation systems in accordance with this 630 

section. Specifically, the rules shall establish student 631 

performance levels that if not met will result in the employee 632 

receiving an unsatisfactory performance evaluation rating. In 633 

like manner, the rules shall establish a student performance 634 

level that must be met in order for an employee to receive a 635 

highly effective rating and a student learning growth standard 636 



Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 23 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

that must be met in order for an employee to receive an 637 

effective rating. 638 

Section 7. Section 1012.3401, Florida Statutes, is amended 639 

to read: 640 

1012.3401 Requirements for measuring student performance in 641 

instructional personnel and school administrator performance 642 

evaluations; performance evaluation of personnel for purposes of 643 

performance salary schedule.—Notwithstanding any provision to 644 

the contrary in ss. 1012.22 and 1012.34 regarding the 645 

performance salary schedule and personnel evaluation procedures 646 

and criteria: 647 

(1) At least 33 50 percent of a classroom teacher’s or 648 

school administrator’s performance evaluation, or 40 percent if 649 

less than 3 years of student performance data are available, 650 

shall be based upon learning growth or achievement of the 651 

teacher’s students or, for a school administrator, the students 652 

attending that school; the remaining portion shall be based upon 653 

factors identified in district-determined, state-approved 654 

evaluation system plans. Student achievement measures for 655 

courses associated with statewide assessments may be used only 656 

if a statewide growth formula has not been approved for that 657 

assessment or, for courses associated with school district 658 

assessments, if achievement is demonstrated to be a more 659 

appropriate measure of teacher performance. 660 

(2) The student performance data used in the performance 661 

evaluation of nonclassroom instructional personnel shall be 662 

based on student outcome data that reflects the actual 663 

contribution of such personnel to the performance of the 664 

students assigned to the individual in the individual’s areas of 665 

Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 24 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

responsibility. 666 

(3) For purposes of the performance salary schedule in s. 667 

1012.22, the student assessment data in the performance 668 

evaluation must be from statewide assessments or local district-669 

determined assessments pursuant to ss. 1008.22(6) and 1012.34(7) 670 

as required in s. 1008.22(6) in the subject areas taught. 671 

Section 8. School district contingency plan.—672 

Notwithstanding s. 1008.34(7), Florida Statutes, a school 673 

district may, by majority vote of the district school board, 674 

request approval from the State Board of Education to waive all 675 

requirements and benefits outlined in ss. 1008.34(7), 1008.36, 676 

and 1003.621, Florida Statutes, and instead use results from 677 

student performance on the new statewide, standardized 678 

assessments administered in the 2014-2015 school year pursuant 679 

to s. 1008.22, Florida Statutes, for diagnostic and baseline 680 

purposes only. 681 

(1) A school district’s request must be submitted to the 682 

Commissioner of Education by the school district superintendent, 683 

during the period from the last day of administration of 684 

statewide, standardized assessments through June 5, 2015, in 685 

accordance with the guidelines established by the commissioner. 686 

At a minimum, the request, must include identification of: 687 

(a) The scope of the request, to apply either to the school 688 

district or to a school or certain schools within the school 689 

district. The request must be made at a district or school 690 

level. The request may not be made at a grade level, a subject-691 

area level, or another level. 692 

(b) The reason for the request, including a description of 693 

the systemic or unique technical implementation failure. 694 



Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 25 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

Quantifiable data substantiating the reason for such failure 695 

must accompany the request. A school district’s inability to 696 

assess the minimum percentage of students pursuant to ss. 697 

1008.34 and 1008.341, Florida Statutes, does not constitute a 698 

reasonable justification for requesting the waiver under this 699 

section. 700 

(c) The school district’s corrective action plan, which has 701 

been adopted by the district school board, and certification 702 

that the identified technical implementation failure must be 703 

resolved in time for successful administration of the statewide, 704 

standardized assessments during the 2015-2016 school year and 705 

each school year thereafter. The district must identify how the 706 

district plans to allocate resources and technical assistance 707 

that the district needs from the Department of Education to 708 

facilitate the district’s successful resolution of technical 709 

deficiencies. 710 

(d) The school district’s plan for using the diagnostic 711 

data to facilitate continuous improvement in student performance 712 

and the effectiveness of schools, instructional personnel, and 713 

school administrators; public reporting on the performance of 714 

students, schools, and the district; and informing parents about 715 

instruction associated with remediation and retention and 716 

options available to students including acceleration, 717 

graduation, and school choice. The district must also describe 718 

its plans for implementing student progression plans, 719 

performance evaluations of instructional personnel and school 720 

administrators, performance salary schedule requirements, and 721 

other uses as identified by the commissioner. 722 

(2) The commissioner shall review each request for a waiver 723 

Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 26 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

and consult with the applicable school district superintendent. 724 

The commissioner shall make, and provide reasons for, 725 

recommendations to the State Board of Education regarding 726 

granting or denying a request for waiver. The state board may 727 

consider recommendations made by the commissioner to approve or 728 

deny school district requests. Notwithstanding any other 729 

provision of law, the commissioner’s recommendation to approve a 730 

request may, after consultation with the school district 731 

superintendent, include conditional requirements that must apply 732 

if approved by the state board. The decision of the state board, 733 

including any modifications adopted by the state board, is 734 

final. 735 

(3) For only the 2014-2015 school year, if a waiver is 736 

granted under this section: 737 

(a) A school or a school district may not receive a school 738 

grade, school improvement rating, or school district grade, as 739 

applicable. 740 

(b) A school may, at the school district’s discretion, 741 

choose to use new statewide, standardized assessment results in 742 

performance evaluations of instructional personnel and school 743 

administrators. 744 

(c) A school district shall continue to have its student 745 

performance results included in the statewide, standardized 746 

assessment results published by the department pursuant to s. 747 

1008.22, Florida Statutes. 748 

(d) A school shall forfeit eligibility to earn school 749 

recognition funds pursuant to s. 1008.36, Florida Statutes, as 750 

provided in the General Appropriations Act. 751 

(e) A school district shall forfeit the district’s 752 



Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 27 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

eligibility to earn the designation and benefits associated with 753 

high performing school districts pursuant to s. 1003.621, 754 

Florida Statutes. 755 

 756 

This section expires July 1, 2016. 757 

Section 9. Paragraph (a) of subsection (5) of section 758 

1003.4282, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 759 

1003.4282 Requirements for a standard high school diploma.— 760 

(5) REMEDIATION FOR HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS.— 761 

(a) Each year a student scores Level 1 or Level 2 on the 762 

statewide, standardized grade 9 or grade 10 Reading assessment 763 

or, when implemented, the grade 9 or, grade 10, or grade 11 ELA 764 

assessment, the student may, as an option to the student, enroll 765 

must be enrolled in and complete an intensive remedial course 766 

the following year or be placed in a content area course that 767 

includes remediation of skills not acquired by the student. 768 

Section 10. Paragraph (a) of subsection (1) of section 769 

1003.4285, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 770 

1003.4285 Standard high school diploma designations.— 771 

(1) Each standard high school diploma shall include, as 772 

applicable, the following designations if the student meets the 773 

criteria set forth for the designation: 774 

(a) Scholar designation.—In addition to the requirements of 775 

s. 1003.4282, in order to earn the Scholar designation, a 776 

student must satisfy the following requirements: 777 

1. English Language Arts (ELA).—Beginning with students 778 

entering grade 9 in the 2014-2015 school year, pass the 779 

statewide, standardized grade 11 ELA assessment. 780 

2. Mathematics.—Earn one credit in Algebra II and one 781 

Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 28 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

credit in statistics or an equally rigorous course. Beginning 782 

with students entering grade 9 in the 2014-2015 school year, 783 

pass the Algebra II and Geometry statewide, standardized 784 

assessments. 785 

2.3. Science.—Pass the statewide, standardized Biology I 786 

EOC assessment and earn one credit in chemistry or physics and 787 

one credit in a course equally rigorous to chemistry or physics. 788 

However, a student enrolled in an Advanced Placement (AP), 789 

International Baccalaureate (IB), or Advanced International 790 

Certificate of Education (AICE) Biology course who takes the 791 

respective AP, IB, or AICE Biology assessment and earns the 792 

minimum score necessary to earn college credit as identified 793 

pursuant to s. 1007.27(2) meets the requirement of this 794 

subparagraph without having to take the statewide, standardized 795 

Biology I EOC assessment. 796 

3.4. Social studies.—Pass the statewide, standardized 797 

United States History EOC assessment. However, a student 798 

enrolled in an AP, IB, or AICE course that includes United 799 

States History topics who takes the respective AP, IB, or AICE 800 

assessment and earns the minimum score necessary to earn college 801 

credit as identified pursuant to s. 1007.27(2) meets the 802 

requirement of this subparagraph without having to take the 803 

statewide, standardized United States History EOC assessment. 804 

4.5. Foreign language.—Earn two credits in the same foreign 805 

language. 806 

5.6. Electives.—Earn at least one credit in an Advanced 807 

Placement, an International Baccalaureate, an Advanced 808 

International Certificate of Education, or a dual enrollment 809 

course. 810 



Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 29 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

Section 11. Paragraph (c) of subsection (1) of section 811 

1012.22, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 812 

1012.22 Public school personnel; powers and duties of the 813 

district school board.—The district school board shall: 814 

(1) Designate positions to be filled, prescribe 815 

qualifications for those positions, and provide for the 816 

appointment, compensation, promotion, suspension, and dismissal 817 

of employees as follows, subject to the requirements of this 818 

chapter: 819 

(c) Compensation and salary schedules.— 820 

1. Definitions.—As used in this paragraph, the term: 821 

a. “Adjustment” means an addition to the base salary 822 

schedule that is not a bonus and becomes part of the employee’s 823 

permanent base salary and shall be considered compensation under 824 

s. 121.021(22). 825 

b. “Grandfathered salary schedule” means the salary 826 

schedule or schedules adopted by a district school board before 827 

July 1, 2014, pursuant to subparagraph 4. 828 

c. “Instructional personnel” means instructional personnel 829 

as defined in s. 1012.01(2)(a)-(d), excluding substitute 830 

teachers. 831 

d. “Performance salary schedule” means the salary schedule 832 

or schedules adopted by a district school board pursuant to 833 

subparagraph 5. 834 

e. “Salary schedule” means the schedule or schedules used 835 

to provide the base salary for district school board personnel. 836 

f. “School administrator” means a school administrator as 837 

defined in s. 1012.01(3)(c). 838 

g. “Supplement” means an annual addition to the base salary 839 

Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 30 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

for the term of the negotiated supplement as long as the 840 

employee continues his or her employment for the purpose of the 841 

supplement. A supplement does not become part of the employee’s 842 

continuing base salary but shall be considered compensation 843 

under s. 121.021(22). 844 

2. Cost-of-living adjustment.—A district school board may 845 

provide a cost-of-living salary adjustment if the adjustment: 846 

a. Does not discriminate among comparable classes of 847 

employees based upon the salary schedule under which they are 848 

compensated. 849 

b. Does not exceed 50 percent of the annual adjustment 850 

provided to instructional personnel rated as effective. 851 

3. Advanced degrees.—A district school board may not use 852 

advanced degrees in setting a salary schedule for instructional 853 

personnel or school administrators hired on or after July 1, 854 

2011, unless the advanced degree is held in the individual’s 855 

area of certification and is only a salary supplement. 856 

4. Grandfathered salary schedule.— 857 

a. The district school board shall adopt a salary schedule 858 

or salary schedules to be used as the basis for paying all 859 

school employees hired before July 1, 2014. Instructional 860 

personnel on annual contract as of July 1, 2014, shall be placed 861 

on the performance salary schedule adopted under subparagraph 5. 862 

Instructional personnel on continuing contract or professional 863 

service contract may opt into the performance salary schedule if 864 

the employee relinquishes such contract and agrees to be 865 

employed on an annual contract under s. 1012.335. Such an 866 

employee shall be placed on the performance salary schedule and 867 

may not return to continuing contract or professional service 868 



Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 31 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

contract status. Any employee who opts into the performance 869 

salary schedule may not return to the grandfathered salary 870 

schedule. 871 

b. In determining the grandfathered salary schedule for 872 

instructional personnel, a district school board must base a 873 

portion of each employee’s compensation upon performance 874 

demonstrated under s. 1012.34 and shall provide differentiated 875 

pay for both instructional personnel and school administrators 876 

based upon district-determined factors, including, but not 877 

limited to, additional responsibilities, school demographics, 878 

critical shortage areas, and level of job performance 879 

difficulties. 880 

5. Performance salary schedule.—By July 1, 2014, the 881 

district school board shall adopt a performance salary schedule 882 

that provides annual salary adjustments for instructional 883 

personnel and school administrators based upon performance 884 

determined under s. 1012.34. Employees hired on or after July 1, 885 

2014, or employees who choose to move from the grandfathered 886 

salary schedule to the performance salary schedule shall be 887 

compensated pursuant to the performance salary schedule once 888 

they have received the appropriate performance evaluation for 889 

this purpose. However, a classroom teacher whose performance 890 

evaluation uses utilizes student learning growth measures 891 

established under s. 1012.34(7)(c)3. s. 1012.34(7)(e) shall 892 

remain under the grandfathered salary schedule until his or her 893 

teaching assignment changes to a subject for which there is a 894 

statewide, standardized assessment or district-required local an 895 

assessment or the school district establishes equally 896 

appropriate measures of student learning growth as defined under 897 

Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 32 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

s. 1012.34 and rules of the State Board of Education. 898 

a. Base salary.—The base salary shall be established as 899 

follows: 900 

(I) The base salary for instructional personnel or school 901 

administrators who opt into the performance salary schedule 902 

shall be the salary paid in the prior year, including 903 

adjustments only. 904 

(II) Beginning July 1, 2014, instructional personnel or 905 

school administrators new to the district, returning to the 906 

district after a break in service without an authorized leave of 907 

absence, or appointed for the first time to a position in the 908 

district in the capacity of instructional personnel or school 909 

administrator shall be placed on the performance salary 910 

schedule. 911 

b. Salary adjustments.—Salary adjustments for highly 912 

effective or effective performance shall be established as 913 

follows: 914 

(I) The annual salary adjustment under the performance 915 

salary schedule for an employee rated as highly effective must 916 

be greater than the highest annual salary adjustment available 917 

to an employee of the same classification through any other 918 

salary schedule adopted by the district. 919 

(II) The annual salary adjustment under the performance 920 

salary schedule for an employee rated as effective must be equal 921 

to at least 50 percent and no more than 75 percent of the annual 922 

adjustment provided for a highly effective employee of the same 923 

classification. 924 

(III) The performance salary schedule shall not provide an 925 

annual salary adjustment for an employee who receives a rating 926 



Florida Senate - 2015 PROPOSED COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE 

Bill No. SB 616 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì610298BÎ610298  

 

581-01768B-15  

Page 33 of 33 

3/2/2015 3:19:07 PM  

other than highly effective or effective for the year. 927 

c. Salary supplements.—In addition to the salary 928 

adjustments, each district school board shall provide for salary 929 

supplements for activities that must include, but are not 930 

limited to: 931 

(I) Assignment to a Title I eligible school. 932 

(II) Assignment to a school that earned a grade of “F” or 933 

three consecutive grades of “D” pursuant to s. 1008.34 such that 934 

the supplement remains in force for at least 1 year following 935 

improved performance in that school. 936 

(III) Certification and teaching in critical teacher 937 

shortage areas. Statewide critical teacher shortage areas shall 938 

be identified by the State Board of Education under s. 1012.07. 939 

However, the district school board may identify other areas of 940 

critical shortage within the school district for purposes of 941 

this sub-sub-subparagraph and may remove areas identified by the 942 

state board which do not apply within the school district. 943 

(IV) Assignment of additional academic responsibilities. 944 

 945 

If budget constraints in any given year limit a district school 946 

board’s ability to fully fund all adopted salary schedules, the 947 

performance salary schedule may shall not be reduced on the 948 

basis of total cost or the value of individual awards in a 949 

manner that is proportionally greater than reductions to any 950 

other salary schedules adopted by the district. 951 

Section 12. This act shall take effect upon becoming a law. 952 



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Education Pre-K - 12  

 

BILL:  SB 616 

INTRODUCER:  Senator Legg 

SUBJECT:  Education Accountability 

DATE:  March 3, 2015 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Hand  Klebacha  ED  Pre-meeting 

2.     AED   

3.     AP   

 

I. Summary: 

SB 616 impacts statutory accountability provisions related to the state’s public school student 

assessment program, the educator performance evaluation system, and the statewide public 

school accountability system. 

 

Specifically, the bill maintains the statutorily provided 2014-2015 school year transition to the 

Florida Standards Assessments, including the suspension of negative consequences associated 

with school grades and school improvement ratings, and makes the following adjustments to 

student assessment, performance evaluation requirements, and school accountability: 

 Eliminates the state requirement that a school district administer a local assessment 

including, but not limited to, a local end-of-course assessment for each course that is not 

assessed by a statewide, standardized assessment. The bill retains the ability for teachers and 

school administrators to receive performance pay adjustments if they choose to have the 

student performance component of their performance evaluation based on a statewide or 

other standardized assessment, industry certification assessment, or a district-developed or 

selected assessment. 

 Lowers the student performance component of teacher performance evaluations to at least 

40%, requires the instructional practice component to constitute at least 30%, and the 

professional and job responsibilities component constitute no more than 30% of a teacher’s 

total performance evaluation. 

 Limits the amount of time to no more than 5% of total school hours for administering state-

required and locally-required tests. The bill requires school districts to secure written consent 

from a student’s parent to administer district-required local assessments that exceed the 5% 

testing limit. However, notwithstanding the 5% testing limit, the bill authorizes students to 

take certain assessments, for use as end-of-course assessments or to demonstrate college 

readiness, which are in addition to the state-required and locally-required tests. 

 For schools and school districts that experience assessment implementation issues during the 

2014-2015 school year, establishes a one-time option for superintendents, with a 

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 616   Page 2 

 

supermajority vote of the district school board, to seek approval from the State Board of 

Education to use the 2014-2015 school year test results for diagnostic and baseline purposes 

only. If approved, the school district forfeits designation as an academically-high performing 

school district, if applicable, and the school forfeits school recognition funding 

 

The bill takes effect upon becoming law. 

II. Present Situation: 

The education of children is a fundamental value of the people of the State of Florida.1 It is, 

therefore, a paramount duty of the state to make adequate provision for the education of all 

children residing within its borders.2 The Legislature, through the Florida K-20 Education Code, 

provides by law, a state system for all Florida’s students to obtain a high quality education.3 

 

The statutory mission of Florida’s K-20 education system is to increase the proficiency of all 

students within one seamless, efficient system, by allowing them the opportunity to expand their 

knowledge and skills through learning opportunities and research valued by students, parents, 

and communities.4 The effectiveness of this education delivery system is assessed through the 

state’s performance accountability system.5 

 

The state’s performance accountability system assesses the effectiveness of Florida’s seamless 

K-20 education delivery system and is specifically intended to provide answers to the following 

questions in relation to its mission and goals:6 

 What is the public receiving in return for funds it invests in education? 

 How effectively is Florida’s K-20 education system educating its students? 

 How effectively are the major delivery sectors promoting student achievement? 

 How are individual schools and postsecondary education institutions performing their 

responsibility to educate their students as measured by how students are performing and how 

much they are learning? 

 

Public School Student Assessment Program 

Florida’s assessment program consists primarily of statewide, standardized assessments that are 

selected and administered by the state, and local assessments that are selected and administered 

by the school districts to measure students’ attainment of education expectations.7 

 

                                                 
1 Article IX, s. 1, Fla. Const. 
2 Id. 
3 Section 1000.01, F.S. 
4 Section 1008.31(2)(a), F.S. 
5 Section 1008.31(1)(a), F.S. 
6 Section 1008.31(1)(a), F.S. This performance accountability system is required to comply with the “No Child Left Behind 

Act of 2001,” Pub. L. No. 107-110, and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA). Section 1008.31(1)(c), F.S. 

The Department of Education (DOE) is responsible for maintaining an accountability system that measures student progress 

toward the following goals. Section 1008.31(2)(c), F.S. 
7 Section 1008.22, F.S. 



BILL: SB 616   Page 3 

 

Statewide, Standardized Assessments 

The purpose of Florida’s student assessment program is to improve instruction; provide student 

academic achievement and learning gains data to students, parents, teachers, school 

administrators, and school district staff; and assess the cost benefit of the expenditure of taxpayer 

dollars.8 Specifically, the program is designed to:9 

 Assess the achievement level and annual learning gains of each student in English Language 

Arts and mathematics and the achievement level in all other subjects assessed. 

 Provide data for making decisions regarding school accountability, recognition, and 

improvement of operations and management, including schools operating for the purpose of 

providing educational services to youth in Department of Juvenile Justice programs. 

 Identify the educational strengths and needs of students and the readiness of students to be 

promoted to the next grade level or to graduate from high school. 

 Assess how well educational goals and curricular standards are met at the school, district, 

state, national, and international levels. 

 Provide information to aid in the evaluation and development of educational programs and 

policies. 

 

The commissioner is required to design and implement a statewide, standardized assessment 

program that is aligned to the core curricular content established in the Next Generation 

Sunshine State Standards and the Florida Standards.10 Participation in the assessment program is 

mandatory for all school districts and all students attending public schools, including adult 

students seeking a standard high school diploma and students in Department of Juvenile Justice 

education programs, except as otherwise provided by law.11  

 

The statewide, standardized assessment program consists of: 

 Statewide, standardized comprehensive assessments:12 

o English Language Arts (grades 3 through 11);13 

o Mathematics (grades 3-8); and 

o Science (once at the elementary grade level and once at the middle grade level).14 

 End-of-Course (EOC) assessments:15 

                                                 
8 Section 1008.22(1), F.S. 
9 Section 1008.22(1)(a)-(e), F.S. 
10 Section 1008.22(3), F.S. 
11 Id.  
12 Section 1008.22(3)(a), F.S. The Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965 (ESEA) requires states to implement “a 

set of high-quality, yearly academic assessments that includes, at a minimum, assessments in mathematics, reading or 

language arts, and science. With respect to reading/language arts and mathematics, the assessments must be administered in 

each of grades 3 through 8 and not less than once in grades 10 through 12. With respect to science, the assessments must be 

administered not less than once during grades 3 through 5, grades 6 through 9, and grades 10 through 12.” U.S. Department 

of Education, Letter to Colorado Commissioner of Education, Robert K. Hammond (Oct. 3, 2014) on file with the Committee 

on Education Pre-K-12 staff; see also 20 U.S.C. s. 6311(b)(3). 
13 Pursuant to standard high school diploma requirements, a student must pass the grade 10 English Language Arts (ELA) 

assessment or earn a concordant score. Sections 1003.4282(3)(a) and 1008.22(7), F.S. For scholar designation on a standard 

high school diploma, a student must pass the grade 11 ELA assessment. Section 1003.4285(1)(a)1., F.S. 
14 Rule 6A-1.09422(3)(b), F.A.C., requires all eligible students in grades five and eight to take the FCAT 2.0 Science. 
15 Section 1008.22(3)(b), F.S. Pursuant to standard high school diploma requirements, a student must pass the Algebra I 

EOC. Id. For scholar designation on a standard high school diploma, a student must pass Algebra II EOC, Geometry EOC, 

Biology I EOC, and U.S. History EOC assessments. Section 1003.4285(1)(a)2.-4., F.S. 



BILL: SB 616   Page 4 

 

o Civics (once at middle grade level); 

o U.S. History EOC; 

o Algebra I EOC; 

o Algebra II EOC; 

o Geometry EOC; and 

o Biology I EOC. 

 Florida Alternate Assessment (assessment for students with disabilities in the core content 

knowledge and skills necessary for successful grade-to-grade progression and high school 

graduation).16 

  

Local Assessments 

School districts are responsible for measuring student performance in all subjects and grade 

levels, except those subjects and grade levels measured under the statewide, standardized 

assessment program.17  Except for those subjects and grade levels measured under the statewide, 

standardized assessment program, beginning with the 2014-2015 school year, each school 

district must administer for each course offered in the district a local assessment that measures 

student mastery of course content at the necessary level of rigor for the course.18  Each district 

school board must adopt policies for selecting, developing, administering, and scoring local 

assessments and for collecting assessment results.19 For subjects and grade levels not measured 

by statewide, standardized assessments, a school district must administer local assessments but is 

authorized to choose the assessment to be administered from the following options:20 

 Statewide assessments. 

 Other standardized assessments, including nationally recognized standardized assessments. 

 Industry certification assessments. 

 District-developed or district-selected end-of-course assessments. 

 Teacher-selected or principal-selected assessments. 

 

To administer the state assessment program for statewide, standardized assessments and local 

assessments, the commissioner must: 

 Develop or obtain statewide, standardized assessments, as appropriate, through contracts and 

project agreements with private vendors, public vendors, public agencies, postsecondary 

educational institutions, or school districts.21  

 Recommend, for approval by the State Board of Education (SBE), passing scores on 

statewide, standardized assessments in the form of achievement levels ranging from 1 

through 5, with level 1 being the lowest achievement level, level 5 being the highest 

achievement level, and level 3 indicating satisfactory performance on an assessment. 22  

                                                 
16 Section 1008.22(3)(c)1., F.S. A child with medical complexity may be exempt from participating in statewide, 

standardized assessments, including the Florida Alternate Assessment. Section 1008.22(9), F.S. 
17 Section 1008.22(6)(a), F.S. 
18 Section 1008.22(6)(b), F.S. 
19 Id. 
20 Section 1008.22(6)(b), F.S.; Local assessments may include a variety of assessment formats, including, but not limited to, 

project-based assessments, adjudicated performances, and practical application assignments. Section 1008.22(6)(c), F.S. 
21 Section 1008.22(3)(h), F.S. 
22 Section 1008.22(3)(e), F.S. 



BILL: SB 616   Page 5 

 

 Establish implementation schedules for the administration of statewide, standardized 

assessments and the reporting of student assessment results.23  

 Provide, at a minimum, statewide, standardized assessment data analysis showing student 

achievement levels and learning gains by teacher, school, and school district.24 

 Identify methods to assist and support districts in the development and acquisition of 

assessments which may include developing item banks, facilitating the sharing of developed 

tests among school districts, acquiring assessments from state and national curriculum-area 

organizations, and providing technical assistance in best professional practices of test 

development based upon state-adopted curriculum standards, administration, and security.25 

 Identify, for approval by the SBE, one or more comparative scores for the Algebra I EOC 

assessment.26 

 Identify, for approval by the SBE, scores on the SAT and ACT that, if achieved, satisfy the 

graduation requirement that a student pass the grade 10 statewide, standardized English 

Language Arts assessment. The commissioner may identify concordant scores on 

assessments other than the SAT and ACT.27 

 

Educator Performance Evaluations 

All instructional personnel28 and school administrators employed by Florida’s public school 

districts must undergo an annual performance evaluation based on sound educational principles 

and contemporary research in effective educational practices.29 The evaluation criteria for 

instructional personnel include student performance, instructional practice, and professional and 

job responsibilities.30 Likewise, the evaluation criteria for school administrators include student 

performance and professional and job responsibilities.31 Instructional leadership practices are 

also included in school administrator evaluations.32  

 

Each district superintendent must establish procedures for evaluating the performance of all 

instructional, administrative, and supervisory personnel employed by the school district.33  The 

superintendents must also annually report evaluation results for instructional personnel and 

school administrators to the DOE.34 The DOE approves all district evaluation systems and 

monitors implementation for compliance with law.35 

                                                 
23 Section 1008.22(3)(d), F.S. 
24 Section 1008.22(5), F.S. 
25 Section 1008.22(6)(d), F.S. 
26 Section 1008.22(8), F.S. 
27 Section 1008.22(7), F.S. 
28 Instructional personnel include classroom teachers and other instructional personnel, such as certified school counselors, 

librarians, and learning resource specialists. Section 1012.01(2), F.S. Although substitute teachers are classified as classroom 

teachers, the law specifically excludes them from performance evaluation requirements. Section 1012.34(3)(a), F.S.   
29 Section 1012.34(3)(a), F.S. Newly hired classroom teachers are evaluated twice in their first year of teaching in a school 

district. Id.  
30 Section 1012.34(3)(a)1., 2., and 4., F.S. School administrator evaluation criteria include instructional leadership. Section 

1012.34(3)(a)3., F.S.   
31 Section 1012.34(3)(a)1. and 4., F.S. 
32 Section 1012.34(3)(a)3., F.S. 
33 Section 1012.34,(1)(a), F.S.   
34 Section 1012.34(1)(a), F.S.   
35 Section 1012.34(1)(b), F.S.  By December 1 of each year, the commissioner must report to the Governor, President of the 

Senate, and Speaker of the House of Representatives the approval and implementation status of each school district’s 



BILL: SB 616   Page 6 

 

 

Public school personnel evaluations must be used to designate instructional personnel and school 

administrators as “highly effective,” “effective,” “needs improvement” (or, for instructional 

personnel in the first three years of employment who need improvement, “developing”), or 

“unsatisfactory.”36 Evaluations occur annually, except classroom teachers newly hired by a 

district are evaluated at least twice during their first year of teaching in the school district.37  

 

Performance evaluations are comprised of components of student performance, instructional 

practice, institutional leadership, and professional and job responsibilities.  

 

Student Performance  

Student performance includes data and indicators of student learning growth38 based on student 

performance on annual statewide assessments or, for subjects and grade levels not tested by 

statewide assessments, school district assessments.39 Student performance must constitute at least 

50 percent of a classroom teacher’s or school administrator’s evaluation.40 

 

For classroom teachers, excluding substitute teachers, student performance must include student 

learning growth data for students assigned to the teacher over the course of at least 3 years.41 If 

less than 3 years of data are available, then student learning growth may comprise not less than 

40 percent of the evaluation.42  

 

For other instructional personnel who are not classroom teachers, student performance must 

include student learning growth data on statewide assessments for students assigned to the 

instructional personnel over the course of at least 3 years43 and must comprise at least 30 percent 

of the evaluation or, if less than 3 years of data are available, then not less than 20 percent.44  

 

For school administrators, student performance must include student learning growth data for 

students assigned to the school over the course of at least 3 years.45 If less than 3 years of data 

are available, then student learning growth may comprise not less than 40 percent of the 

evaluation.46  

 

                                                 
instructional personnel and school administrator evaluation systems. The report must include evaluation results for 

instructional personnel and school administrators. Section 1012.34(1)(c), F.S. 
36 Section 1012.34(2)(e), F.S.   
37 Section 1012.34(3)(a), F.S.   
38 Section 1012.34(8), F.S. The formula is known as the “value added model” (VAM). Section 1012.34(7)(a), F.S.  
39 Sections 1012.34(3)(a)1. and 1008.22(6), F.S. Each school district must publish on its website testing schedules for the 

administration of district-mandated assessments and report the schedules annually to the DOE by October 1. Section 

1008.22(6)(e), F.S.   
40 Sections 1012.34(3)(a)1., F.S. 
41 Section 10102.34(3)(a)1.a., F.S. 
42 Section 1012.34(3)(a)1.a., F.S.   
43 The student performance component for instructional personnel who are not classroom teachers may include student 

learning growth data and other measurable student outcomes specific to the position. Section 1012.34(1)(a)1.b., F.S.   
44 Section 1012.34(3)(a)1.b., F.S.   
45 Section 1012.34(3)(a)1.c., F.S. 
46 Section 1012.34(3)(a)1.c.   



BILL: SB 616   Page 7 

 

Instructional Practice  

Instructional practice is a component of instructional personnel evaluations which consists of 

evaluation criteria used in annually observing classroom teachers.47 The evaluation criteria must 

include indicators based on each of Florida Educator Accomplished Practices (FEAP) adopted in 

rule by the SBE.48 For instructional personnel who are not classroom teachers, the evaluation 

criteria must be based on FEAP indicators and may include specific job expectations related to 

student support.49  

 

Instructional Leadership  

Instructional leadership is a component of school administrator evaluations and consists of 

indicators based on each of the leadership standards adopted in rule by the SBE.50 

 

Professional and Job Responsibilities  

The professional and job responsibilities component of an evaluation must include additional 

professional and job responsibilities as adopted in SBE rule.51 District school boards may 

identify professional and job responsibilities in addition to those identified by the SBE.52 

 

Statewide Public School Accountability System 

Florida’s school grading system was created in 1999 as a part of substantial changes to the state’s 

school improvement and accountability system.53 The law designated school grade categories 

and specified the metrics used to measure school performance.54 School improvement ratings 

were also established in 199955 as another measure of school accountability for schools that meet 

specified criteria.56 

 

School Grades 

The measure of school accountability is the school grade.57 The following letter grades are used 

to designate school performance:58  

 “A,” schools making excellent progress.  

 “B,” schools making above average progress.  

 “C,” schools making satisfactory progress.  

 “D,” schools making less than satisfactory progress.  

 “F,” schools failing to make adequate progress. 

                                                 
47 Section 1012.34(3)(a)2., F.S.   
48 Id. 
49 Id. 
50 Section 1012.34(3)(a)3., F.S.   
51 Section 1012.34(3)(a)4., F.S. 
52 Section 1012.34(3)(a)4., F.S.   
53 Section 7 of chapter 99-398, L.O.F., codified in s. 229.57, F.S., subsequently repealed by s. 378, ch. 2002-387, L.O.F, and 

codified in s. 1008.34, F.S.   
54 Id. 
55 Section 7, ch. 99-398, L.O.F. 
56 Section 1008.341, F.S.   
57 Rule 6A-1.09981(3), F.A.C.   
58 Section 1008.34(2), F.S.; Rule 6A-1.09981(6)(a), F.A.C.   



BILL: SB 616   Page 8 

 

 

The basic school grade model used for elementary, middle, and high schools is based upon the 

percentage of total possible points earned by a school for student achievement scores on 

specified statewide, standardized assessments; student learning gains on statewide, standardized 

English Language Arts and mathematics assessments; and the improvement of the lowest 25 

percent of students in the school in reading and mathematics.59 School grades for middle schools 

and high schools are additionally customized as follows:   

 School grades for middle schools include an additional component measuring the percentage 

of students passing high school level EOC assessments or attaining national industry 

certifications.60   

 High school grades are calculated by also including a school’s four-year graduation rate and 

the percentage of the school’s students who are eligible to earn college and career credit 

through accelerated courses or who attain national industry certifications.61 

 

The procedure for calculating the school grade and the scale used to determine a school grade are 

specified in SBE rule.62  

 

School Improvement Ratings  

School improvement ratings are indicators of whether the performance of an alternative school 

that provides dropouts prevention and academic intervention services has improved, remained 

the same, or declined compared to the prior year, based on student learning gains on statewide 

standardized assessments.63 Alternative schools and ESE centers may choose to receive a school 

improvement rating instead of a school grade.64 An alternative school that earns a school 

improvement rating receives one of the following ratings:65 

 “Commendable” – a significant percentage of the students attending the school are making 

learning gains; 

 “Maintaining” – a sufficient percentage of the students attending the school are making 

learning gains; or 

 “Unsatisfactory” – students attending are making less academic progress at the alternative 

school than when the students were served in their home schools. 

 

School improvement ratings are based on the following two components:66  

 The percentage of eligible students who make learning gains in English Language Arts, as 

measured by statewide, standardized assessments; and  

 The percentage of eligible students who make learning gains in mathematics, as measured by 

statewide, standardized assessments.  

 

                                                 
59 Section 1008.34(3)(b)1., F.S. 
60 Section 1008.34(3)(b)i., F.S. The industry certifications must be identified in the Industry Certification Funding List 

adopted by the State Board of Education. Id. 
61 Section 1008.34(3)(b)2., F.S. 
62 Section 1008.34(3)(c)1., F.S. 
63 See s. 1008.341(2), F.S.; Rule 6A-1.099822(5)(b), F.A.C. 
64 Sections 1008.341(2) and 1008.3415(1), F.S. 
65 Id. 
66 Section 1008.341(3)(a) and (b), F.S. 



BILL: SB 616   Page 9 

 

2014-2015 Transition Year  

The 2013-2014 school year was the final year student performance results on statewide, 

standardized reading, writing, and mathematics assessments (aligned to an earlier set of 

academic standards)67 were used to calculate school grades, school improvement ratings, and 

districts grades and evaluate public education personnel.68  

 

On February 18, 2014, the SBE adopted new state standards, called the Florida Standards, for 

English Language Arts (ELA) and mathematics.69 Through a competitive bid process, on March 

17, 2014, the commissioner announced the selection of the American Institutes for Research to 

develop the statewide, standardized English Language Arts and mathematics assessments aligned 

to the Florida Standards.70 The new ELA and mathematics assessments are being administered 

for the first time during the 2014-2015 school year.71 

 

To facilitate Florida’s transition to the Florida Standards and associated assessments, the 2014 

Legislature established the 2014-2015 school year as an informational baseline year for schools 

to work toward improved performance in future years.72  The results of statewide, standardized 

assessments, including the Florida Standards assessments, administered in the spring of 2015 

will be used to calculate school grades and school improvement ratings; however, schools will be 

held harmless and insulated from any penalty or reclassification that would otherwise result from 

the school’s 2014-2015 grade.73 Consequently, a school will not be required to select an 

implement a turnaround option in the 2015-2016 school year based on the school’s 2014-2015 

grade or school improvement rating.74 Schools, based on grades calculated during the transition 

year, will be eligible to receive school recognition funds based on their performance.75 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

SB 616 impacts statutory accountability provisions related to the state’s public school student 

assessment program, the educator performance evaluation system, and the statewide public 

school accountability system. 

 

The bill maintains the statutorily provided 2014-2015 school year transition to the Florida 

Standards Assessments, including the suspension of negative consequences associated with 

school grades and school improvement ratings. Specifically, the bill makes the following 

                                                 
67 Statewide assessments include FCAT writing, FCAT 2.0, and end of course (EOC) assessments. See Section 1008.22, F.S. 
68 Florida Department of Education, Just for Parents (June/July 2014), available at 

http://www.fldoe.org/core/fileparse.php/7743/urlt/0078176-junejuly.pdf. 
69 Florida State Board of Education, Minutes of February 18, 2014, available at 

http://www.fldoe.org/core/fileparse.php/5444/urlt/0074998-minutes.pdf. 
70 Florida Department of Education, With Students as Top Priority, Florida Chooses Replacement for FCAT, Press Release 

(Mar. 17, 2014). 
71 Department of Education, Florida Standards Assessments Information for Families, available at 

http://www.fsassessments.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/Florida-Family-Brochure-v6-2.pdf.   
72 Section 1008.34(7), F.S. 
73 Section 1, ch. 2014-23, L.O.F. 
74 Id. 
75 Id. 



BILL: SB 616   Page 10 

 

adjustments to student assessment, performance evaluation requirements, and school 

accountability: 

 Eliminates the state requirement that a school district administer a local assessment 

including, but not limited to, a local end-of-course assessment for each course that is not 

assessed by a statewide, standardized assessment. The bill retains the ability for teachers and 

school administrators to receive performance pay adjustments if they choose to have the 

student performance component of their performance evaluation based on a statewide or 

other standardized assessment, industry certification assessment, or a district-developed or 

selected assessment. 

 Lowers the student performance component of teacher performance evaluations to at least 

40%, requires the instructional practice component to constitute at least 30%, and the 

professional and job responsibilities component constitute no more than 30% of a teacher’s 

total performance evaluation. 

 Limits the amount of time to no more than 5% of total school hours for administering state-

required and locally-required tests. 76 The bill requires school districts to secure written 

consent from a student’s parent to administer district-required local assessments that exceed 

the 5% testing limit. However, notwithstanding the 5% testing limit, the bill authorizes 

students to take certain assessments, for use as end-of-course assessments77or to demonstrate 

college readiness,78 which are in addition to the state-required and locally-required tests. 

 For schools and school districts that experience assessment implementation issues during the 

2014-2015 school year, establishes a one-time option for superintendents, with a 

supermajority vote of the district school board, to seek approval from the State Board of 

Education to use the 2014-2015 school year test results for diagnostic and baseline purposes 

only. If approved, the school district forfeits designation as an academically-high performing 

school district, if applicable, and the school forfeits school recognition funding. 

 

The bill takes effect upon becoming law. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

                                                 
76 Instruction in a standard school for a full time student consists of at least 900 net hours for a student in grades 4-12, and 

720 net hours for a student in kindergarten through grade 3. Section 1011.61(1)(a)1., F.S. The 5% testing limit thus equals to 

no more than 45 hours for grades 4-12 and no more than 36 hours for kindergarten through grade 3. 
77 “The commissioner may select one or more nationally developed comprehensive examinations, which may include 

examinations for College Board Advanced Placement course, International Baccalaureate course, or Advanced International 

Certificate of Education course, or industry-approved examinations to earn national industry certifications identified in the 

Industry Certification Funding List, for use as EOC assessments.” Section 1008.22(3)(b)4., F.S.  
78 Students may take the Florida Postsecondary Education Readiness Test (PERT), Accuplacer, SAT, or Enhanced ACT to 

demonstrate readiness to perform college-level work. Rule 6A-10.0315, F.A.C. 



BILL: SB 616   Page 11 

 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

This bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes: 1008.22, 1012.34, 

1012.22, and 1008.34.   

 

This bill creates an undesignated section of Florida law. 

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2015 SB 616 

 

 

  

By Senator Legg 

 

 

 

 

 

17-00112B-15 2015616__ 

Page 1 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to education accountability; amending 2 

s. 1008.22, F.S.; revising requirements for the 3 

administration of local assessments; transferring 4 

provisions relating to district school board policies 5 

regarding assessments; restricting the amount of 6 

school hours that a school district may dedicate to 7 

administer specified assessments; requiring a school 8 

district to secure consent of a student’s parent if 9 

school hours dedicated to the administration of local 10 

assessments exceed the threshold amount; authorizing a 11 

student to take an examination or assessment adopted 12 

pursuant to State Board of Education rule; amending s. 13 

1012.34, F.S.; revising the percentage thresholds for 14 

performance evaluation criteria for instructional 15 

personnel and school administrators; specifying 16 

standards for the content and the administration of 17 

local assessments; specifying requirements for 18 

eligibility of salary adjustments for instructional 19 

personnel or school administrators; requiring the 20 

state board to adopt rules by a certain date; amending 21 

s. 1012.22, F.S.; conforming provisions to changes 22 

made by the act; amending s. 1008.34, F.S.; adding 23 

references to school improvement ratings; authorizing 24 

a school district to request approval from the state 25 

board to use student performance results on new 26 

statewide assessments for diagnostic and baseline 27 

purposes; requiring a district school superintendent 28 

to submit the waiver request to the Commissioner of 29 

Florida Senate - 2015 SB 616 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

17-00112B-15 2015616__ 

Page 2 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Education; specifying required content of a waiver 30 

request; requiring the commissioner to review and make 31 

recommendations to the state board regarding each 32 

waiver request; specifying conditions and requirements 33 

for a school that is granted a waiver for the 2014-34 

2015 school year; providing for expiration; providing 35 

an effective date. 36 

  37 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 38 

 39 

Section 1. Subsection (6) of section 1008.22, Florida 40 

Statutes, is amended to read: 41 

1008.22 Student assessment program for public schools.— 42 

(6) LOCAL ASSESSMENTS.— 43 

(a) Measurement of student performance in all subjects and 44 

grade levels, except those subjects and grade levels measured 45 

under the statewide, standardized assessment program described 46 

in this section, is the responsibility of the school districts. 47 

(b) Except for those subjects and grade levels measured 48 

under the statewide, standardized assessment program, beginning 49 

with the 2014-2015 school year, each school district shall 50 

administer for each course offered in the district a local 51 

assessment that measures student mastery of course content at 52 

the necessary level of rigor for the course. As adopted pursuant 53 

to State Board of Education rule, course content is set forth in 54 

the state standards required by s. 1003.41 and in the course 55 

description. Local assessments may include: 56 

1. Statewide assessments. 57 

2. Other standardized assessments, including nationally 58 



Florida Senate - 2015 SB 616 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

17-00112B-15 2015616__ 

Page 3 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

recognized standardized assessments. 59 

3. Industry certification assessments. 60 

4. District-developed or district-selected end-of-course 61 

assessments. 62 

5. Teacher-selected or principal-selected assessments. 63 

(c) Each district school board must adopt policies for 64 

selection, development, administration, and scoring of local 65 

assessments and for collection of assessment results. Local 66 

assessments implemented under subparagraphs (b)4. and 5. may 67 

include a variety of assessment formats, including, but not 68 

limited to, project-based assessments, adjudicated performances, 69 

and practical application assignments. For all English Language 70 

Arts, mathematics, science, and social studies courses offered 71 

in the district that are used to meet graduation requirements 72 

under s. 1002.3105, s. 1003.4281, or s. 1003.4282 and that are 73 

not otherwise assessed by statewide, standardized assessments, 74 

the district school board must select the assessments described 75 

in subparagraphs (b)1.-4. 76 

(d) The Commissioner of Education shall identify methods to 77 

assist and support districts in the development and acquisition 78 

of local assessments required under this subsection. Methods may 79 

include developing item banks, facilitating the sharing of 80 

developed tests among school districts, acquiring assessments 81 

from state and national curriculum-area organizations, and 82 

providing technical assistance in best professional practices of 83 

test development based upon state-adopted curriculum standards, 84 

administration, and security. 85 

(c)(e) Each school district shall establish schedules for 86 

the administration of any district-required local district-87 

Florida Senate - 2015 SB 616 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

17-00112B-15 2015616__ 

Page 4 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

mandated assessment and approve the schedules as an agenda item 88 

at a district school board meeting. A school district may not 89 

schedule more than 5 percent of total school hours to administer 90 

statewide, standardized assessments and district-required local 91 

assessments. If a school district requires more than 5 percent 92 

of total school hours to administer district-required local 93 

assessments, the district must secure written consent from a 94 

student’s parent before administering the district-required 95 

local assessments. Notwithstanding this paragraph, a student 96 

may, within a school year, choose to take an examination or 97 

assessment adopted pursuant to State Board of Education rule 98 

pursuant to this section and s. 1008.30. The school district 99 

shall publish its the testing schedules on its website, clearly 100 

specifying the district-required local district-mandated 101 

assessments, and report the schedules to the Department of 102 

Education by October 1 of each year. 103 

Section 2. Paragraph (a) of subsection (3) and subsections 104 

(7) and (8) of section 1012.34, Florida Statutes, are amended to 105 

read: 106 

1012.34 Personnel evaluation procedures and criteria.— 107 

(3) EVALUATION PROCEDURES AND CRITERIA.—Instructional 108 

personnel and school administrator performance evaluations must 109 

be based upon the performance of students assigned to their 110 

classrooms or schools, as provided in this section. Pursuant to 111 

this section, a school district’s performance evaluation is not 112 

limited to basing unsatisfactory performance of instructional 113 

personnel and school administrators solely upon student 114 

performance, but may include other criteria approved to evaluate 115 

instructional personnel and school administrators’ performance, 116 



Florida Senate - 2015 SB 616 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

17-00112B-15 2015616__ 

Page 5 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

or any combination of student performance and other approved 117 

criteria. Evaluation procedures and criteria must comply with, 118 

but are not limited to, the following: 119 

(a) A performance evaluation must be conducted for each 120 

employee at least once a year, except that a classroom teacher, 121 

as defined in s. 1012.01(2)(a), excluding substitute teachers, 122 

who is newly hired by the district school board must be observed 123 

and evaluated at least twice in the first year of teaching in 124 

the school district. The performance evaluation must be based 125 

upon sound educational principles and contemporary research in 126 

effective educational practices. The evaluation criteria must 127 

include: 128 

1. Performance of students.—At least 40 50 percent of a 129 

performance evaluation must be based upon data and indicators of 130 

student learning growth assessed annually by statewide 131 

assessments or, for subjects and grade levels not measured by 132 

statewide assessments, by school district assessments pursuant 133 

to subsection (7) as provided in s. 1008.22(6). Each school 134 

district must use the formula adopted pursuant to paragraph 135 

(7)(a) for measuring student learning growth in all courses 136 

associated with statewide assessments and must select an equally 137 

appropriate formula for measuring student learning growth for 138 

all other grades and subjects, except as otherwise provided in 139 

subsection (7). 140 

a. For classroom teachers, as defined in s. 1012.01(2)(a), 141 

excluding substitute teachers, the student learning growth 142 

portion of the evaluation must include growth data for students 143 

assigned to the teacher over the course of at least 3 years. If 144 

less than 3 years of data are available, the years for which 145 

Florida Senate - 2015 SB 616 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

17-00112B-15 2015616__ 

Page 6 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

data are available must be used and the percentage of the 146 

evaluation based upon student learning growth may be reduced to 147 

not less than 30 40 percent. 148 

b. For instructional personnel who are not classroom 149 

teachers, the student learning growth portion of the evaluation 150 

must include growth data on statewide assessments for students 151 

assigned to the instructional personnel over the course of at 152 

least 3 years, or may include a combination of student learning 153 

growth data and other measurable student outcomes that are 154 

specific to the assigned position, provided that the student 155 

learning growth data accounts for not less than 30 percent of 156 

the evaluation. If less than 3 years of student growth data are 157 

available, the years for which data are available must be used 158 

and the percentage of the evaluation based upon student learning 159 

growth may be reduced to not less than 20 percent. 160 

c. For school administrators, the student learning growth 161 

portion of the evaluation must include growth data for students 162 

assigned to the school over the course of at least 3 years. If 163 

less than 3 years of data are available, the years for which 164 

data are available must be used and the percentage of the 165 

evaluation based upon student learning growth may be reduced to 166 

not less than 30 40 percent. 167 

2. Instructional practice.—At least 30 percent of a 168 

performance evaluation criteria used when annually observing 169 

classroom teachers, as defined in s. 1012.01(2)(a), excluding 170 

substitute teachers, must include indicators based upon each of 171 

the Florida Educator Accomplished Practices adopted by the State 172 

Board of Education. For instructional personnel who are not 173 

classroom teachers, evaluation criteria must be based upon 174 



Florida Senate - 2015 SB 616 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

17-00112B-15 2015616__ 

Page 7 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

indicators of the Florida Educator Accomplished Practices and 175 

may include specific job expectations related to student 176 

support. 177 

3. Instructional leadership.—At least 30 percent of a 178 

performance evaluation for school administrators, evaluation 179 

criteria must include indicators based upon each of the 180 

leadership standards adopted by the State Board of Education 181 

under s. 1012.986, including performance measures related to the 182 

effectiveness of classroom teachers in the school, the 183 

administrator’s appropriate use of evaluation criteria and 184 

procedures, recruitment and retention of effective and highly 185 

effective classroom teachers, improvement in the percentage of 186 

instructional personnel evaluated at the highly effective or 187 

effective level, and other leadership practices that result in 188 

student learning growth. The system may include a means to give 189 

parents and instructional personnel an opportunity to provide 190 

input into the administrator’s performance evaluation. 191 

4. Professional and job responsibilities.—For instructional 192 

personnel and school administrators, no more than 30 percent of 193 

a performance evaluation must include other professional and job 194 

responsibilities must be included as adopted by the State Board 195 

of Education. The district school board may identify additional 196 

professional and job responsibilities. 197 

(7) MEASUREMENT OF STUDENT LEARNING GROWTH; STATE AND LOCAL 198 

ASSESSMENTS.— 199 

(a) The Commissioner of Education shall approve a formula 200 

to measure individual student learning growth on the statewide, 201 

standardized assessments in English Language Arts and 202 

mathematics administered under s. 1008.22. The formula must take 203 

Florida Senate - 2015 SB 616 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

17-00112B-15 2015616__ 

Page 8 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

into consideration each student’s prior academic performance. 204 

The formula must not set different expectations for student 205 

learning growth based upon a student’s gender, race, ethnicity, 206 

or socioeconomic status. In the development of the formula, the 207 

commissioner shall consider other factors such as a student’s 208 

attendance record, disability status, or status as an English 209 

language learner. The commissioner shall select additional 210 

formulas as appropriate for the remainder of the statewide 211 

assessments included under s. 1008.22 and continue to select 212 

formulas as new assessments are implemented in the state system. 213 

After the commissioner approves the formula to measure 214 

individual student learning growth, the State Board of Education 215 

shall adopt these formulas in rule. 216 

(b) For courses associated with the statewide, standardized 217 

assessments under s. 1008.22, each school district shall measure 218 

student learning growth using the formulas approved by the 219 

commissioner under paragraph (a) for courses associated with the 220 

statewide, standardized assessments administered under s. 221 

1008.22 no later than the school year immediately following the 222 

year the formula is approved by the commissioner. 223 

(c) For grades and subjects not assessed by statewide, 224 

standardized assessments, but otherwise locally assessed 225 

pursuant to paragraph (d) as required under s. 1008.22(6), each 226 

school district shall measure performance of students using a 227 

methodology determined by the district. The department shall 228 

provide models for measuring performance of students which 229 

school districts may adopt. However, for a course that is not 230 

measured by a statewide, standardized assessment: 231 

1.(c) For a course that is not measured by a statewide, 232 



Florida Senate - 2015 SB 616 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

17-00112B-15 2015616__ 

Page 9 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

standardized assessment, A school district may request, through 233 

the evaluation system approval process, to use a student’s 234 

achievement level rather than student learning growth if 235 

achievement is demonstrated to be a more appropriate measure of 236 

classroom teacher performance. A school district may also 237 

request to use a combination of student learning growth and 238 

achievement, if appropriate. 239 

2.(d) For a course that is not measured by a statewide, 240 

standardized assessment, A school district may request, through 241 

the evaluation system approval process, that the performance 242 

evaluation for the classroom teacher assigned to that course 243 

include the learning growth of his or her students on one or 244 

more statewide, standardized assessments. The request must 245 

clearly explain the rationale supporting the request. 246 

3.(e) For purposes of this section and only for the 2014-247 

2015 school year, a school district may use measurable learning 248 

targets on local assessments administered under paragraph (d) 249 

and s. 1008.22(6) to evaluate the performance of students 250 

portion of a classroom teacher’s evaluation for courses that are 251 

not assessed by statewide, standardized assessments. Learning 252 

targets must be approved by the school principal. A district 253 

school superintendent may assign to instructional personnel in 254 

an instructional team the student learning growth of the 255 

instructional team’s students on statewide assessments. This 256 

subparagraph paragraph expires July 1, 2015. 257 

(d)1. Pursuant to s. 1008.22(6), school districts are 258 

responsible for the measurement of student performance in all 259 

subjects and grade levels, except those subjects and grade 260 

levels measured under the statewide, standardized assessment 261 

Florida Senate - 2015 SB 616 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

17-00112B-15 2015616__ 

Page 10 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

program. For subjects and grade levels not measured under the 262 

statewide, standardized program, each school district is 263 

responsible for administering local assessments that measure 264 

student mastery of course content at the necessary level of 265 

rigor. As adopted pursuant to State Board of Education rule, 266 

course content is set forth in the state standards required by 267 

s. 1003.41 and in the course description. Local assessments may 268 

include: 269 

a. Statewide assessments. 270 

b. Other standardized assessments, including nationally 271 

recognized standardized assessments. 272 

c. Industry certification assessments. 273 

d. District-developed or district-selected assessments. 274 

e. Teacher-selected or principal-selected assessments. 275 

2. Each district school board must adopt policies for 276 

selection, development, administration, and scoring of local 277 

assessments and for collection of assessment results. Local 278 

assessments may include a variety of assessment formats, 279 

including, but not limited to, project-based assessments, 280 

adjudicated performances, and practical application assignments. 281 

For all English Language Arts, mathematics, science, and social 282 

studies courses offered in the district which are used to meet 283 

graduation requirements under s. 1002.3105, s. 1003.4281, or s. 284 

1003.4282 and which are not otherwise assessed by statewide, 285 

standardized assessments, the district school board must select 286 

the assessments described in sub-subparagraphs (d)1.a.-d. For an 287 

instructional personnel employee or school administrator to be 288 

eligible for salary adjustment under the performance salary 289 

schedule, pursuant to s. 1012.22, the student performance 290 



Florida Senate - 2015 SB 616 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

17-00112B-15 2015616__ 

Page 11 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

component of his or her performance evaluation must be based on 291 

an assessment described in sub-subparagraphs (d)1.a.-d. using a 292 

methodology determined by the school district pursuant to 293 

paragraph (c). 294 

(8) RULEMAKING.—No later than August 1, 2015, the State 295 

Board of Education shall adopt rules pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) 296 

and 120.54 which establish uniform procedures for the 297 

submission, review, and approval of district evaluation systems 298 

and reporting requirements for the annual evaluation of 299 

instructional personnel and school administrators; specific, 300 

discrete standards for each performance level required under 301 

subsection (2) to ensure clear and sufficient differentiation in 302 

the performance levels and to provide consistency in meaning 303 

across school districts; the measurement of student learning 304 

growth and associated implementation procedures required under 305 

subsection (7); and a process for monitoring school district 306 

implementation of evaluation systems in accordance with this 307 

section. Specifically, the rules shall establish student 308 

performance levels that if not met will result in the employee 309 

receiving an unsatisfactory performance evaluation rating. In 310 

like manner, the rules shall establish a student performance 311 

level that must be met in order for an employee to receive a 312 

highly effective rating and a student learning growth standard 313 

that must be met in order for an employee to receive an 314 

effective rating. 315 

Section 3. Paragraph (c) of subsection (1) of section 316 

1012.22, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 317 

1012.22 Public school personnel; powers and duties of the 318 

district school board.—The district school board shall: 319 

Florida Senate - 2015 SB 616 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

17-00112B-15 2015616__ 

Page 12 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(1) Designate positions to be filled, prescribe 320 

qualifications for those positions, and provide for the 321 

appointment, compensation, promotion, suspension, and dismissal 322 

of employees as follows, subject to the requirements of this 323 

chapter: 324 

(c) Compensation and salary schedules.— 325 

1. Definitions.—As used in this paragraph, the term: 326 

a. “Adjustment” means an addition to the base salary 327 

schedule that is not a bonus and becomes part of the employee’s 328 

permanent base salary and shall be considered compensation under 329 

s. 121.021(22). 330 

b. “Grandfathered salary schedule” means the salary 331 

schedule or schedules adopted by a district school board before 332 

July 1, 2014, pursuant to subparagraph 4. 333 

c. “Instructional personnel” means instructional personnel 334 

as defined in s. 1012.01(2)(a)-(d), excluding substitute 335 

teachers. 336 

d. “Performance salary schedule” means the salary schedule 337 

or schedules adopted by a district school board pursuant to 338 

subparagraph 5. 339 

e. “Salary schedule” means the schedule or schedules used 340 

to provide the base salary for district school board personnel. 341 

f. “School administrator” means a school administrator as 342 

defined in s. 1012.01(3)(c). 343 

g. “Supplement” means an annual addition to the base salary 344 

for the term of the negotiated supplement as long as the 345 

employee continues his or her employment for the purpose of the 346 

supplement. A supplement does not become part of the employee’s 347 

continuing base salary but shall be considered compensation 348 



Florida Senate - 2015 SB 616 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

17-00112B-15 2015616__ 

Page 13 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

under s. 121.021(22). 349 

2. Cost-of-living adjustment.—A district school board may 350 

provide a cost-of-living salary adjustment if the adjustment: 351 

a. Does not discriminate among comparable classes of 352 

employees based upon the salary schedule under which they are 353 

compensated. 354 

b. Does not exceed 50 percent of the annual adjustment 355 

provided to instructional personnel rated as effective. 356 

3. Advanced degrees.—A district school board may not use 357 

advanced degrees in setting a salary schedule for instructional 358 

personnel or school administrators hired on or after July 1, 359 

2011, unless the advanced degree is held in the individual’s 360 

area of certification and is only a salary supplement. 361 

4. Grandfathered salary schedule.— 362 

a. The district school board shall adopt a salary schedule 363 

or salary schedules to be used as the basis for paying all 364 

school employees hired before July 1, 2014. Instructional 365 

personnel on annual contract as of July 1, 2014, shall be placed 366 

on the performance salary schedule adopted under subparagraph 5. 367 

Instructional personnel on continuing contract or professional 368 

service contract may opt into the performance salary schedule if 369 

the employee relinquishes such contract and agrees to be 370 

employed on an annual contract under s. 1012.335. Such an 371 

employee shall be placed on the performance salary schedule and 372 

may not return to continuing contract or professional service 373 

contract status. Any employee who opts into the performance 374 

salary schedule may not return to the grandfathered salary 375 

schedule. 376 

b. In determining the grandfathered salary schedule for 377 

Florida Senate - 2015 SB 616 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

17-00112B-15 2015616__ 

Page 14 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

instructional personnel, a district school board must base a 378 

portion of each employee’s compensation upon performance 379 

demonstrated under s. 1012.34 and shall provide differentiated 380 

pay for both instructional personnel and school administrators 381 

based upon district-determined factors, including, but not 382 

limited to, additional responsibilities, school demographics, 383 

critical shortage areas, and level of job performance 384 

difficulties. 385 

5. Performance salary schedule.—By July 1, 2014, the 386 

district school board shall adopt a performance salary schedule 387 

that provides annual salary adjustments for instructional 388 

personnel and school administrators based upon performance 389 

determined under s. 1012.34. Employees hired on or after July 1, 390 

2014, or employees who choose to move from the grandfathered 391 

salary schedule to the performance salary schedule shall be 392 

compensated pursuant to the performance salary schedule once 393 

they have received the appropriate performance evaluation for 394 

this purpose. However, a classroom teacher whose performance 395 

evaluation uses utilizes student learning growth measures 396 

established under s. 1012.34(7)(c)3. s. 1012.34(7)(e) shall 397 

remain under the grandfathered salary schedule until his or her 398 

teaching assignment changes to a subject for which there is a 399 

statewide, standardized assessment or district-required local an 400 

assessment or the school district establishes equally 401 

appropriate measures of student learning growth as defined under 402 

s. 1012.34 and rules of the State Board of Education. 403 

a. Base salary.—The base salary shall be established as 404 

follows: 405 

(I) The base salary for instructional personnel or school 406 



Florida Senate - 2015 SB 616 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

17-00112B-15 2015616__ 

Page 15 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

administrators who opt into the performance salary schedule 407 

shall be the salary paid in the prior year, including 408 

adjustments only. 409 

(II) Beginning July 1, 2014, instructional personnel or 410 

school administrators new to the district, returning to the 411 

district after a break in service without an authorized leave of 412 

absence, or appointed for the first time to a position in the 413 

district in the capacity of instructional personnel or school 414 

administrator shall be placed on the performance salary 415 

schedule. 416 

b. Salary adjustments.—Salary adjustments for highly 417 

effective or effective performance shall be established as 418 

follows: 419 

(I) The annual salary adjustment under the performance 420 

salary schedule for an employee rated as highly effective must 421 

be greater than the highest annual salary adjustment available 422 

to an employee of the same classification through any other 423 

salary schedule adopted by the district. 424 

(II) The annual salary adjustment under the performance 425 

salary schedule for an employee rated as effective must be equal 426 

to at least 50 percent and no more than 75 percent of the annual 427 

adjustment provided for a highly effective employee of the same 428 

classification. 429 

(III) The performance salary schedule shall not provide an 430 

annual salary adjustment for an employee who receives a rating 431 

other than highly effective or effective for the year. 432 

c. Salary supplements.—In addition to the salary 433 

adjustments, each district school board shall provide for salary 434 

supplements for activities that must include, but are not 435 

Florida Senate - 2015 SB 616 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

17-00112B-15 2015616__ 

Page 16 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

limited to: 436 

(I) Assignment to a Title I eligible school. 437 

(II) Assignment to a school that earned a grade of “F” or 438 

three consecutive grades of “D” pursuant to s. 1008.34 such that 439 

the supplement remains in force for at least 1 year following 440 

improved performance in that school. 441 

(III) Certification and teaching in critical teacher 442 

shortage areas. Statewide critical teacher shortage areas shall 443 

be identified by the State Board of Education under s. 1012.07. 444 

However, the district school board may identify other areas of 445 

critical shortage within the school district for purposes of 446 

this sub-sub-subparagraph and may remove areas identified by the 447 

state board which do not apply within the school district. 448 

(IV) Assignment of additional academic responsibilities. 449 

 450 

If budget constraints in any given year limit a district school 451 

board’s ability to fully fund all adopted salary schedules, the 452 

performance salary schedule may shall not be reduced on the 453 

basis of total cost or the value of individual awards in a 454 

manner that is proportionally greater than reductions to any 455 

other salary schedules adopted by the district. 456 

Section 4. Subsection (7) of section 1008.34, Florida 457 

Statutes, is amended to read: 458 

1008.34 School grading system; school report cards; 459 

district grade.— 460 

(7) TRANSITION.—School grades pursuant to this section and 461 

school improvement ratings pursuant to s. 1008.341 for the 2013-462 

2014 school year shall be calculated based on statutes and rules 463 

in effect on June 30, 2014. To assist in the transition to 2014-464 



Florida Senate - 2015 SB 616 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

17-00112B-15 2015616__ 

Page 17 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2015 school grades and school improvement ratings, calculated 465 

based on new statewide, standardized assessments administered 466 

pursuant to s. 1008.22, the 2014-2015 school grades and school 467 

improvement ratings shall serve as an informational baseline for 468 

schools to work toward improved performance in future years. 469 

Accordingly, notwithstanding any other provision of law: 470 

(a) A school may not be required to select and implement a 471 

turnaround option pursuant to s. 1008.33 in the 2015-2016 school 472 

year based on the school’s 2014-2015 grade or school improvement 473 

rating under s. 1008.341, as applicable. 474 

(b)1. A school or approved provider under s. 1002.45 that 475 

receives the same or a lower school grade or school improvement 476 

rating for the 2014-2015 school year compared to the 2013-2014 477 

school year is not subject to sanctions or penalties that would 478 

otherwise occur as a result of the 2014-2015 school grade or 479 

rating. A charter school system or a school district designated 480 

as high performing may not lose the designation based on the 481 

2014-2015 school grades of any of the schools within the charter 482 

school system or school district, as applicable. 483 

2. The Florida School Recognition Program established under 484 

s. 1008.36 shall continue to be implemented as otherwise 485 

provided in the General Appropriations Act. 486 

(c) For purposes of determining grade 3 retention pursuant 487 

to s. 1008.25(5) and high school graduation pursuant to s. 488 

1003.4282, student performance on the 2014-2015 statewide, 489 

standardized assessments shall be linked to 2013-2014 student 490 

performance expectations. 491 

 492 

This subsection is repealed July 1, 2017. 493 

Florida Senate - 2015 SB 616 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

17-00112B-15 2015616__ 

Page 18 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Section 5. School district contingency plan.—494 

Notwithstanding s. 1008.34(7), Florida Statutes, a school 495 

district may, by supermajority vote of the district school 496 

board, request approval from the State Board of Education to 497 

waive all requirements and benefits outlined in s. 1008.34(7), 498 

Florida Statutes, and instead use results from student 499 

performance on the new statewide, standardized assessments 500 

administered in the 2014-2015 school year pursuant to s. 501 

1008.22, Florida Statutes, for diagnostic and baseline purposes 502 

only. 503 

(1) A school district’s request must be submitted to the 504 

Commissioner of Education by the school district superintendent, 505 

during the period from the last day of administration of 506 

statewide, standardized assessments through June 5, 2015, in 507 

accordance with the guidelines established by the commissioner. 508 

At a minimum, the request, must include identification of: 509 

(a) The scope of the request, to apply either to the school 510 

district or to a school or certain schools within the school 511 

district. The request must be made at a district or school 512 

level. The request may not be made at a grade level, a subject-513 

area level or another level. 514 

(b) The reason for the request, including a description of 515 

the systemic or unique implementation failure. Quantifiable data 516 

substantiating the reason for such failure must accompany the 517 

request. A school district’s inability to assess the minimum 518 

percentage of students pursuant to ss. 1008.34 and 1008.341, 519 

Florida Statutes, does not, in itself, constitute a reasonable 520 

justification for requesting the waiver under this section. 521 

(c) The school district’s corrective action plan and 522 



Florida Senate - 2015 SB 616 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

17-00112B-15 2015616__ 

Page 19 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

certification that the identified implementation failure must be 523 

resolved in time for successful administration of the statewide, 524 

standardized assessments during the 2015-2016 school year and 525 

each school year thereafter. The district must identify how the 526 

district plans to allocate resources and technical assistance 527 

that the district needs from the Department of Education to 528 

facilitate the district’s successful resolution of deficiencies. 529 

(d) The school district’s plan for using the diagnostic 530 

data to facilitate continuous improvement in student performance 531 

and the effectiveness of schools, instructional personnel, and 532 

school administrators; public reporting on the performance of 533 

students, schools, and the district; and informing parents about 534 

instruction associated with remediation and retention and 535 

options available to students including acceleration, 536 

graduation, and school choice. The district must also describe 537 

its plans for implementing student progression plans, 538 

performance evaluations of instructional personnel and school 539 

administrators, performance salary schedule requirements, and 540 

other uses as identified by the commissioner. 541 

(2) The commissioner shall review each request for a waiver 542 

and consult with the applicable school district superintendent. 543 

The commissioner shall make, and provide reasons for, 544 

recommendations to the State Board of Education regarding 545 

granting or denying a request for waiver. The state board shall 546 

consider recommendations made by the commissioner to approve or 547 

deny school district requests. Notwithstanding any other 548 

provision of law, the commissioner’s recommendation to approve 549 

may, after consultation with the school district superintendent, 550 

include conditional requirements that must apply if approved by 551 

Florida Senate - 2015 SB 616 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

17-00112B-15 2015616__ 

Page 20 of 20 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

the state board. The decision of the state board is final. 552 

(3) For only the 2014-2015 school year, if a waiver is 553 

granted under this section: 554 

(a) A school or a school district may not receive a school 555 

grade, school improvement rating, or school district grade, as 556 

applicable. 557 

(b) A school may, at the school district’s discretion, 558 

choose to use new statewide, standardized assessment results in 559 

performance evaluations of instructional personnel and school 560 

administrators. 561 

(c) A school district shall continue to have its student 562 

performance results included in the statewide, standardized 563 

assessment results published by the department pursuant to s. 564 

1008.22, Florida Statutes. 565 

(d) A school shall forfeit eligibility to earn school 566 

recognition funds pursuant to s. 1008.36, Florida Statutes, as 567 

provided in the General Appropriations Act. 568 

(e) A school district shall forfeit the district’s 569 

eligibility to earn the designation and benefits associated with 570 

high performing school districts pursuant to s. 1003.621, 571 

Florida Statutes. 572 

 573 

This section expires July 1, 2016. 574 

Section 6. This act shall take effect upon becoming a law. 575 



\s

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

'eating Date Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic S'B
—7

Name ^ (^it

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Job Title 14r 1 cc-H v-€ recirrr*

Address 21S ^ > Myic*<? It Phone I

Street

PO ZZZO f. Email (P^oh'daPtom^f

City

Speaking: [MFor | | Against

State

Information

Zip d)r^

In Support | | AgainstWaive Speaking: _
(The Chair will read tfffs information into the record.)

Representing Ph 1'-Ta.n <¦)H-J.t7^

Appearing at request of Chair: [^] Yes No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: [X^Yes | | No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-oof (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD

5"
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic T^r«

pc^f £ 6 y I (*
Bill Number (if applicable)

6^5" 244 
Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Name  'TtM W i ^ck

Job Title Div-ec-roy of

Address   Phone

Street

Speaking:

City State

For [^Against | | Information

Zip

Email ^"1 c\/\<A\f^o%y- CO^
2-    :   

Waive Speaking: ÿ In Support [tj Against

Representing

(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

V-pfAA yc€ 

Appearing at request of Chair:  Yes No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: L_J Yes  No

it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

^ Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

m is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)



iM/ff

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meetin

Meeting Date

fts/sfr (/|(/

Topic

Name

Te>h i4£soi4k1^N|if /

Bill Number (if applicable)

Ctioiqb
Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Job Title DiVecfo^- t/f Pdljc/

Address Phone
Street

City

Speaking: [^] For | | Against

State

Information

Zip
Email

Waive Speaking:  In Support Against

Representing

(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

D-F COhfibnttrCt

Appearing at request of Chair:  Yes No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: [^J Yes No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting.



3/512D II

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meh tint Date

Topic

Name

Job Title

Address £t
Street

Speaking: For ^[Against

State

Information

Representing

t,iL

0
Z/p

Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Phone kSD-W- Wo-

ii Uks fiWEmail

Waive Speaking: In Support Against
(The Chair will read this information infothe record.)

Appearing at request of Chair:  Yes LcJ No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: [3] Yes [fe/felo

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)



4 PfyiopoiK (Q&is'
Meeting Date

Topic

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

_L3/3 (e/Sp
Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Name Kj?

Job Title f^p-kr^iA LTOjdI , LU'SiHT^

Address d? /4T) 0Ja\T.-s tOoirH^.
Street

City

\
MaxJQirro, FL 3af^(n

Speaking: For ^[Against

Representing lfY\ li

State

Information

Phone (feo\ .T/ D-C^ll

Email ^eioWi

pvdro^od Is-V. otQ

Waive Speaking: [_] In Support | | Against

Zip

(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair: Q Yes J^fNo Lobbyist registered with Legislature: Q Yes £><] No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeling Date
blk>

Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic

Name fYVg\y^S C Li

Job Titie CtknejpAr M Co - of

Address ^Lj^N ^ Tr^Opp^Cxac^^  

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Phone tgPO - 3^/ -lASS

-/LJ TT -, ^2 sr ¦ T ie TO'
j cHr) v (—— vTxtQ vq^ Email QprvHXl.  

City

Speaking: For ^Against

State

Information

Z/p

Waive Speaking: Q In Support | | Against

Representing T"

(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair: ÿ Yes f>£pNo Lobbyist registered with Legislature: O Yes I^Pno

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic 

Name f

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Job Title

Address

Speaking:

Phone

State

Information

Email >/ p)

Waive Speaking:  In Support

Representing £1 ^ yr\C>TtO-^

(The Chair will read this information intodiw record.)
-Against

Appearing at request of Chair:  Yes No Lobbyist registered with Legislature:  Yes >< No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date
h

Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic

Name

Job Title

Address
Street

Speaking: [^] For | | Against

State

Information

Representing

Phone

imail (
ip

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

'ML

Waive Speaking:  In Support Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair:  Yes No Lobbyist registered with Legislature:  Yes No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)



3^15

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic  

Name_

Job Title

Address C\
Street

J
City

U&ttl

TcJl ajXYL^ne F(

Speaking: For  (Against

State

Information

S6 L\L
\

Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Phone "2 6d ^ y Z - 815t)

3^'dO^ Email
Zip

Waive Speaking: L_J In Support Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing -kfL 

Appearing at request of Chair:  Yes No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: ^ Yes No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic

Name PAlXgOi

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Job Title \— DV)Vl^

Address 6<^ HA  Phone ^7-
Street

v3€ajO Email doov^AW
CJty 1 State /^Y ofa

i: ÿFor ÿAgainst ÿinformation Waive Speakino: In Support I IAoainst

Phone ^9-

Speaking: [ÿ For [ÿ Against   Information

Representing \v| ^ V^vjCy'VQ^V^

Waive Speaking: ÿ In Support | | Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair: ÿ Yes QTio Lobbyist registered with Legislature: (VkeS | | No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-ooi (10/14/14)



*2 i-j

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

o (/;
Meeting Date

Topic >~'J ,

Bill Number (if applicable)

Name ./ V

-/

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Job Title ^v-^% i . f: . ¦-

. . ; ?. ' 1 ¦' . . .. i ' /"t " 1

i. - , i ' * / . i

"

V' 1 •• v

Phone_

Email ^ I' - • J' h ^' -v

City

Speaking: d] For | | Against

State

Information

Zip

Waive Speaking: [^] In Support | | Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing i Ki i'j f " i

Appearing at request of Chair: Yes 1 X/^No Lobbyist registered with Legislature:  Yes No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic _ Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

* * ^ s ^ * , " " * :Name 

Job Title i; ¦

Address  '     ! T
Street

\t

Phone

PL \  Email 
City State

Speaking: Q For Q] Against [^^Information

Zip

Waive Speaking: Q In Support Q Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing : u t

Appearing at request of Chair:  Yes (J No Lobbyist registered with Legislature:  Yes Ld No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)



: I f :

Mdeting Date

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting) #7- m

Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic

Name

j

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

't/.K »*

Job Title v.• :¦ t,¦ - )r-' 

Address

^ >- i i- , x'd- f ^ T "V Email .i-t- ¦ r '

Phone

Street

City State Zip

Speaking: O For | ^Against Information Waive Speaking: Q In Support | [Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing

Lobbyist registered with Legislature: [7^ Yes NoAppearing at request of Chair: Q Yes No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)



3/04/14

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

SB616
Meeting Date

j0pjc Education Accountabilty

Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Name ®r- Karen Effrem

Job Title Executive Director - Florida Stop Common Core Coalition

Address Cousley Drive SE Phone 888-376-5550

Street

Port Charlotte Fl 33952 Email dockaren@flstopcccoalition.org

City State Zip

Speaking: ÿ For {~\ Against [3 Information

Representing Florida Stop Common Core Coalition

Waive Speaking: I I In Support I I Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair: Q Yes j/ No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: Yes O No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



March 4, 2015

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Education Standards & Accountability
Topic

Name Trey Csar

Job Title

Address

President

245 Riverside Ave., Suite 310

Street
Jacksonville FL

City State

Speaking: ÿ For | [Against [v^j Information

.. Jacksonville Public Education Fund
Representing  

SB616
Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Phone
904-356-7757

32202 Emaj| trey@jaxpef.org

Zip

Waive Speaking: ÿ In Support I Uaainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair: I Ives ^ No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: I [Yes No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Education Pre-K - 12  

 

BILL:  SB 688 

INTRODUCER:  Senator Montford 

SUBJECT:  Opening and Closing of Public Schools 

DATE:  March 3, 2015 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Bailey  Klebacha  ED  Pre-meeting 

2.     AED   

3.     AP   

 

I. Summary: 

SB 688 allows schools to open up to 7 days earlier than current law allows. The bill authorizes 

district school boards to begin the school year up to 21 days before Labor Day each year. The 

bill requires academically high performing districts to comply with the 21 day opening date of 

public schools. 

 

This bill takes effect on July 1, 2015. 

II. Present Situation: 

Beginning with the 2007-2008 academic school year, schools governed by a district school board 

may have an opening date up to 14 days before Labor Day each year,1 with the exception of 

academically high performing school districts.2 Postsecondary institutions also rely on standard 

school start dates for eligible students in accelerated programs.3 

 

Current Starting Dates 

For the 2014-2015 school year, 62 of the state’s 75 school districts began the traditional school 

year on August 18, 2014, which is 14 days before Labor Day.4  

 

                                                 
1 Section 1001.42(4)(f), F.S., as amended by s. 11 of ch. 2006-74, L.O.F. 
2 See s. 1003.621(1)(b) and (2)(a) – (k), F.S. 
3 Prior to the beginning of each fiscal year, by administrative rule, the board of trustees for community colleges and 

universities must adopt an annual calendar for use by all postsecondary institutions operated by their respective boards. 

Unless an exception is granted by the Department of Education, three common entry periods are established so that the first 

day of classes will fall within each of the three periods, the first 3 weekdays after August 22, the first 3 weekdays after 

January 4, and the first 3 weekdays after May 5. Rule 6A-10.019, F.A.C. 
4 Florida Department of Education, 2014-2015 School District Calendars, http://www.fldoe.org/accountability/data-sys/edu-

info-accountability-services/pk-12-public-school-data-pubs-reports/index.stml (last visited March 2, 2015). 

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 688   Page 2 

 

School districts are required to file an official copy of the annual calendar adopted by each 

school board with the DOE.5 

 

Academically High Performing School Districts 

School districts designated by the State Board of Education as academically high-performing 

school districts may choose to waive compliance with a large number of statutory requirements, 

including prescribed school calendar dates.6  

 

Academically high-performing school districts retain the designation for three years and then 

may renew if the district continues to meet the requirements.7 To be designated as an 

academically high-performing school district, a school district must meet the following 

requirements: 

 Earn a grade of “A” for two consecutive years and have no district-operated school that 

earned a grade of “F.” 

 Comply with the class size requirements. 

 Have no material weaknesses or instances of material noncompliance noted in the school 

district’s annual financial audit.8  

 

During the 2014- 2015 school year, academically high-performing districts, Citrus, Nassau, 

Seminole, and Sumter counties, elected to waive the school start date requirement and started 

school between August 6th and August 11th.9 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

SB 688 authorizes district school boards to begin the school year up to 21 days before Labor Day 

each year, in effect, 7 days earlier than current law allows. The bill also requires academically 

high performing districts to comply with the uniform opening date of public schools. 

 

The effective date of the bill is July 1, 2015. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

                                                 
5 Rule 6A-10.019(3), F.A.C. 
6 See s. 1003.621(1)(b) and (2)(a) – (k), F.S. 
7 Section 1003.621(1)(c), F.S. 
8 Section 1003.621(1)(a), F.S. 
9 Of the eleven academically high-performing school districts, four elected to choose an earlier start date than the 14 day 

uniform date. Florida Department of Education, 2014-2015 School District Calendars, 

http://www.fldoe.org/accountability/data-sys/edu-info-accountability-services/pk-12-public-school-data-pubs-

reports/index.stml (last visited March 2, 2015). 



BILL: SB 688   Page 3 

 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

This bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes: 1001.42 and 

1003.621.  

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 688 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì697848fÎ697848 

 

Page 1 of 2 

3/2/2015 3:14:23 PM 581-01806-15 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/04/2015 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education Pre-K - 12 (Montford) recommended the 

following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete line 43 3 

and insert: 4 

date for public schools. However, an academically high-5 

performing school district whose calendar for the 2015-2016 6 

school year was approved by the district school board before May 7 

1, 2015, may waive compliance with s. 1001.42(4)(f) for the 8 

2015-2016 school year. 9 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 10 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 688 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì697848fÎ697848 

 

Page 2 of 2 

3/2/2015 3:14:23 PM 581-01806-15 

And the title is amended as follows: 11 

Delete line 8 12 

and insert: 13 

date of public schools; providing an exception for 14 

certain school districts for a certain timeframe; 15 

providing an effective date. 16 



Florida Senate - 2015 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 688 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì386978qÎ386978 

 

Page 1 of 1 

3/4/2015 12:22:31 PM 581-01901-15 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

03/04/2015 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education Pre-K - 12 (Montford) recommended the 

following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 26 - 43. 3 

 4 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 5 

And the title is amended as follows: 6 

Delete lines 5 - 8 7 

and insert: 8 

schools; providing an effective date. 9 



Florida Senate - 2015 SB 688 

 

 

  

By Senator Montford 

 

 

 

 

 

3-00829-15 2015688__ 

Page 1 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to the opening and closing of public 2 

schools; amending s. 1001.42, F.S.; revising a 3 

requirement for the uniform opening date of public 4 

schools; amending s. 1003.621, F.S.; providing that 5 

academically high-performing school districts must 6 

comply with provisions relating to the uniform opening 7 

date of public schools; providing an effective date. 8 

  9 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 10 

 11 

Section 1. Paragraph (f) of subsection (4) of section 12 

1001.42, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 13 

1001.42 Powers and duties of district school board.—The 14 

district school board, acting as a board, shall exercise all 15 

powers and perform all duties listed below: 16 

(4) ESTABLISHMENT, ORGANIZATION, AND OPERATION OF SCHOOLS.—17 

Adopt and provide for the execution of plans for the 18 

establishment, organization, and operation of the schools of the 19 

district, including, but not limited to, the following: 20 

(f) Opening and closing of schools; fixing uniform date.—21 

Adopt policies for the opening and closing of schools and fix 22 

uniform dates; however, beginning with the 2015-2016 2007-2008 23 

school year, the opening date for schools in the district may 24 

not be earlier than 21 14 days before Labor Day each year. 25 

Section 2. Present paragraph (k) of subsection (2) of 26 

section 1003.621, Florida Statutes, is redesignated as paragraph 27 

(l), and a new paragraph (k) is added to that subsection, to 28 

read: 29 

Florida Senate - 2015 SB 688 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

3-00829-15 2015688__ 

Page 2 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

1003.621 Academically high-performing school districts.—It 30 

is the intent of the Legislature to recognize and reward school 31 

districts that demonstrate the ability to consistently maintain 32 

or improve their high-performing status. The purpose of this 33 

section is to provide high-performing school districts with 34 

flexibility in meeting the specific requirements in statute and 35 

rules of the State Board of Education. 36 

(2) COMPLIANCE WITH STATUTES AND RULES.—Each academically 37 

high-performing school district shall comply with all of the 38 

provisions in chapters 1000-1013, and rules of the State Board 39 

of Education which implement these provisions, pertaining to the 40 

following: 41 

(k) Section 1001.42(4)(f), relating to the uniform opening 42 

date for public schools. 43 

Section 3. This act shall take effect July 1, 2015. 44 



Meeting Date

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic

Name X

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Job Title

Address
Street

City

Speaking: d] For | | Against

State

Information

Phone

Email
Zip

Waive Speaking: "H In Support  Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing //¦¦ ; - /a
* r 1 ¦

Appearing at request of Chair: [d Yes rdTTo Lobbyist registered with Legislature: Q-Yes O No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



3/f/ir

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

leeting Date Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic Ojiisi/A . ^ £/ohsij o/-f Pf/lhc

Name_ J^Vo- j- forM.c j~ 

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Job Title

Address £ p£,k /hr*.
Street

City

Speaking: d] For | | Against

State

Information

Zip

Phox\e$f0~5~~?~) ' Oc/^/c/

Email

Waive Speaking: In Support against
(The Chair will read this information jnto the record.)

Representing /~7. $7^ fiesf //i a //^/7

Yes Lobbyist registered with Legislature^]XCYes | | NoAppearing at request of Chair:

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD

^/4/ it)
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

feting Bate Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic

Name (n

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

-j

^lobrm • T~c-A- ^ •

Address
Street

2-0^, S-o -

City
| n i ^ — 3^0/
T State Zip

Phone

Email

Speaking: O For | | Against

6CT>-4/4-Zr76

Information Waive Speaking: P^TTn Support | | Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair:

/7 A
Yes Lobbyist registered with Legislature:

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



,31 ^ j&is is
Meetinq Date

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

(j?S8
Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic Closi^ o(-?uiAV-SdmDlS

Name OPtg) CLirivZ. feoST dC. 

Job Title V\OL- dOYtf 

Address T* 0 • Box. 3^0   

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Phone
Street

35I'^0> Email
City State Zip

Speaking: | | For tWI Against ÿ Information Waive Speaking: O In Support | | Against
V/^ (The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing

(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

TVeracW- fissoo^dr <&r\

Appearing at request of Chair: Q] YesQ^^No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: ^j^Yes O No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



j - y yjr
Meeting Date

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

, 5"# G ^ $
Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic & ft, Li , pi c/os-i/K'

Name r/7

T (febh 'O ^c LcoL'j Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Job Title t t-ijve ^Crec ior

Address 13 fO r ickoTX Phone %ra ^ TtV YV?L
Street

-f-a/ZM CroSr-e
City tate

22-36? Email foC&rn^Jl @ -Q^ryir r&r
Zip

Waive Speaking:  In Support /n AgainstSpeaking: For [5*Against Information    
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing lor*o

Appearing at request of Chair: Yes [p^o Lobbyist registered with Legislature: Yes [^No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

3- </- 'i" 

Meeting Date

Topic () CteJStruh & t— puslk sci^qls Bill Number  3

/\/C

(if applicable)

Name Amendment Barcode
(if applicable)

Job Title

Address 116 3, A-OAr^i si- Phone fr*. zm- zzfo

Street

* rt j?joi E-mail r-turAt* Q 4rU< nfj

City State Zip

Speaking: O For PTAgainst I I Information

Representing /yW/g^ /^joc   

Appearing at request of Chair: \^\ Yes 1 /^1 No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: Yes I I No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/20/11)



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Education Pre-K - 12  

 

BILL:  SB 818 

INTRODUCER:  Senator Garcia 

SUBJECT:  Maximum Class Size 

DATE:  March 3, 2015 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Bailey  Klebacha  ED  Pre-meeting 

2.     AED   

3.     AP   

 

I. Summary: 

SB 818 revises the method for calculating the penalty for failure to comply with the class size 

requirements by performing the calculation at the school average instead of at the classroom 

level.  

 

This bill takes effect on July 1, 2015.  

II. Present Situation: 

In 2002, voters approved the Class Size Reduction Amendment to Section 1, Article IX of the 

Florida Constitution.1 The amendment requires the Legislature to make provisions to ensure that 

there are a sufficient number of classrooms in Florida so the maximum number of students 

assigned to each teacher does not exceed: 

 18 students in prekindergarten through grade 3; 

 22 students in grades 4 through 8 does; and 

 25 students in grades 9 through 12.2 

 

Implementation of Class Size Reduction Amendment 

In 2003, the Legislature enacted s. 1003.03, F.S., to implement the amendment’s requirements.3 

The law required each school district not in compliance with the constitutionally prescribed 

maximums to annually reduce its average number of students per classroom by two students 

                                                 
1 Office of Program Policy Analysis & Government Accountability, School Districts are Reducing Class Size in Several 

Ways; May be able to Reduce Costs, (May 3007), available at 

http://www.oppaga.state.fl.us/MonitorDocs/Reports/pdf/0729rpt.pdf . 
2 Art. IX, s. 1(a) Fla. Const. 
3 Section 2, ch. 2003-391, L.O.F., codified at s. 1003.03, F.S. 

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 818   Page 2 

 

beginning in FY 2003-2004.4 Further, it specified the number of students per classroom is to be 

measured at the: 

 District level for each of the three grade groupings during FYs 2003-2006. 

 School level for each of the three grade groupings in FYs 2006-2009. 

 Individual classroom level for each of the three grade groupings in FYs 2009-2010 and 

thereafter.5 

 

Currently, the compliance requirements for traditional public schools is calculated at the 

classroom level.6  

 

Charter Schools and Public Schools of Choice 

In 2010, the compliance calculation for charter schools was changed from class level average to 

the school level average.7 In 2013, the school level average calculation was used for district 

operated schools of choice.8 District school boards annually report the number of students 

attending the various types of public schools of choice, which may include: virtual instruction 

programs, magnet schools, and public charter school.9 

 

Class Size Categorical Reduction Allocation 

Traditional public schools have class size limits set in every core-curricula classroom.10 Class 

size is measured at the classroom level average and if the district fails to comply with the class 

size requirements, a portion of the district class size reduction categorical funds are withdrawn.11 

 

Funding 

The Class Size Reduction Allocation is funded with state funds in the Florida Education Finance 

Program (FEFP) based on a factor that compensates school districts for the additional teachers 

needed to achieve the class sizes of 18, 22, and 25 for grades prekindergarten to 3, 4 to 8, and 9 

to 12 respectively.12 Full funding was achieved by 2009-10 and since then, funds have been 

adjusted for workload.13 In 2014-15, total funds are $3 billion.14  

 

 

 

                                                 
4 Section 1003.03, F.S. 
5 Section 2, ch. 2003-391, L.O.F., codified at s. 1003.03(2)(b), F.S. (2003). 
6 Each year, on or before the October student membership survey, the maximum number of student assigned to each teacher 

who is teaching core-curricula courses for prekindergarten through grade 3 may not exceed 18 students, school classrooms 

for 4-8 may not exceed 22 students, core-curricula courses in 9-12 may not exceed 25 students. See ss. 1003.03(1), F.S. and 

1002.33(16)(b)3, F.S.   
7 Section 6, ch. 2010-154, L.O.F., codified at s. 1002.33(16)(b)3, F.S. (2010). 
8 Florida Department of Education, 2014 Agency Legislative Bill Analysis for HB 319 (2014). 
9 Section 1002.31(4), F.S. 
10 Section 1003.01(14), F.S. 
11 Section 1003.03(4), F.S. 
12 Section 1003.03, F.S. 
13 Florida Department of Education, Budget Amendment Request, FY 2014-2015 (Feb. 2015) on file with the Committee on 

Education Pre-K – 12 staff. 
14 Id.  



BILL: SB 818   Page 3 

 

Compliance – Funding Adjustment 

For 2014-15, school districts are required to comply with class size requirements at the 

classroom level for each of the grade groups.15 If a district is out of compliance, then an initial 

reduction to the district’s class size allocation is calculated by cumulating the excess students in 

a classroom and then multiplying the total by the class size reduction factor and the base student 

allocation.16 The initial penalty was calculated and determined to be $11.3 million for traditional 

schools.17  

 

For charter schools and schools of choice, compliance is measured based on the average class 

size for each school.18 Once compliance is determined, the calculation proceeds in the same 

manner as for traditional schools.19 The initial penalty for charter schools was $2.8 million and 

for schools of choice, $422,000.20  

 

Following the initial reduction calculation, the Commissioner can take appeals from school 

districts and make a recommendation to the Legislative Budget Commission for an alternate 

reduction amount.21 For 2014-15, the Commissioner’s recommendation is based on data errors 

and unexpected growth in students greater than the number forecasted in the FEFP for the 

legislative budget.22 Following appeals, the Commissioner’s alternate penalty recommendation 

for 2014-15 is $1.3 million for traditional schools, $560,000 for charter schools, and $177,000 

for schools of choice.23 If approved, 25% of the penalty will be allocated to compliant districts 

and schools, and if the noncompliant districts and schools submit a plan to achieve compliance in 

the subsequent fall, they then can retain 75% of the penalty.24 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

SB 818 revises the method for calculating the penalty for failure to comply with the class size 

requirements by performing the calculation at the school average instead of at the classroom 

level.  

 

Changes to the calculation of full-time equivalent (FTE) students over the class size maximums 

in traditional public schools to be based on school level averages will reduce the amount of FTE 

out of compliance used to calculate the reduction to the class size allocation.25 

 

The bill takes effect July 1, 2015. 

                                                 
15 Section 1003.03(4), F.S. 
16 Id. 
17 Florida Department of Education, Budget Amendment Request, FY 2014-2015 (Feb. 2015) on file with the Committee on 

Education Pre-K – 12 staff. 
18 Section 6, ch. 2010-154, L.O.F., codified at s. 1002.33(16)(b)3, F.S. (2010). 
19 Id. 
20 Florida Department of Education, Budget Amendment Request, FY 2014-2015 (Feb. 2015) on file with the Committee on 

Education Pre-K – 12 staff. 
21 Section 1003.03(4), F.S. 
22 Id. 
23 Florida Department of Education, Budget Amendment Request, FY 2014-2015 (Feb. 2015) on file with the Committee on 

Education Pre-K – 12 staff.  
24 Id. 
25 Florida Department of Education, 2014 Agency Legislative Bill Analysis for HB 319 (July 2014). 



BILL: SB 818   Page 4 

 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

This bill substantially amends section 1003.03 of the Florida Statutes.  

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 



BILL: SB 818   Page 5 

 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2015 SB 818 

 

 

  

By Senator Garcia 

 

 

 

 

 

38-01301-15 2015818__ 

Page 1 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to maximum class size; amending s. 2 

1003.03, F.S.; requiring the calculation of a school 3 

district’s class size categorical allocation reduction 4 

at the school average when maximum class size 5 

requirements are not met; revising the calculation; 6 

providing an effective date. 7 

  8 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 9 

 10 

Section 1. Paragraph (a) of subsection (4) of section 11 

1003.03, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 12 

1003.03 Maximum class size.— 13 

(4) ACCOUNTABILITY.— 14 

(a) If the department determines that the number of 15 

students assigned to an any individual class exceeds the class 16 

size maximum, as required in subsection (1), based upon the 17 

October student membership survey, the department shall: 18 

1. Identify, for each grade group, the number of classes in 19 

which the number of students exceeds the maximum and the total 20 

number of students which exceeds the maximum for all classes. 21 

2. Determine the number of FTE students which exceeds the 22 

maximum for each grade group calculated at the school average. 23 

2.3. Multiply the total number of FTE students which 24 

exceeds the maximum for each grade group calculated at the 25 

school average by the district’s FTE dollar amount of the class 26 

size categorical allocation for that year and calculate the 27 

total for all three grade groups. 28 

3.4. Multiply the total number of FTE students which 29 

Florida Senate - 2015 SB 818 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

38-01301-15 2015818__ 

Page 2 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

exceeds the maximum for all classes calculated at the school 30 

average by an amount equal to 50 percent of the base student 31 

allocation adjusted by the district cost differential for each 32 

of the 2010-2011 through 2013-2014 fiscal years and by an amount 33 

equal to the base student allocation adjusted by the district 34 

cost differential in the 2015-2016 2014-2015 fiscal year and 35 

thereafter. 36 

4.5. Reduce the district’s class size categorical 37 

allocation by an amount equal to the sum of the calculations in 38 

subparagraphs 2. and 3.and 4. 39 

Section 2. This act shall take effect July 1, 2015. 40 



r.-v, .:

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic .

Bill Number (if applicable)

Sii-e,- Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Name ;'# ^ r - - \0

Job Title . ' r-' •: f

/ ^ ^ <r~ f
Address

Street ^

- • . -..J-. . " • . - ' '

Phone T.. - -

Email
City

:DSpeaking: Q For | ^Against

Representing

State

Information

• - - ' L

Zip

Waive Speaking: O In Support | ^Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair:  Yes No Lobbyist registered with Legislature:  Yes | | No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting ohte

Topic M A-ynwur* Ctvy? 6tz£3

4 8
Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Name A^AVt

Job Title OV RgSgftRCH - Fto OA- mywAfcvl

phone 8f0> ill. S051Address ' 06 H 5T
Street

JALL/t KPi5itt Email b n f lontk fcc Utxkk 0>2r

City State Zip

Speaking: [^] For Against 1^ Information

Representing FLO

Waive Speaking: Q In Support Q Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair: | 1 Yes [_^p No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: 1 1 Yes Jc No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)



37W/5"

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Topic

Meeting Date

# IX
Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Name

Job Title

Address aim f fcr #35'?
bireet

£k=-

Speaking: [/j For | | Against

State

Information

Phone &5-St? 9?f5~

Email

/ /

Waive Speaking:

(lLl

In Support | | Against
(The Chair will reap thikinformation into the record.)

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair:

GksATSQ. (t. O>fJWA.r(0M 6 ^ ftps •

Yes Lobbyist registered with Legislature: \/j Yes  No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage putflic testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic (Y) c\x/ rY\ u ^ Cl6,3j> S/gf

Name  Tronic, 

Job Title 6Tt/>Ji AJ Cx)MWh-ul 

Address rV\on«H "Sr 

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Street

I A HAIvtsM <- ^030/

Phone V6T) -SDD ~SDyT-

Email JiPefttOliu)
City

Speaking: p^1 For Q Against

State

Information

Zip

Waive Speaking: vH In Support | | Against

Representing

(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair:  Yes No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: jvj Yes  No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)



1 <

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

fs I .

Topic ; ¦'

Name

Job Title

Address

rw

Street£ I I I

f-'"- -

City

Speaking: Q]] For | | Against

State

Information

Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Phone

I Email
Zip

Waive Speaking: [Tj In Support | | Against
(The Chair will read Wstinformation into the record.)

Representing ¦ rv f ^

Appearing at request of Chair:  Yes No Lobbyist registered with Legislature:  Yes |_J No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)



j-Lj." /S

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

D
Meeting Date Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic

Name

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Job Title

Address

odd

£ -siLAi ^IAJIIZ-O

Street

Phone ID:

R
City

Speaking: [HI For I I Against

State

Information

Zip
n Email dOu^C P) ppLk -ft.- Me

Waive Speaking: [Xj In Support  Against
(The Chair will read ipis information into the record.)

Representing pblK OU A' £rx\

Appearing at request of Chair:  Yes Lobbyist registered with Legislature: y IjYes No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic CX 'C/t

Name AJ

Job Title / -

Speaking: O For Q Against | | Information

Representing

0 
Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Address X7/ Kmco Phone

Street

Emails:Ci . • ' '

City 7 State Zip

Waive Speaking: | 11n Support | | Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

cr

Appearing at request of Chair:  Yes No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: f^Yes | | No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)



^ f; j

Meeting Date

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

3 / n
Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic ) ! ,
c ,' o--

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Name ¦ ¦ ¦ i'i..-.

Job Title

Address
Street

City

• .  * Phope_

- Email 7 li

Speaking: For | | Against

Representing

State

Information Waive Speaking: [\/I In Support Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair:  Yes No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: L Yes  No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)



3,/4 / >5

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

'eetinq/Date

SZ&\8
Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic

Name

(Li "yJeL. ift "

(j-7/A.A;M A-v>A 

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Job Title

Address
*2-0 3 » |\AefJT^o£. . 

eet V

/ '^T . 3 2^3-0/
T 1 7/n

Street

or | | Against

State

Information

Phone &^D-4~l4r " 2 SI &

Email 6j
Zip

Waive Speaking: [Vfln Support | 1 Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing AUA. S^fj&OL 1l><rA4£t>S

Appearing at request of Chair:  Yes Lobbyist registered with Legislature: £_j Yes  No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)


	Bill and Amendment List Report
	Expanded Agenda (Long)
	S0346
	ED Bill Analysis 3/3/2015
	0346__
	SB 346.pdf

	S0616
	ED Bill Analysis 3/3/2015
	865244
	412336
	610440
	279278
	537056
	226554
	771912
	610298
	ED Bill Analysis 3/3/2015
	0616__
	SB 616.pdf

	S0688
	ED Bill Analysis 3/3/2015
	697848
	386978
	0688__
	SB 688.pdf

	S0818
	ED Bill Analysis 3/3/2015
	0818__
	SB 818.pdf




